# PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE public health research, practice, and policy





# About the Journal

Preventing Chronic Disease (PCD) is a peer-reviewed public health journal sponsored by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and authored by experts worldwide. PCD was established in 2004 by the National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion with a mission to promote dialogue among researchers, practitioners, and policy makers worldwide on the integration and application of research findings and practical experience to improve population health.

PCD's vision is to serve as an influential journal in the dissemination of prove and promising public health findings, innovations, and practices with editorial content respected for its intgrity and relevance to chronic disease prevention.

# PCD Staff

**Leonard Jack, Jr, PhD, MSc** Editor in Chief

**Lesli Mitchell, MA** Managing Editor

**Brandi Baker, MBA** Production Coordinator Contractor, Idoneous Consulting

#### Kim Bright, PMP Information Technology Project Manager Contractor, CyberData Technologies

Kate Harris, BA Technical Editor Contractor, Idoneous Consulting

#### Ivory Jones, MS Editorial Assistant Contractor, Idoneous Consulting

**Shawn Jones** Software Engineer Contractor, CyberData Technologies

Camille Martin, RD, LD Senior Technical Editor

Susan McKeen, BA Senior Software Engineer Contractor, CyberData Technologies

#### Melissa Newton, BS, CCPH

Marketing/Communications Specialist Contractor, Idoneous Consulting

#### **Rosemarie Perrin**

Technical Writer-Editor Contractor, Idoneous Consulting Sasha Ruiz, BBA Health Communications Specialist

**Robin Sloan** Technical Editor Contractor, Idoneous Consulting

Martin Steib, BA Multimedia Specialist Contractor, CyberData Technologies

**Ellen Taratus, MS** Senior Technical Editor Contractor, Idoneous

Consulting

**Caran Wilbanks, BA** Lead Technical Writer-Editor

# Associate Editors

Arsham Alamian, PhD, MSc, FACE Robert Krikorian, PhD Charlotte D. Smith, PhD Semra Aytur, PhD, MPH Bian Liu, PhD, MS Sergey Sotnikov, PhD Ronny A. Bell, PhD, MS Zhen-giang Ma, MD, MPH, MS Mikiko Terashima, PhD, MSc Erin Bouldin, PhD, MPH Sarah L. Martin, PhD, MS Tung-Sung Tseng, PhD, MPH Tammy Calise, DrPH Kevin Matthews, PhD, MS Camille Vaughan, MD, MS Vinay Cheruvu, PhD Katerina Maximova, PhD Trang VoPham, PhD, MS, MPH Pyone Cho, MD, MPH Jane A. McElroy, PhD Yan Wang, PhD Sarah Conderino, MPH Korede Yusuf, MBBS, MPH, PhD Jeremy Mennis, PhD, MS Janice C. Zgibor, RPh, PhD, CPH, FACE Patricia Da Rosa, DDS, MPH, MSc Michael J. Parks, PhD Julia Dilley, PhD, MES Anna Porter, PhD, MPH Z. Tuba Suzer Gurtekin, PhD, MS, MBA Austin Porter III, DrPH, MPH Jeanette Gustat, PhD, MPH Terrinieka Williams Powell, PhD Jessica M. Robbins, PhD **Daikwon Han**, PhD Nikki A. Hawkins, PhD **Daniel Sarpong**, PhD Linda D. Highfield, PhD, MS **Deborah Salvo**, PhD Elizabeth Winter Holt, PhD, MPH Brittney Keller-Hamilton, MPH

# Table of Contents

- 01. PCD 2021 Student Research Collection: Building Public Health Research Capacity in Real-World Settings and the 2022 Call for Papers Jack L Jr. PCD
- 02. Geographic Clustering of Fast-Food Restaurants Around Secondary Schools in Hong Kong Jason Tsz Him Cheung, BA; Ka Chung Tang, MS; Keumseok Koh, PhD
- 03. Association Between Food Insecurity and Diet Quality Among Early Care and Education Providers in the Pennsylvania Head Start Program Dania Mofleh, MBBCh, MPH; Nalini Ranjit, PhD; Ru-Jye Chuang, MS, DrPH; Jill N. Cox, MS, RD; Christine Anthony, PhD; Shreela V. Sharma, PhD, RDN, LD
- 04. New SNAP Eligibility in California Associated With Improved Food Security and Health Melinda Wang, BA; Ronli Levi, MPH, RD; Hilary Seligman, MD, MAS
- 05. Interest in Receiving Nutrition Information Through Social Media Among Food-Security Program Participants in Washington, DC Adrian Bertrand, MS; Melissa Hawkins, PhD; Elizabeth W. Cotter, PhD; Donna Banzon, MPH; Anastasia Snelling, PhD
- 06. Effect of Inadequate Sleep on Frequent Mental Distress Amanda Blackwelder, MPH; Mikhail Hoskins, MPH; Larissa Huber, PhD
- 07. Association of the Neighborhood Built Environment With Incident and Prevalent Depression in the Rural South

Christopher E. Anderson, PhD, MSPH; Stephanie T. Broyles, PhD; Maeve E. Wallace, PhD, MPH; Lydia A. Bazzano, MD, PhD; Jeanette Gustat, PhD, MPH

08. Colorectal Cancer Risk Factors and Screening Among the Uninsured of Tampa Bay: A Free Clinic Study

Ethan Y. Song; Justin Swanson, MPH; Artish Patel; Madeline MacDonald, MS; Alexandra Aponte; Noura Ayoubi, MD; Lucy Guerra, MD; Eduardo Gonzalez, MD; Rahul Mhaskar, PhD; Abu-Sayeef Mirza, MD

09. Visualizing Potential Effects of Dentist Retirements on Accessibility to Dental Care Among Children in Alabama, 2019

Steven Samsel, MS; Ryan Tramp, MBA; Irem Sengul Orgut, PhD; Nickolas Freeman, PhD; Jason Parton, PhD; Matthew Hudnall, PhD; Dwight Lewis, PhD

- 10. Needs of Individuals Living With Hepatitis Delta Virus and Their Caregivers, 2016–2019 Priyanka Kumar, MD, MPH; Catherine Freeland, MPH; Sierra Bodor; Sean Farrell; Chari Cohen, DrPH, MPH; Rosemary Frasso, PhD, MSc
- 11. A Comparison of Community Resources for Chinese Immigrants Across Philadelphia Neighborhoods

Ava Wagner; Vikram Bellamkonda; Russell White, MS; Emily Walton, PhD; Carolyn Y. Fang, PhD; Marilyn Tseng, PhD

Volume 18, E68

\_\_\_\_JUL<u>Y 2021</u>

EDITORIAL

## PCD 2021 Student Research Collection: Building Public Health Research Capacity in Real-World Settings and the 2022 Call for Papers

Leonard Jack Jr, PhD, MSc<sup>1</sup>

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2021/21\_0214.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Jack L Jr. PCD 2021 Student Research Collection: Building Public Health Research Capacity in Real-World Settings and the 2022 Call for Papers. Prev Chronic Dis 2021;18:210214. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd18.210214.

#### NON-PEER REVIEWED

With this student collection, PCD celebrates the 10-year anniversary of our efforts to build scientific publishing skills and abilities among students. The primary aims of PCD's student manuscripts have evolved over the years. Specifically, we aim to 1) provide an opportunity to become familiar with a journal's manuscript submission requirements and peer review process; 2) foster connections among student knowledge and training, the conduct of quality research, and a journal's publication expectations; 3) develop research and scientific writing skills to become producers of knowledge, rather than just consumers of knowledge; 4) provide an opportunity to become a first author on a peerreviewed article; and 5) promote supportive, respectful, and mutually beneficial mentee relationships that strengthen students' ability to generate and submit scholarly manuscripts throughout their professional careers (1). We believe that committing time, attention, and resources to providing student authors with valuable feedback (whether or not manuscripts are accepted) serves as a key capacity-building resource. Providing this feedback not only benefits PCD in the future but other peer-reviewed journals as well.

PCD published articles of winning student manuscripts from 2011 through 2015 and in 2017 and 2018. From 2011 through 2015, manuscripts were screened and reviewed by a panel of peer reviewers who identified an overall winner whose manuscript was ultimately published (2–11). Because of the tremendous response from students, we expanded submission screening, peer reviewing, and publishing to 5 student levels in 2017 and 2018, and winners were identified at the high school, undergraduate, graduate, doc-

toral, and postdoctoral levels (1,12). In addition to publishing student articles in each of the 5 levels, articles that successfully completed the peer-review process were also published. In this 2021 collection, we have continued to publish articles that successfully completed our rigorous peer-review process; however, we chose not to select a winner in each level. The COVID-19 pandemic rendered PCD unable to obtain the human resources necessary for facilitating a timely selection process. PCD will return to its usual selection process of identifying winners at all levels in future student competitions.

Over the years, PCD has refined eligibility requirements for students interested in submitting research manuscripts to the journal. Students must be a high school graduate, an undergraduate or graduate student, a medical resident, or a postdoctoral fellow. Authors must meet the journal's criteria to be recognized as first author; that is, they must have prepared the first draft and conducted research on or practiced in the topic addressed in the manuscript. In addition, their work must have been completed within the previous 12 months. Manuscripts submitted for PCD consideration cannot be under consideration by another journal. PCD only considers Original Research or GIS Snapshots for student submissions. Most importantly, the author must serve in the combined roles of the manuscript's first author and the corresponding author, which allows direct communication with the editor in chief and journal staff members. Students in this role receive critical instruction at every stage of scholarly publication, from submission, to peer review, to editorial revision, to production, and finally, to publication (Box).



The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2021/21\_0214.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1

This publication is in the public domain and is therefore without copyright. All text from this work may be reprinted freely. Use of these materials should be properly cited.

#### Box. Samuel F. Posner, PhD: Student Contest Visionary

The PCD 2021 Student Research Collection is dedicated to Samuel Posner, PhD, the person who envisioned and led the journal's student competition in 2011. Dr Posner provided 9 years of service to PCD as editor in chief, from 2008 through 2016. Dr Posner's legacy is one of scientific excellence, technical innovation, and service.

Dr Posner is now the Acting Director of the National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases (NCIRD) and the center's deputy director for science. In this role, he oversees the center's surveillance, epidemiology, laboratory, and data science programs to expand and refine CDC's capacity to detect, prevent, and respond to vaccine-preventable and respiratory infectious disease threats.



Dr Posner came to CDC in 1998 from the University of California, San Francisco after completing doctoral work in quantitative psychology at the University of Southern California in 1996. He joined NCIRD in January of 2016 as the associate director for epidemiological science and director of the Office of Science and Integrated Programs. In this role, Dr Posner led the scientific review of several NCIRD programs, including the review and reframing of the Legionella program. Under his guidance, the Legionella program has grown in scope and reach and now funds 23 jurisdictions for both prevention and outbreak response.

In the COVID-19 response, Dr Posner co-led the development of a scientific agenda to guide implementation of scientific activities for better understanding of COVID-19 transmission dynamics, risk factors for mortality, and prevention strategies. He also worked closely on the data and informatics architecture for the COVID-19 national vaccine program.

Dr Posner is the author of more than 100 articles published in peer reviewed journals and has written more than 15 book chapters. He is an internationally recognized expert in the fields of preconception care and multiple chronic conditions, and he is an adjunct associate professor at both Emory University's Rollins School of Public Health, Department of International Health, and the University of Alabama, Birmingham's School of Public Health, Department of Health Behavior.

Early in his career, Dr Posner recognized the value of mentoring students in the value of publication, and his student research competition brought a new generation of public health researchers and practitioners to PCD. Since the inception of the competition, the journal has received nearly 500 student manuscripts for consideration. Dr Posner's vision to promote academic research excellence for students around the world lives on today.

PCD's student articles released to date address topics relevant to the prevention, screening, and surveillance of population-based interventions for chronic diseases, including but not limited to arthritis, cancer, diabetes, depression, obesity, and cardiovascular disease. Of the 38 manuscripts submitted for the PCD 2021 Student Research Collection, 10 successfully completed our rigorous internal and external peer-review process and multiple revisions. PCD sincerely appreciates our associate editors, the editorial board, members of the statistics review committee, and the many peer reviewers who provided detailed comments and suggestions to student authors. We congratulate each student author who developed and submitted a manuscript for consideration, whether it was accepted or not.

The current collection addresses a broad range of topics, including childhood obesity in secondary schools in Hong Kong (13); nutrition and physical activity among adults (14–16); the impact of inadequate sleep on mental health (17); the association between neighborhood built environments and depression in the rural South (18); colorectal cancer risk factors and screening among uninsured adults living in Tampa Bay, Florida (19); spatial accessibility to dental care among Alabama youth (20); identifying challenges to care for people living with hepatitis delta virus and their caretakers (21); and community resources to promote health among Chinese immigrants living in Philadelphia (22).

PCD is pleased to announce the Call for Student Papers: 2022 Publishing Opportunity for Students. Information about submission requirements are available on the PCD Announcements page at https://www.cdc.gov/pcd/announcements.htm. The deadline for submissions is Monday, March 28, 2022. PCD looks forward to continuing its commitment to the development of scientific writing and publishing skills among students. For more information about the journal and previous collections of student articles, please visit the PCD website at https://www.cdc.gov/pcd /index.htm.

## Author Information

Corresponding Author: Leonard Jack Jr, PhD, MSc, Editor in Chief, Preventing Chronic Disease: Public Health Research, Practice, and Policy, Office of Medicine and Science, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 4770 Buford Hwy NE, Mailstop S107-8, Atlanta, GA 30341. Email: ljack@cdc.gov.

Author Affiliations: <sup>1</sup>Preventing Chronic Disease, Office of Medicine and Science, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.

## References

1. Jack L Jr. Shaping future generations of public health researchers: Preventing Chronic Disease's student research paper contest. Prev Chronic Dis 2017;14:E96.

- 2. Posner SF. PCD's first annual student research contest: Lui and Wallace examine hospitalization rates for at-risk populations. Prev Chronic Dis 2011;8(5):A103.
- 3. Lui CK, Wallace SP. A common denominator: calculating hospitalization rates for ambulatory care-sensitive conditions in California. Prev Chronic Dis 2011;8(5):A102. Erratum in: Prev Chronic Dis 2011;8(6):A152.
- 4. Posner SF. PCD recognizes outstanding student research: Kersten et al on using a standard classification scheme to identify small food stores that offer healthy options. Prev Chronic Dis 2012;9:E126.
- 5. Kersten E, Laraia B, Kelly M, Adler N, Yen IH. Small food stores and availability of nutritious foods: a comparison of database and in-store measures, Northern California, 2009. Prev Chronic Dis 2012;9:E127.
- 6. Posner SF. PCD recognizes outstanding student research: Patel et al on emergency medical services capacity for prehospital stroke care in North Carolina. Prev Chronic Dis 2013;10:E150.
- 7. Patel MD, Brice JH, Evenson KR, Rose KM, Suchindran CM, Rosamond WD. Emergency medical services capacity for prehospital stroke care in North Carolina. Prev Chronic Dis 2013;10:E149.
- 8. Posner SF. Outstanding student research: Li et al on investigating the placement of green carts to improve access to healthful foods in food deserts. Prev Chronic Dis 2014; 11:E157.
- 9. Li KY, Cromley EK, Fox AM, Horowitz CR. Evaluation of the placement of mobile fruit and vegetable vendors to alleviate food deserts in New York City. Prev Chronic Dis 2014; 11:E158.
- 10. Posner SF. Eating patterns, body mass index, and food deserts: does it matter where we live? Prev Chronic Dis 2015;12:E155. Erratum in Prev Chronic Dis 2015;12.
- 11. Mejia N, Lightstone AS, Basurto-Davila R, Morales DM, Sturm R. Neighborhood food environment, diet, and obesity among Los Angeles County adults, 2011. Prev Chronic Dis 2015;12:E143.
- 12. Jack L Jr. Advancing health disparities research in population health. Prev Chronic Dis 2018;15:E147.
- Cheung JTH, Tang KC, Koh K. Geographic clustering of fastfood restaurants around secondary schools in Hong Kong. Prev Chronic Dis 2021;18:E56.
- 14. Mofleh D, Ranjit N, Chuang RJ, Cox JN, Anthony C, Sharma SV. Association between food insecurity and diet quality among early care and education providers in the Pennsylvania Head Start Program. Prev Chronic Dis 2021;18:E60.
- 15. Wang M, Levi R, Seligman H. New SNAP eligibility in California associated with improved food security and health. Prev Chronic Dis 2021;18:E28.

- 16. Bertrand A, Hawkins M, Cotter EW, Banzon D, Snelling A. Interest in receiving nutrition information through social media among food-security program participants in Washington, DC. Prev Chronic Dis 2021;18:E50.
- 17. Blackwelder A, Hoskins M, Huber L. Effect of inadequate sleep on frequent mental distress. Prev Chronic Dis 2021; 18:E61.
- Anderson CE; Broyles ST, Wallace ME, Bazzano LA; Gustat J. Association of the neighborhood built environment with incident and prevalent depression in the rural south. Prev Chronic Dis 2021;18:200605.
- 19. Song EY, Swanson J, Patel A, MacDonald M, Aponte A, Ayoubi N, et al. Colorectal cancer risk factors and screening among the uninsured of Tampa Bay: a free clinic study. Prev Chronic Dis 2021;18:E16.
- 20. Samsel S, Tramp R, Sengul Orgut I, Freeman N, Parton J, Hudnall M, et al. Visualizing potential effects of dentist retirements on accessibility to dental care among children in Alabama, 2019. Prev Chronic Dis 2021;18:E08.
- 21. Kumar P, Freeland C, Bodor S, Farrell S, Cohen C, Frasso R. Needs of individuals living with hepatitis delta virus and their caregivers, 2016–2019. Prev Chronic Dis 2020;17:E159.
- 22. Wagner A, Bellamkonda V, White R, Walton E, Fang CY, Tseng M. A comparison of community resources for Chinese immigrants across Philadelphia neighborhoods. Prev Chronic Dis 2021;18:E34.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

Volume 18, E56

JUNE 2021

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

## Geographic Clustering of Fast-Food Restaurants Around Secondary Schools in Hong Kong

### Jason Tsz Him Cheung, BA<sup>1</sup>; Ka Chung Tang, MS<sup>2</sup>; Keumseok Koh, PhD<sup>2</sup>

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2021/20 0601.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Cheung JTH, Tang KC, Koh K. Geographic Clustering of Fast-Food Restaurants Around Secondary Schools in Hong Kong. Prev Chronic Dis 2021; 18:200601. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd18.200601.

#### PEER REVIEWED

#### Summary

#### What is already known on this topic?

Previous literature confirmed a positive association between clusters of fast-food restaurants around schools and obesity rates of school children. Few studies about fast-food clustering around schools have been conducted in a high-density urban setting such as Hong Kong.

#### What is added by this report?

Fast-food restaurants around secondary schools were substantially clustered in Hong Kong. The school food environment in Hong Kong showed unique heterogeneities compared with the school food environment in a Western setting.

#### What are the implications for public health practice?

Students in some areas may have a disproportionate share of health problems caused by an obesogenic environment. Observed clusters of fastfood restaurants in Hong Kong can alert policy makers to design effective interventions targeting the secondary schools located in such environments.

## Abstract

#### Introduction

Clustering of fast-food restaurants around schools facilitates fastfood consumption among students, which may cause obesity. We examined the prevalence of fast-food restaurants and identified the clusters of fast-food restaurants near secondary schools in Hong Kong.

#### Methods

We collected data of Western fast-food chain restaurants and 490 secondary schools in Hong Kong. Descriptive statistics and buffer analysis identified the prevalence of fast-food restaurants around the secondary schools within 400-m and 800-m buffers. Additional analyses compared schools stratified by the 3 main regions in Hong Kong, district-level population density, and median monthly household income. We used Getis-Ord GI\* hot spot analysis to measure spatial clusters of fast-food restaurants around schools and Global Moran's *I* to measure the spatial autocorrelation based on each school and the number of fast-food restaurants within the 400-m buffer.

#### Results

The average number of fast-food restaurants within 400 m and 800 m of a school was 2.0 and 6.3, respectively. Seven in 10 secondary schools had at least 1 fast-food restaurant within 400 m. The number of schools with no fast-food restaurants was higher in Hong Kong Island, considered the "rich region" in Hong Kong. Hot spots of clusters were significantly located in the high-density downtown areas. We observed significant spatial autocorrelation between fast-food restaurants and secondary schools in the areas with high density, low income, and high income (P < .001, z >2.58).

#### Conclusion

Fast-food restaurants were substantially clustered around secondary schools in Hong Kong. Territory-wide studies about the health effect of fast-food clusters around schools on children and adolescents are warranted in Hong Kong.

## Introduction

Childhood obesity is a major public health problem in both developed and developing countries (1). In 2015, a total of 107.7 million children were obese across the world, and the rate of increase among children exceeded that among adults (2). The longterm physiological and psychological consequences of obesity include an increased risk of type 2 diabetes, high blood pressure, high cholesterol, fatty liver disease, adverse cardiovascular outcomes, low self-esteem, anxiety, depression, bullying, and stigma, which are likely to persist into adulthood (3–6).



The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2021/20\_0601.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1

This publication is in the public domain and is therefore without copyright. All text from this work may be reprinted freely. Use of these materials should be properly cited.

The World Health Organization warned that excessive consumption of a high-fat diet is associated with childhood obesity (7). Fast food is one of the dominant food types constituting a high-fat diet. The consequences of fast-food consumption on children's dietary intake are serious. Compared with nonconsumers of fast food, children who consume fast food were found to have higher intakes of total energy, total fat, saturated fat, and sugar and lower intakes of fiber, fruit, vegetables, and milk (8). In the long run, frequent fast-food consumption among children was associated with a higher body mass index (BMI), higher body fat percentage, and increased odds of being obese (9).

The school food environment is an important factor in shaping children's food choices, along with other factors, such as levels of physical activity, caregivers' income, and social and cultural knowledge and attitudes (10). The rapid expansion of Western fast-food restaurants in urban environments in high-income countries and their increased availability, accessibility, and affordability are associated with the emergence of childhood obesity (11). One study found that children with more fast-food restaurants in their school neighborhoods ate more fast-food meals per week (12). Public health and nutrition professionals recommend various school-based dietary interventions (eg, school lunch programs and nutrition education) to mitigate childhood obesity; such interventions can reduce BMI and the prevalence of childhood obesity (13).

School-based dietary intervention programs are not always effective. In Hong Kong, although most primary schools have dietary intervention programs, secondary school students (particularly seniors) often enjoy having lunch at nearby restaurants. The food choices of secondary school students are often driven by accessibility, availability, affordability, acceptability (eg, perception of their school's food), and attitudes concerning food (14). In Hong Kong, Western fast-food is perceived as "cool" by young people, who also praise its taste, appeal, affordability, and quickness (14-16). In addition, Hong Kong's hyper-dense urban nature gives students an additional benefit - proximity - to fast-food restaurants. The proximity of fast-food restaurants to secondary schools is a crucial factor in determining the daily food choices of students. The overall overweight and obesity rate among secondary school students in Hong Kong increased from 18.2% in school year 2009-2010 to 19.9% in 2018-2019 (17). Nearly 1 in 5 secondary students is overweight or has obesity (17).

To the best of our knowledge, only a few studies have examined the prevalence of fast-food restaurants near secondary schools in Hong Kong (18). Also, few government policies have solely addressed the problem of fast-food restaurants near secondary schools and its health effect on children (18). Therefore, this study aimed to describe the prevalence of fast-food restaurants near secondary schools and identify the vulnerable hot spots of fast-food restaurant clusters near secondary schools.

## Methods

We performed a cross-sectional analysis in July 2020 using up-todate, publicly available data on fast-food restaurants and secondary schools in Hong Kong.

**Hong Kong base map data.** Hong Kong comprises 3 regions and 18 districts, namely, Hong Kong Island (4 districts), Kowloon (5 districts), and New Territories (9 districts) (Figure 1). We used district-level data to examine the overall prevalence of fast-food restaurants around each secondary school.



Figure 1. The location of 490 secondary schools in 3 regions and 18 districts in Hong Kong.

**Fast-food restaurant data.** We compiled the latest list of fast-food restaurants in Hong Kong in July 2020 from a popular and comprehensive website for food and restaurant reviews in Hong Kong, OpenRice (www.openrice.com). We searched the OpenRice fast-food category for the names of major, if not all, Western fast-food chain restaurants (ie, restaurants that quickly serve food such as hamburgers, French fries, fried chicken, submarine sandwiches, and pizza). The 15 fast-food chain restaurants included in the analysis were Burger Circus, Burger Home, Burger King, Burgerman, BurgerRoom, Five Guys, Jollibee, KFC, McDonald's, Moo-Moo, Mos Burger, Popeyes, Subway, Texas Burger, and The Big Bite. We excluded Hong Kong–style fast-food restaurants (eg, Café de Coral, Maxim's MX) because they offer many different styles of cuisines (18). We collected up-to-date street addresses from the of-

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

ficial website of each fast-food restaurant. We ensured that the restaurants were in business during the time of our analysis (July 2020) and geocoded the street addresses using Google Maps Geocoding Application Programming Interface (API). All records were successfully geocoded. After geocoding, we conducted reverse geocoding to ensure addresses were accurate.

**EatSmart restaurant data.** In Hong Kong, to advocate for a healthy food environment, the government initiated the EatSmart Restaurant Star campaign in 2008 (19). The campaign uses a label system to indicate the level of fruits and vegetables served to customers. Only 972 of 16,323 restaurants in Hong Kong, and none of the fast-food restaurants analyzed in our study, joined this campaign as of December 2020. To allow the comparison of the spatial variations of fast-food restaurants and the EatSmart restaurants around secondary schools, we collected the addresses of the EatSmart restaurants from the EatSmart Restaurant Star campaign official website in December 2020 (19). We geocoded the street addresses using Google Maps Geocoding API. All records were successfully geocoded. After geocoding, we conducted reverse geocoding to ensure addresses were accurate.

**Secondary school data.** We obtained secondary school data in 2020 from the Hong Kong GeoData Store, a free geospatial information service run by the Hong Kong government, by using the location search API (20). We included all secondary schools in Hong Kong: aided secondary schools, Caput secondary schools, direct subsidy scheme secondary schools, English Schools Foundation (secondary), government secondary schools, international schools (secondary), and private secondary schools (day/evening). After retrieving the addresses, we compiled a database with 490 listings geocoded by Google Maps Geocoding API. We conducted reverse geocoding to ensure addresses were accurate.

**Census data.** We collected data on population density and median monthly household income at the district level from the most recent (2016) Hong Kong government census (21,22).

#### Statistical analyses

First, we calculated the mean and median distance from each secondary school to the closest fast-food restaurant. Second, we conducted 400-m and 800-m Euclidean buffer analyses around each school and identified the number of fast-food restaurants within the buffers. The 400-m Euclidean buffer reflects the reality of students walking to nearby restaurants (23). The 800-m Euclidean buffer was used to characterize a larger school food environment, targeting students who exert extra effort and intention to visit fastfood restaurants (24). Third, we conducted the Getis-Ord GI\* hot spot analysis to identify the significant spatial clusters of fast-food restaurants. We adopted the inverse distance-weighted interpolation to visualize the hot spots according to z scores, which indicate the significance of the hot spot. A low negative z score generally implies a cold spot, a high positive z score implies a hot spot, and a z score near zero indicates no apparent spatial clustering. Finally, to quantify the degree of clustering, we used the spatial autocorrelation (Global Moran's I) tool to measure the spatial autocorrelation based on each school and the number of fast-food restaurants within the 400-m buffer. To allow for the comparison of the geographic clustering of fast-food restaurants and EatSmart restaurants around secondary schools, we also performed the same spatial autocorrelation (Global Moran's I) analysis based on each school and the number of EatSmart restaurants within the 400-m buffer. This tool evaluates whether the pattern is clustered, dispersed, or random, where a Moran's I value near +1 indicates clustering and a Moran's I value near -1 indicates dispersion. The Moran's I statistic for spatial autocorrelation is given as

$$I = \frac{N}{S_0} \sum_{i} \sum_{j} w_{ij} \frac{(x_i - \mu)(x_j - \mu)}{\sum_{i} (x_i - \mu)^2}$$

where N is the number of schools;  $w_{ij}$  is the element in the spatialweight matrix corresponding to the samples *i* and *j*;  $w_{ij}$  is defined using an inverse distance method; and  $x_i$  and  $x_j$  are samples for areas *i* and *j* with the mean  $\mu$ ; and

$$S_0 = \sum_i \sum_j w_{ij}$$

All analyses were carried out by using ArcGIS Pro version 2.4.0 (Esri).

We analyzed the data from Hong Kong as a whole and then conducted 3 additional stratified analyses. First, we examined the spatial characteristics of the 3 regions. Second, we classified the 18 districts into 3 strata of population density (high, medium, and low) and analyzed the spatial characteristics of the 3 strata. The 3 strata were classified according to the relative rankings of population density in the 18 districts. We then assigned each school to 1 of the 3 strata of population density, according to their district. Third, we classified the 18 districts into 3 strata of median monthly household income (high, medium, and low) and analyzed the spatial characteristics of the 3 strata. The 3 strata were classified based on the relative rankings of median monthly household income in the 18 districts. We then assigned each school to 1 of the 3 strata of median monthly household income in the 18 districts. We then assigned each school to 1 of the 3 strata of median monthly household income, according to their district.

### Results

We found 425 Western fast-food chain restaurants in Hong Kong: Burger Circus (n = 1; 0.2%), Burger Home (n = 1; 0.2%), Burger

King (n = 2; 0.5%), Burgerman (n = 2; 0.5%), BurgerRoom (n = 2; 0.5%), Five Guys (n = 4; 0.9%), Jollibee (n = 10; 2.4%), KFC (n = 87; 20.5%), McDonald's (n = 247; 58.1%), Moo Moo (n = 1; 0.2%), Mos Burger (n = 33; 7.8%), Popeyes (n = 1; 0.2%), Subway (n = 31; 7.3%), Texas Burger (n = 1; 0.2%), and The Big Bite (n = 2; 0.5%).

Overall, in Hong Kong, the mean and median distance between each school and the most proximate fast-food restaurant were 377.0 m and 278.7 m, both within the 400-m walkable distance (Table 1). The average number of fast-food restaurants within 400 m and 800 m of a school was 2.0 and 6.3, respectively (Table 2). Approximately 7 in 10 secondary schools (72.0%) had at least 1 fast-food restaurant within 400 m, and half (52.0%) had more than one. Across the 3 regions, Kowloon had the highest average number of fast-food restaurants within 400 m and 800 m of a secondary school. More than 7 in 10 secondary schools had at least 1 fast-food restaurant within 400 m in Kowloon (76.4%) and New Territories (72.0%). In contrast, Hong Kong Island, which has the highest median monthly household income across the 3 regions, had fewer fast-food restaurants near secondary schools, yet 64.8% had at least 1 fast-food restaurant and 51.1% had more than 1 fastfood restaurant within 400 m. The number of schools with no fastfood restaurants within 400 m was higher in Hong Kong Island (35.2%) than in Kowloon (23.6%) or New Territories (28.0%).

For secondary schools within the districts stratified by population density, secondary schools in high-density districts had a higher percentage of having at least 1 fast-food restaurant and more than 1 fast-food restaurant compared with secondary schools in middle-density and low-density districts (table 2). Three-quarters of secondary schools (75.3%) in high-density districts had at least 1 fast-food restaurant within 400 m. For secondary schools stratified by median monthly household income, secondary schools in low-income (72.9%) and middle-income (73.2%) districts generally had a higher percentage of having at least 1 fast-food restaurant within 400 m. Secondary schools in high-income districts had a higher percentage of having more than 1 fast-food restaurant within 400 m (54.6%).

In the hot spot analysis, we observed that significant clusters were in the high-density downtown areas of Hong Kong (Figure 2). Most hot spots were in Kowloon. The secondary schools in Eastern and Wan Chai districts in Hong Kong Island also were exposed to a significantly high number of clusters of fast-food restaurants. In New Territories, we found fewer clusters of fast-food restaurants around the secondary schools; Tuen Mun district was an exception. In the spatial autocorrelation analysis, we found that clusters of fast-food restaurants around each school were significant in most districts. In sum, fast-food restaurants and secondary schools in high-density urban areas in both low-income and highincome districts had significant spatial autocorrelations (z > 2.58; P < .001). The only exception for significant clustering of fastfood restaurants was the low-density districts (Table 3). In contrast, the degree of clustering of EatSmart restaurants was significantly lower in most regions and districts compared with that of fast-food restaurants. Although we observed significant clustering of EatSmart restaurants in high-density urban areas in both lowincome and high-income districts (z > 2.58; P < .001), we observed no significant clustering of EatSmart restaurants in middleincome or middle-density districts (Table 3). This result suggests that students in middle-income and middle-density districts may be exposed to clusters of fast-food restaurants with no clusters of EatSmart restaurants to balance the food options.



**Figure 2**. Hot spot analysis of fast-food restaurants near secondary schools in Hong Kong, by A, region, B, population density, and C, income.

## Discussion

To the best of our knowledge, our study is one of the first to examine the fast-food environment around secondary schools in Hong Kong. The main objective of this study was to describe the prevalence of fast-food restaurants near secondary schools and identify the hot spots of fast-food restaurants by using publicly available geospatial data. Our results suggest that fast-food restaurants around secondary schools were clustered in Hong Kong as a whole and almost all districts stratified by 3 main regions in Hong Kong, population density, and median monthly household income. The overall prevalence of overweight and obesity among secondary school students increased from school year 2009-2010 to school year 2018–2019 (17), consistent with the pattern observed in previous studies (25). Our study adds to the data on obesogenic school food environments in Hong Kong and complements the existing evidence by suggesting the uniqueness of the school food environment in highly compact cities in an East Asian context compared with Western settings, which are characterized generally by relatively low-density food environments (26).

Obesity rates are associated with fast-food restaurant clusters around schools; high school students with easy access to fast-food restaurants from schools have a higher probability of becoming obese (26). Our findings show that Hong Kong secondary school

students are potentially exposed to substantial amounts of fastfood restaurants, particularly students who study in high-density urban areas in both low-income and high-income districts. On average, around each secondary school, we found 2.0 fast-food restaurants within 400 m and 6.3 fast-food restaurants within 800 m; students could easily walk to these fast-food restaurants. Policy makers may need to develop policies to improve the food environment near secondary schools, considering teenagers may be easily lured to consume unhealthy food in fast-food restaurants through peer influence (27). Most secondary school students, regardless of their financial resources, may find fast food more appealing because of its affordability, "coolness," taste, and convenience (14,15). This appeal may explain why fast-food restaurants were strategically located near secondary schools in both low-income and high-income districts (28), although we also found a moderate cluster among secondary schools in the middle-income districts.

Furthermore, the number of fast-food restaurants around each secondary school in Hong Kong was higher than the number in Western settings (for example, the US) (26). This phenomenon could be attributable to the density of Hong Kong and its gentrification and redevelopment process in some of the older districts such as Kwun Tong and Kowloon City. We found many fast-food restaurant clusters in those redeveloped districts; thus, appraising accessibility to fast-food is crucial in redevelopment initiatives. The government may need to intensively formulate urban policies (eg, incorporating the concept of healthy eating into redevelopment plans) to mitigate potential health inequalities caused by geographic disparity. In Canada, urban planning policies such as zoning bylaws have been proliferated to ban fast-food restaurants (29). These full or partial bans emerged recently in North America to encourage healthier food options. Hong Kong has lacked zoning regulations or restrictions limiting the placement of fast-food restaurants (18). However, instead of a one-way tough-policy approach, the government could consider adopting the concept of zoning by providing incentives (eg, lower rents for places with more population flow) to reward fast-food restaurants that place their restaurants in a nonschool zone. In the long run, the Hong Kong government should initiate the discussion of zoning regulations for fast-food establishments around schools for long-term sociospatial sustainability, especially targeting the districts undergoing redevelopment.

In the autocorrelation analysis of EatSmart restaurants, our results (ie, no significant clustering of EatSmart restaurants in lowdensity and middle-density districts) may have been due to the strategic placement of restaurants in downtown areas with more population flow. To combat the pervasive clustering of fast-food restaurants, more EatSmart healthy restaurants located near secondary schools are warranted, especially in nondowntown areas. The EatSmart campaign should be further strengthened by fostering collaborations between the government and the food industry by increasing advertisement of this program and implementing attractive reward mechanisms for participating restaurants.

The government in Hong Kong has also attempted to address the problem of childhood obesity and obesogenic school food environments by launching EatSmart@school.hk, which consists of 3 main components: EatSmart School Accreditation Scheme, Salt Reduction Scheme for School Lunches, and Joyful Fruit Month (30). However, this program focuses only on primary school students. Secondary school students in Hong Kong have received limited support for nutrition intake interventions from the government, and Hong Kong's public health community has expressed concerns about fast-food exposure among children and adolescents. Our study serves to raise awareness among authorities about food environments around secondary schools in Hong Kong. In the US, the National School Lunch Program was implemented in 1946 to enhance students' nutritional intake by offering school meals which meet US Department of Agriculture standards: currently, these standards include increasing the number and variety of fruits, vegetables, and whole grains and reducing the intake of trans-fat content and calories (31). This school meal program reduced weight status among school lunch participants, especially among students eligible for subsidies (31). The Hong Kong government could consider formulating a school lunch program with high nutrition standards and subsidizing secondary school students to buy healthy school lunches. Apart from incorporating incentives to encourage students to eat nutritious food for lunch, the government could also initiate policies to lower the appeal of fast food by restricting fast-food advertising in major media channels and holding frequent educational sessions on the consequences of fast-food intake (32,33).

Our study has several limitations. We used Euclidean distance to assess distance between secondary schools and fast-food restaurants. In Hong Kong, which has many hills and short cuts, the distance used in the analysis may not reflect the real network distance between secondary schools and fast-food restaurants. However, given the generally high number of fast-food restaurants around secondary schools, the problem of Euclidean distance is not a major flaw in the interpretation of the severity of fast-food restaurant clusters in Hong Kong. Also, Euclidean buffers may allow a snapshot comparison of fast-food restaurant clustering around schools between Hong Kong and Western settings, because the use of network distance of Hong Kong may not provide a consistent basis for comparison because of the hilly, compact,

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

and crowded nature of the streets. In addition, we only included the major Western fast-food chain restaurants and excluded the Hong Kong–style fast-food restaurants in our analysis; however, Hong Kong–style fast-food is also criticized because of its poor nutritional value.

The strengths of our study are twofold. It is one of the pioneering studies to examine the prevalence of fast-food restaurants near secondary schools in Hong Kong. Our findings can be used by the public health community and government officials to formulate strategic plans and interventions to improve the unhealthy school food environment in problematic areas. Also, our study provides a new approach to interpreting the school food environment in a compact urban setting, which potentially shows differences when compared with the Western setting, where the density of the food environment is generally lower (26). Our findings highlight the need for further developing theories and models for the school food environment in high-density cities or countries.

Secondary school students are constantly exposed to substantial amounts of fast-food restaurants in Hong Kong. The geographic clustering of fast-food restaurants around secondary schools should be addressed, and policy makers should pay attention to the consequences of this health problem as they unfold. In the near future, evidence from territory-wide cross-sectional and longitudinal studies about the health effects of fast-food restaurant clusters on school children are warranted.

## Acknowledgments

No financial support was received for this study. No copyrighted materials or tools were used in this article. The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

## Author Information

Corresponding Author: Jason Tsz Him Cheung, Rm 2338, (2/F via Lift 3), Academic Building, The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology, Clear Water Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong SAR. Telephone: +852-64467643. Email: thcheungaq@connect.ust.hk.

Author Affiliations: <sup>1</sup>Division of Social Science, The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology, Kowloon, Hong Kong SAR, China. <sup>2</sup>Department of Geography, The University of Hong Kong, Pokfulam, Hong Kong SAR, China.

## References

- 1.Ng M, Fleming T, Robinson M, Thomson B, Graetz N, Margono C, et al. Global, regional, and national prevalence of overweight and obesity in children and adults during 1980–2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. Lancet 2014;384(9945):766–81.
- 2. Afshin A, Forouzanfar MH, Reitsma MB, Sur P, Estep K, Lee A, et al.; GBD 2015 Obesity Collaborators. Health effects of overweight and obesity in 195 countries over 25 years. N Engl J Med 2017;377(1):13–27.
- 3. Hobbs M, Radley D. Obesogenic environments and obesity: a comment on 'Are environmental area characteristics at birth associated with overweight and obesity in school-aged children? Findings from the SLOPE (Studying Lifecourse Obesity PrEdictors) population-based cohort in the south of England'. BMC Med 2020;18(1):59.
- 4. Jia P, Ma S, Qi X, Wang Y. Spatial and temporal changes in prevalence of obesity among Chinese children and adolescents, 1985–2005. Prev Chronic Dis 2019;16(190290):E160.
- 5. Lloyd LJ, Langley-Evans SC, McMullen S. Childhood obesity and risk of the adult metabolic syndrome: a systematic review. Int J Obes 2012;36(1):1–11.
- 6. Cote AT, Harris KC, Panagiotopoulos C, Sandor GGS, Devlin AM. Childhood obesity and cardiovascular dysfunction. J Am Coll Cardiol 2013;62(15):1309–19.
- 7. World Health Organization. Obesity and overweight. 2020. http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs311/en/. Accessed August 11, 2020.
- 8. Poti JM, Duffey KJ, Popkin BM. The association of fast food consumption with poor dietary outcomes and obesity among children: is it the fast food or the remainder of the diet? Am J Clin Nutr 2014;99(1):162–71.
- 9. Fraser LK, Clarke GP, Cade JE, Edwards KL. Fast food and obesity: a spatial analysis in a large United Kingdom population of children aged 13–15. Am J Prev Med 2012; 42(5):e77–85.
- 10. Miller DP. Associations between the home and school environments and child body mass index. Soc Sci Med 2011; 72(5):677–84.
- 11. Swinburn BA, Sacks G, Hall KD, McPherson K, Finegood DT, Moodie ML, et al. The global obesity pandemic: shaped by global drivers and local environments. Lancet 2011; 378(9793):804–14.
- 12. Forsyth A, Wall M, Larson N, Story M, Neumark-Sztainer D. Do adolescents who live or go to school near fast-food restaurants eat more frequently from fast-food restaurants? Health Place 2012;18(6):1261–9.

- 13. Driessen CE, Cameron AJ, Thornton LE, Lai SK, Barnett LM. Effect of changes to the school food environment on eating behaviours and/or body weight in children: a systematic review. Obes Rev 2014;15(12):968–82.
- 14. Caraher M, Lloyd S, Mansfield M, Alp C, Brewster Z, Gresham J. Secondary school pupils' food choices around schools in a London borough: fast food and walls of crisps. Appetite 2016;103:208–20.
- 15. Bodor JN, Rice JC, Farley TA, Swalm CM, Rose D. The association between obesity and urban food environments. J Urban Health 2010;87(5):771–81.
- 16. Chan CMS, Deave T, Greenhalgh T. Obesity in Hong Kong Chinese preschool children: where are all the nurses? J Pediatr Nurs 2010;25(4):264–73.
- 17. HKSAR Department of Health Centre for Health Protection. Overweight and obesity. 2020. https://www.chp.gov.hk/en/ statistics/data/10/757/5513.html. Accessed July 15, 2020.
- 18. Zhang T, Huang B. Local retail food environment and consumption of fruit and vegetable among adults in Hong Kong. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2018;15(10):2247.
- 19. HKSAR Department of Health. EatSmart@restaurant.hk campaign. 2019. https://restaurant.eatsmart.gov.hk/eng/ home.aspx. Accessed August 15, 2020.
- 20. HKSAR Lands Department. Hong Kong GeoData Store. 2020. https://geodata.gov.hk/gs/. Accessed July 11, 2020.
- 21. HKSAR Census and Statistics Department. Table E489: Land area, mid-year population and population density by district council district. 2020. https://www.censtatd.gov.hk/hkstat/sub/ sp150.jsp?productCode=D5320189. Accessed July 21, 2020.
- 22. HKSAR Census and Statistics Department. Population and household statistics analysed by district council district. 2019. h t t p s : // w w w . s t a t i s t i c s . g o v . h k / p u b / B11303012019AN19B0100.pdf. Accessed July 21, 2020.
- 23. Tester JM, Yen IH, Pallis LC, Laraia BA. Healthy food availability and participation in WIC (Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children) in food stores around lower- and higher-income elementary schools. Public Health Nutr 2011;14(6):960–4.
- 24. Cutumisu N, Traoré I, Paquette M-C, Cazale L, Camirand H, Lalonde B, et al. Association between junk food consumption and fast-food outlet access near school among Quebec secondary-school children: findings from the Quebec Health Survey of High School Students (QHSHSS) 2010–11. Public Health Nutr 2017;20(5):927–37.
- 25. Shomaker LB, Tanofsky-Kraff M, Savastano DM, Kozlosky M, Columbo KM, Wolkoff LE, et al. Puberty and observed energy intake: boy, can they eat! Am J Clin Nutr 2010; 92(1):123–9.

- 26. Nixon H, Doud L. Do fast food restaurants cluster around high schools? A geospatial analysis of proximity of fast food restaurants to high schools and the connection to childhood obesity rates. J Agric Food Syst Community Dev 2011; 2(1):181–94.
- 27. McIntosh A, Kubena KS, Tolle G, Dean W, Kim M-J, Jan J-S, et al. Determinants of children's use of and time spent in fastfood and full-service restaurants. J Nutr Educ Behav 2011; 43(3):142–9.
- 28. Wingrove CA, Urban B. Franchised fast food brands: an empirical study of factors influencing growth. Acta Commer 2017;17(1).
- 29. Nykiforuk CIJ, Campbell EJ, Macridis S, McKennitt D, Atkey K, Raine KD. Adoption and diffusion of zoning bylaws banning fast food drive-through services across Canadian municipalities. BMC Public Health 2018;18(1):137.
- 30. HKSAR Department of Health. EatSmart@school.hk campaign. 2020. https://school.eatsmart.gov.hk/en/index.aspx. Accessed August 15, 2020.
- 31. Taber DR, Chriqui JF, Powell L, Chaloupka FJ. Association between state laws governing school meal nutrition content and student weight status: implications for new USDA school meal standards. JAMA Pediatr 2013;167(6):513–9.
- 32. Cheung JTH, Lok J, Gietel-Basten S, Koh K. The food environments of fruit and vegetable consumption in East and Southeast Asia: a systematic review. Nutrients 2021;13(1):148.
- 33. Barnes TL, Pelletier JE, Erickson DJ, Caspi CE, Harnack LJ, Laska MN. Healthfulness of foods advertised in small and nontraditional urban stores in Minneapolis-St. Paul, Minnesota, 2014. Prev Chronic Dis 2016;13:E153.

## Tables

Table 1. Number of Secondary Schools and Fast-Food Restaurants and Distance Between Each School and Nearest Fast-Food Restaurant, by Region and District Characteristics, Hong Kong, 2020

	No. of Schools	No. of Fast-Food Restaurants	Distance, m				
Region and Characteristic			Mean	Median	SD	Range	
Hong Kong overall	490	531	377.0	278.7	484.4	32.4-7955.2	
By region							
Hong Kong Island	88	119	416.0	274.8	402.8	32.4-2502.6	
Kowloon	148	183	302.0	275.3	165.9	57.1-848.0	
New Territories	254	229	409.2	279.0	614.6	56.3-7955.2	
By population density <sup>a</sup>							
Low	137	126	502.7	270.1	869.7	56.3-7955.2	
Middle	171	183	383.9	287.2	323.2	32.4-2502.6	
High	182	222	307.3	277.4	171.0	40.2-859.3	
By household income <sup>b</sup>							
Low	177	172	387.0	305.7	213.7	57.1-1517.3	
Middle	183	187	384.1	279.2	429.5	56.3-3749.3	
High	130	172	380.4	245.8	370.2	32.4-2502.6	

<sup>a</sup> The 3 strata of population density were classified based on the relative rankings of population density in the 18 districts of Hong Kong.

<sup>b</sup> The 3 strata of household income were classified based on the relative rankings of median monthly household income in the 18 districts of Hong Kong.

## Table 2. Number of Fast-Food Restaurants Within 400-m and 800-m Buffer of Each Secondary School (N = 490), by Region and District Characteristics, Hong Kong, 2020

	400-m Buffer			800-m Buffer				
Region and Characteristic	Mean No. of Restaurants	Schools With 0 Restaurants, No. (%)	Schools With at Least 1 Restaurant, No. (%)	Schools With >1 Restaurant, No. (%)	Mean No. of Restaurants	Schools With 0 Restaurants, No. (%)	Schools With at Least 1 Restaurant, No. (%)	Schools With >1 Restaurant, No. (%)
Hong Kong overall	2.0	137 (28.0)	353 (72.0)	255 (52.0)	6.3	29 (5.9)	461 (94.1)	435 (88.8)
By region		_						
Hong Kong Island	2.0	31 (35.2)	57 (64.8)	45 (51.1)	6.2	9 (10.2)	79 (89.8)	76 (86.4)
Kowloon	2.2	35 (23.6)	113 (76.4)	80 (54.1)	8.5	1(0.7)	147 (99.3)	141 (95.3)
New Territories	2.0	71 (28.0)	183 (72.0)	130 (51.2)	5.2	19 (7.5)	235 (92.5)	218 (85.8)
By population density	y <sup>a</sup>							
Low	2.0	41 (29.9)	96 (70.1)	70 (51.1)	5.1	17 (12.4)	120 (87.6)	111 (81.0)
Middle	1.9	51 (29.8)	120 (70.2)	85 (49.7)	5.5	11 (6.4)	160 (93.6)	149 (87.1)
High	2.2	45 (24.7)	137 (75.3)	100 (54.9)	8.1	1 (0.5)	181 (99.5)	175 (96.2)
By household income <sup>b</sup>								
Low	1.9	48 (27.1)	129 (72.9)	86 (48.6)	6.4	6 (3.4)	171 (96.6)	163 (92.1)
Middle	2.0	49 (26.8)	134 (73.2)	98 (53.6)	6.4	11 (6.0)	172 (94.0)	159 (86.9)
High	2.3	40 (30.8)	90 (69.2)	71 (54.6)	6.2	12 (9.2)	118 (90.8)	113 (86.9)

<sup>a</sup> The 3 strata of population density were classified based on the relative rankings of population density in the 18 districts of Hong Kong.

<sup>b</sup> The 3 strata of household income were classified based on the relative rankings of median monthly household income in the 18 districts of Hong Kong.

#### Table 3. Spatial Autocorrelation (Global Moran's Index) Based on Each School and the Number of Fast-Food Restaurants and EatSmart Restaurants<sup>a</sup> Within a 400m Buffer, By Region and District Characteristics, Hong Kong, 2020

	Fast-Food Restaurants			EatSmart Restaurants			
Region and Characteristic	Global Moran's Index	z Score	<i>P</i> Value	Global Moran's Index	z Score	P Value	
Hong Kong overall	0.26	3.30	<.001	0.19	2.41	.02	
By region							
Hong Kong Island	0.58	8.21	<.001	0.08	1.24	.21	
Kowloon	0.32	6.24	<.001	0.39	7.73	<.001	
New Territories	0.53	2.51	.01	0.32	1.58	.11	
By population density <sup>b</sup>							
Low	0.57	1.66	.10	0.34	1.05	.30	
Middle	0.67	2.29	.02	0.41	1.41	.16	
High	0.28	6.87	<.001	0.34	8.32	<.001	
By household income <sup>c</sup>							
Low	0.14	4.97	<.001	0.18	6.31	<.001	
Middle	0.52	2.30	.02	0.37	1.68	.09	
High	0.48	8.34	<.001	0.23	4.31	<.001	

<sup>a</sup> Restaurants that adopted a labeling system indicating the level of fruits and vegetables served to customers.

<sup>b</sup> The 3 strata of population density were classified based on the relative rankings of population density in the 18 districts of Hong Kong.

<sup>c</sup> The 3 strata of household income were classified based on the relative rankings of median monthly household income in the 18 districts of Hong Kong.

Volume 18, E60

JUNE 2021

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

## Association Between Food Insecurity and Diet Quality Among Early Care and Education Providers in the Pennsylvania Head Start Program

Dania Mofleh, MBBCh, MPH<sup>1</sup>; Nalini Ranjit, PhD<sup>2</sup>; Ru-Jye Chuang, MS, DrPH<sup>1</sup>; Jill N. Cox, MS, RD<sup>3</sup>; Christine Anthony, PhD<sup>3</sup>; Shreela V. Sharma, PhD, RDN, LD<sup>1</sup>

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2021/20\_0602.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Mofleh D, Ranjit N, Chuang RJ, Cox JN, Anthony C, Sharma SV. Association Between Food Insecurity and Diet Quality Among Early Care and Education Providers in the Pennsylvania Head Start Program. Prev Chronic Dis 2021;18:200602. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd18.200602.

#### PEER REVIEWED

#### Summary

#### What is already known about this topic?

High rates of food insecurity were reported among early care and education (ECE) providers. Little research has examined the association between food insecurity and diet quality behaviors among ECE providers.

#### What is added by this report?

Our study confirmed the high prevalence of food insecurity among ECE providers. Food insecure ECE providers were less likely to use nutrition labels and more likely to report cost as a perceived barrier to eating fruits and vegetables.

#### What are the implications for public health practice?

Our results can help inform intervention strategies to mitigate food insecurity and improve diet quality among ECE providers.

## Abstract

#### Introduction

Food insecurity affects dietary behaviors and diet quality in adults. This relationship is not widely studied among early care and education (ECE) providers, a unique population with important influences on children's dietary habits. Our study's objective was to explore how food insecurity affected diet quality and dietary behaviors among ECE providers.

#### Methods

We used baseline data from a cluster-randomized controlled trial (January 2019–December 2020) on 216 ECE providers under the Pennsylvania Head Start Association. We used radar plots to graph scores for the Healthy Eating Index 2015 and the Alternative Healthy Eating Index (AHEI) 2010 and fitted a multivariate regression model for diet quality measures, adjusting for covariates.

#### Results

Among the 216 participants, 31.5% were food insecure. ECE providers who were food insecure had a lower AHEI-2010 mean score (mean difference for food insecure vs food secure = -4.8; 95% CI, -7.8 to -1.7; P = .002). After adjusting for covariates, associations remained significant (mean difference = -3.9; 95% CI, -7.5 to -0.4; P = .03). Food insecure ECE providers were less likely to use nutrition labels (22.8% vs 39.1%; P = .046) and more likely to report cost as a perceived barrier to eating fruits and vegetables.

#### Conclusion

We found a significant inverse association between food insecurity and the AHEI-2010 diet quality score among ECE providers after adjusting for covariates. More studies are needed to examine the effects of food insecurity on dietary behaviors of ECE providers and their response to nutrition education programs targeting their health.

## Introduction

More than 2 million early care and education (ECE) providers, mostly women, provide care to over 10 million preschool-age children in the US (1). As adults who take care of children for a substantial part of the day, they model and cultivate healthy eating behaviors essential to children's long-term health and behavior outcomes (2,3). Therefore, the health and well-being of ECE providers are essential to a child's early learning and development



The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2021/20\_0602.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1

This publication is in the public domain and is therefore without copyright. All text from this work may be reprinted freely. Use of these materials should be properly cited.

success (2). However, ECE providers are susceptible to poor diet quality, sedentary lifestyle, stress, and economic worry (4) because they are more likely to live in poverty than, for example, K-12 teachers (5), earn low wages (national median wage = \$24,230) (6), are often uninsured, and lack support and flexibility in their work environment (1).

Recent studies confirmed high rates of food insecurity among ECE providers (2,7). Food insecurity is defined as household-level economic hardship that limits a person's ability to access an adequate amount of food (8). Although 10.5% of US households are food insecure (9), the prevalence is triple that among ECE providers, with estimates ranging from 34.5% to 42% (2,7). Moreover, studies showed that ECE providers, like other food insecure populations, have low nutrition knowledge (10,11), low fruit and vegetable consumption, and high intake of unhealthy foods (11,12), all of which increase their risk of chronic conditions, such as diabetes, hypertension, and hyperlipidemia (13,14). Food insecurity is linked to low diet quality in the general US population (15); however, little research has examined the association between ECE providers' food insecurity and their diet quality and dietary behaviors.

## Methods

We used baseline data from the Create Healthy Futures study (16) to conduct a cross-sectional analysis to estimate the prevalence of food insecurity and examine the association between food insecurity and diet quality among ECE providers employed at Head Start programs in Pennsylvania. The Create Healthy Futures study is a cluster-randomized controlled trial evaluating a web-based intervention developed by Penn State Extension Better Kid Care (https://extension.psu.edu/programs/betterkidcare). Our sampling frame consisted of Center-based ECE programs in Pennsylvania, operating under the Pennsylvania Head Start Association, that offered year-round education to children aged 0 to 5 years. We estimated that 182 providers were needed from a minimum of 16 Head Start sites to detect significant differences of at least 0.5 standard deviation units in dietary outcomes, with 80% power. Eligibility criteria for ECE providers were 1) being employed at a participating ECE site at the time of recruitment, 2) the ability to read and speak English, 3) having a working email address, and 4) providing care for children aged 0 to 5 years in a classroom setting. We recruited a total of 12 ECE programs that comprised 39 sites to participate in our study. We invited 428 ECE providers working at these sites via email to participate in the study. Of these, a convenience sample of 256 providers agreed to participate (60% recruitment rate); 216 ECE providers completed the baseline survey for the Create Healthy Futures clinical trial from October 2019 through January 2020. We obtained informed consent electronically by email prior to accessing the surveys. The University of Texas Health Committee for Protection of Human Subjects institutional review board approved the study protocol and data collection.

We administered all surveys through Research Electronic Data Capture (RedCap) and Qualtrics (Qualtrics XM), both of which are HIPAA compliant web-based software. The baseline survey took approximately 30 to 45 minutes to complete. ECE providers who completed the baseline survey received a \$25 gift card for a retail store.

#### Measures

Food insecurity was self-reported by using a previously validated 2-item questionnaire, the Hunger Vital Sign (17), with response options of "never true," "sometimes true," or "often true" to the following statements: "Within the past 2 months I worried whether our food would run out before we got money to buy more" and "Within the past 2 months the food I bought just didn't last and I didn't have the money to get more" (17).

Sociodemographic measures collected were self-reported sex, race/ethnicity, age, educational level, work history, and income. By using self-reported height and weight, we computed participants' body mass index (BMI) (weight in kg/height in m<sup>2</sup>) (18).

We assessed perceived concern about life necessities with the following questions (19): "In the past month, how much concern about life necessities like having a place to live, having enough to eat, or feeling like you are safe bothered you?" with 7-point response options ranging from 1, "never," to 7, "always" (19). We assessed capacity to deal with problems with the following question: "How sure are you that you can deal with problems that come up in your life?" The 7-point Likert scale response options ranged from 1, "very unsure" to 7, "very sure" (19). These 2 questions were summed after collapsing each item's responses into 3 categories and reverse coding the question measuring capacity to deal with life problems. The resultant measure, "coping ability with life problems," was used as a proxy for participants' socioeconomic status (range, 0-4), with a higher score indicating a lesser ability to cope with life problems (19). We used 1 question to measure perceived stress: "In the last month, how often have you felt nervous and stressed?" A 5-point scale of response options ranged from 1, "never," to 5, "very often" (19).

#### **Diet quality measures**

The primary dependent variables were 2 measures of diet quality, the Healthy Eating Index (HEI) 2015 (20), and the Alternative Healthy Eating Index (AHEI) 2010 (21), as assessed from the 2014 Block Food Frequency Questionnaire (22), a self-reported

tool measuring food frequency intake from a list of 127 food and beverage items. Scoring methods for HEI-2015 and AHEI-2010 were previously validated (21,23,24). HEI-2015 consists of 13 components, each representing a major food group. Collectively, the components yield a maximum score of 100, and a higher score indicates a better alignment with the Dietary Guidelines for Americans (23). Nine components represent adequacy (foods needed for overall good health): total fruit, whole fruit, total vegetables, greens and beans, whole grains, dairy, total protein foods, seafood and plant proteins, and fatty acids. Four components represent moderation (foods that should be limited in a diet): refined grains, sodium, added sugars, and saturated fats (20). AHEI-2010 was developed by using evidence-based recommendations to incorporate additional components focusing on food group nutrients that predict risk for chronic diseases (21,25). AHEI-2010 consists of 11 components that produce a maximum score of 110. Although there are no distinct adequacy and moderation subgroups, 6 components are considered adequacy components: total vegetables, total fruit, whole grain, nuts and legumes, fish fatty acids, and polyunsaturated fatty acids. One component; alcohol, can be considered a moderation component, and 4 components are not favorable: sugary beverages (any beverage with sugar, natural or added), fruit juices, red and processed meat, and trans fat (26).

#### **Dietary habits**

We used various previously validated items to measure dietary habits (22). We used a 2-item questionnaire to measure the frequency of fruit and vegetable consumption (22) (eg, "How many fruits eaten per day or week") with response options on a 9-point scale ranging from 1, "rarely," to 9, "4 or more per day." We used a 2-item questionnaire to measure frequency of meals and snacks consumption (22) (ie, "How many meals per day?") with response options ranging from 1 to 5 times per day. We measured perceived barriers to eating fruits and vegetables by using 4 items from the Family Life, Activity, Sun, Health, and Eating Study (27). For example, "I don't eat fruits and vegetables as much as I like to because they cost too much." The research team members added a fifth item, "I don't know how to cook vegetables," to this study. Responses were scored on a 5-point Likert scale, from 0 ("strongly disagree") to 4 ("strongly agree"). We computed a summative scale for the perceived barrier to eating fruits and vegetables ranging from 0 to 20 (Cronbach's  $\alpha = 0.73$ ).

We used 5 items to measure nutrition knowledge (16) (eg, "About how much of your plate should be fruits and vegetables?") with response options of "one-quarter," "one half," "three-quarters," or "all of it"). Each question consisted of 4 answer choices, with only 1 correct response recoded as 1 for correct and 0 for incorrect answers. The final knowledge index score ranged from 0 to 5. We used a single item to assess the use of nutrition labels to evaluate a provider's ability to navigate the food environment (16): "How often do you use the nutrition facts label on foods and beverages to make your grocery purchasing decisions," with answer choices of "never," "rarely," "sometimes," "often," and "always."

#### Statistical analysis

We used the Student *t* test for continuous variables, and the Pearson  $\chi^2$  or Fisher exact test for categorical variables to examine distributional differences in the dependent variables and covariates across food insecure and food secure groups by using a 2-tailed *P* value of < .05 as a threshold for significance. We compared diet quality among food secure and food insecure ECE providers for HEI-2015 and AHEI-2010 component scores.

Of the 216 ECE providers, 16 (7.4%) refused to provide income information, and 1 (0.5%) had missing information for meal patterns. We used a multivariable linear regression analysis as our main method to assess the association between diet quality and food insecurity status and to assess the association between food insecurity and dietary behaviors and diet-related psychosocial factors, including nutrition knowledge and perceived barriers to consumption of fruits and vegetables. Our final adjusted model included the following covariates: age, BMI, income, employment status (full-time vs part-time), coping ability with life problems, and work duration at the facility. All models relied on listwise deletion to handle missing data. Finally, we used a multivariable logistic regression analysis to assess the predicted probability of using nutrition labels to make grocery purchasing decisions by food insecurity status and Poisson regression to assess predicted counts for the frequency of fruit and vegetable consumption and the number of meals and snacks consumed per day. Significance was established at P < .05.

Because data were collected as part of a cluster-randomized clinical trial, we calculated the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) for ECE programs (ICC = 0.0075) and sites (ICC = 0). These small values suggested that observations were independent and that multilevel models were not required. We formally tested linearity assumptions of the 2 primary dependent variables, HEI-2015 and AHEI-2010. We also tested the homogeneity of variance. We conducted all analyses using STATA 15.0 statistical software (StataCorp LLC).

## Results

A total of 216 ECE providers completed the baseline survey (50.5% response rate). The prevalence of food insecurity was 31.5% among our sample of ECE providers in fall 2019 (Table 1). Participating ECE providers were predominantly women (97.7%),

White (78.2%), and had a mean age of 41.1 (standard deviation [SD], 11.9 y). About 44% had some college education or less, 33% had a household income from all sources of less than or equal to \$25,000, and about 28% had concerns about life necessities.

Several socioeconomic measures differed significantly by food security status among ECE providers. Food insecure providers were younger (mean age, 37.8 y for food insecure vs mean 42.5 y for food secure, P = .01), had higher self-reported BMI (mean = 32.4 kg/m<sup>2</sup> for food insecure vs 29.0 kg/m2 for food secure, P = .046), were less likely to have worked for more than 10 years at the ECE facility (14.7% for food insecure vs 28.4% for food secure, P = .046), and less likely to earn higher wages, defined as an annual income of \$35,000 to \$50,000 (6.1% for food insecure vs 20.7% for food secure, P = .004) (Table 1). A higher proportion of food insecure ECE providers reported having occasional or constant concerns about life necessities, such as having a place to live, feeling safe, and having enough to eat, compared with their food secure counterparts (64.7% vs 11.5%, P < .001).

We constructed radar plots to visualize the unadjusted differences in intakes of foods from multiple component food groups across food insecure and food secure ECE providers for diet quality measures of both HEI-2015 and AHEI-2010 (Figure). Overall, the median HEI-2015 score for ECE providers was less than for fatty acid ratio, sodium, and saturated fatty acids (Figure A). When stratified by food security status, compared with food secure ECE providers, food insecure ECE providers reported a median score of approximately 30% lower for seafood and plant proteins (P = .02), a 15% lower median score for whole fruits (P = .38), a 14% lower median score for total vegetables (P = .09), 13% lower scores for added sugars (P = .11), a 5% higher score for sodium (P = .35), and 14% higher scores for dairy (P = .29). The AHEI-2010 showed 50% or lower scores for total vegetables, total fruits, whole grain, fish fatty acids, sodium, and sugary beverages among all ECE providers (Figure B). The median score for fish fatty acid and sugary beverages was lower among food insecure ECE providers than among those who were food secure; (9%, P = .04) and (11%, P = .06), respectively. Overall, the AHEI-2010 scores were lower among those who are food insecure than among food secure ECE providers (mean, 49.1 [SD, 9.6] vs mean, 53.9 [SD, 1.0]; P= .002).

A Healthy Eating Index 2015



B Alternative Healthy Eating Index 2010



**Figure.** Radar plots of Healthy Eating Index (HEI) 2015 and Alternative Healthy Eating Index (AHEI) 2010 food components for both food secure and food insecure early childhood education providers. The radial axes represent median scores for food components graphed as percentages of each component's total maximum score. The radar plots' outer edges represent a maximum score of 100%, while the centers represent a minimum score of 0%. Plot A illustrates trends from HEI-2015. Total fruit represents all forms of fruit, including fruit juice; whole fruit represents all forms of fruit except fruit juice. Plot B illustrates trends from AHEI-2010. The median score for food secure was 53.1. For food insecure, the median score was 49.4. A higher score indicates a higher diet quality. Sugary beverages are any beverage with natural or added sugar.

For AHEI-2010 diet quality measures, regression analysis results examining the association between food insecurity and diet qual-

ity measures showed a significant inverse association with food insecurity (Table 2). The unadjusted model showed that ECEs who were food insecure had significantly lower AHEI-2010 scores than those who were food secure (mean difference, -4.8; 95% CI, -7.8to -1.7; P = .002). These associations remained significant after controlling for covariates (mean difference, -3.9; 95% CI, -7.5 to -0.4; P = .03). We also saw an inverse association between food insecurity and HEI-2015, but it was not significant.

Food insecure ECE providers reported consuming fewer meals per day than their food secure counterparts (adjusted predicted counts, 2.6 vs 2.9 meals per day; P = .03) (Table 3). Furthermore, the frequency of use of nutrition labels to make grocery purchasing decisions was significantly lower among those who were food insecure than among their food secure counterparts (22.8% vs 39.1%; P = .046). We also assessed the relationship between food insecurity and perceived barriers to eating fruits and vegetables. We found that food insecure providers were more likely to report cost of food as being a perceived barrier to eating fruits and vegetables than their food secure counterparts (37.2% vs 23.3%; P = .03) after adjusting for age, BMI, income, employment status, coping ability with life problems, and work duration at the Head Start facility.

## Discussion

Our study demonstrated that food insecure ECE providers had lower diet quality and were consuming significantly fewer meals per day than their food secure counterparts. The prevalence of food insecurity in our sample, 31.5%, was high and higher than the national average, although it was consistent with the prevalence of food insecurity among low-income households (9). These rates of food insecurity are comparable with a recent study examining 307 ECE providers, which found that 34.5% were food insecure (7). The low national median wages for ECE providers of \$24,230 (6) coupled with the high prevalence of food insecurity and poor diet quality seen in our population warrants immediate attention to the ECE environment and increased support to ECE providers in order to address their basic needs.

Overall HEI-2015 diet quality scores for ECE providers in our study were comparable to the national average of 58.4; however, the overall AHEI-2010 scores in our study population were higher than the national average of 41.8 (28), possibly because of differences in sex, socioeconomic status, and age distribution. In our study, food insecure ECE providers had HEI-2015 scores comparable to food secure providers; however, for AHEI-2010, the scores were significantly lower among those who were food insecure. These results align with those from a study that used National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey data that reported significantly lower overall scores in AHEI-2010 and a previous version of HEI-2015 dietary measures among food insecure adults compared with food secure adults in the US (15). Furthermore, food insecure ECE providers reported lower scores for fish fatty acids and sugary beverages per AHEI-2010. AHEI-2010 is designed to capture additional nutrition information on diet quality affecting preventable chronic diseases (24). Literature shows an association between low AHEI-2010 scores and increased risk for type 2 diabetes (25) and increased mortality rates for cardiovascular disease and cancer (29). These findings, along with those from our study, suggest that food insecurity among ECE providers could potentially predispose them to higher risks of chronic diseases in later life because of low diet quality (21,24,30); these relationships could be explored in future research. Our results can help inform intervention strategies to mitigate food insecurity and improve diet quality among ECE providers (15).

Our study also showed that food insecure ECE providers were less likely to read food labels often or always than food secure providers. This finding could be due to purchases being driven primarily by cost rather than the nutrition content of the foods. These results are consistent with those of previous studies of lowincome households that report lower use of nutrition labels to navigate the food environment (31). Furthermore, our results showed that food insecure ECE providers were more likely to perceive barriers to eating fruits and vegetables than food secure providers, specifically barriers related to cost. Nutrition knowledge did not differ between the 2 groups. Programs targeting ECE providers' healthy eating need to address environmental factors to reduce perceived barriers to eating fruits and vegetables (eg, enrollment of those eligible in the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program and the Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children) and provide skill-based nutrition education to improve food preparation, food budgeting, and use of nutrition labels to guide grocery shopping.

Head Start programs outline several domains that emphasize child health outcomes, including healthy nutrition. ECE providers, such as those in our study, are in a unique position to implement nutrition education and act as role models for healthy eating for children in their care (3); they can play critical roles in the success of interventions targeting childhood obesity (11). Our study's results underscore the need to provide support to the Head Start ECE providers community to improve their own dietary behaviors so that they can effectively implement health education programs for children in their care. Furthermore, given the recent COVID-19 pandemic and its related financial crisis, which have increased food insecurity nationwide, our results demonstrate a call for further research to assess the pandemic's impact on ECE providers who are among frontline workers (32).

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

Our study's strengths include the provisional insight it provides in assessing ECE providers' nutrition needs. We calculated food insecurity by using validated measures and a coding scheme with high specificity (17). We used reliable measures to estimate dietary intake (22) and assessed a variety of dietary behavior indicators. Our study also had limitations. It may not adequately represent ECE providers across the US because the study sample was conducted in Pennsylvania only, limiting the study's generalizability. Moreover, a selection bias may have been introduced because we used a convenience sample, and participation was voluntary; no information was available on the 40% of ECE providers who chose not to respond to the survey. We did not collect information about whether ECE providers were their household's primary shopper and thus could not apply such information to our analysis. Potential issues also existed with the measures. Self-reported dietary intake measures are subject to social desirability bias; however, we used the validated Block Food Frequency Questionnaire. Coping ability with life problems, knowledge index, and navigating the food environment measures were not previously validated, although they demonstrated face validity. Finally, although the difference in AHEI-2010 mean scores across food secure and food insecure populations were significant, those differences were small and likely not meaningful in relation to risk for chronic disease. Nevertheless, the persistence of significance after adjustment suggests that this finding is robust.

Our study confirms a high prevalence of food insecurity among ECE providers and demonstrates that food insecurity is associated with lower diet quality, less frequent use of nutrition labels, and higher perceived barriers to consuming fruits and vegetables related to cost among food insecure providers than their food secure counterparts. These results warrant further investigation to inform the development of strategies mitigating food insecurity and promoting healthy eating behaviors in this ECE provider population.

## Acknowledgments

We acknowledge the support of the Vitamix Foundation in funding our parent study. The Vitamix Foundation was not involved in the analysis, interpretation of data, decision to submit this article for publication, or preparation of the article. The Block Food Frequency Questionnaire was used with permission and purchased from NutritionQuest. We thank the Michael and Susan Dell Center for Healthy Living for their support of our project and the early care and education professionals from all Pennsylvania Head Start centers who participated in this study. No copyrighted materials were used in this article.

## Author Information

Corresponding Author: Dania Mofleh, MBBCh, MPH, Department of Epidemiology, Human Genetics, and Environmental Sciences, Michael & Susan Dell Center for Healthy Living, The University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, School of Public Health, 1200 Pressler St, Houston, TX 77030. Telephone: 330-245-9308. Email: Dania.mofleh@uth.tmc.edu.

Author Affiliations: <sup>1</sup>Department of Epidemiology, Human Genetics and Environmental Sciences, Michael & Susan Dell Center for Healthy Living, The University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston School of Public Health, Houston, Texas. <sup>2</sup>Department of Epidemiology, Human Genetics and Environmental Sciences, Michael & Susan Dell Center for Healthy Living, The University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston School of Public Health, Austin, Texas. <sup>3</sup>Penn State Extension Better Kid Care, State College, Pennsylvania.

## References

- 1. Whitebook M, McLean C, Austin LJ, Edwards B. Early childhood workforce index 2018. Center for the Study of Child Care Employment, University of California at Berkeley; 2018. https://cscce.berkeley.edu/early-childhood-workforce-2018index/. Accessed April 27, 2021.
- 2. Otten JJ, Bradford VA, Stover B, Hill HD, Osborne C, Getts K, et al. The culture of health in early care and education: workers' wages, health, and job characteristics. Health Aff (Millwood) 2019;38(5):709–20.
- 3. Ward S, Blanger M, Donovan D, Vatanparast H, Muhajarine N, Engler-Stringer R, et al. Association between childcare educators' practices and preschoolers' physical activity and dietary intake: a cross-sectional analysis. BMJ Open 2017; 7(5):e013657.
- 4. Lessard LM, Wilkins K, Rose-Malm J, Mazzocchi MC. The health status of the early care and education workforce in the USA: a scoping review of the evidence and current practice. Public Health Rev 2020;41(1):2.
- 5. Gould E, Whitebook M, Mokhiber Z, Austin LJE. Breaking the silence on early child care and education costs. Economy Policy Institute; 2020. https://www.epi.org/publication/breaking-the-silence-on-early-child-care-and-education-costs-a-values-based-budget-for-children-parents-and-teachers-in-california/. Accessed April 27, 2021.

- 6. US Bureau of Labor Statistics. Occupational employment and wages, May 2019 39-9011 childcare workers. Updated May 2021. https://www.bls.gov/oes/current/oes399011.htm. Accessed November 25, 2020
- 7. Swindle TM, Ward WL, Bokony P, Whiteside-Mansell L. A cross-sectional study of early childhood educators' childhood and current food insecurity and dietary intake. J Hunger Environ Nutr 2018;13(1):40–54.
- 8. US Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service. Definitions of food security. http://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/ food-nutrition-assistance/food-security-in-the-us/definitionsof-food-security.aspx.Accessed September 30, 2020.
- 9. US Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service. Key statistics and graphics. https://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/ food-nutrition-assistance/food-security-in-the-us/key-statisticsgraphics.aspx. Accessed September 30, 2020.
- Nahikian-Nelms M. Influential factors of caregiver behavior at mealtime: a study of 24 child-care programs. J Am Diet Assoc 1997;97(5):505–9.
- Sharma S, Dortch KS, Byrd-Williams C, Truxillio JB, Rahman GA, Bonsu P, et al. Nutrition-related knowledge, attitudes, and dietary behaviors among Head Start teachers in Texas: a crosssectional study. J Acad Nutr Diet 2013;113(4):558–62.
- Morales ME, Berkowitz SA. The relationship between food insecurity, dietary patterns, and obesity. Curr Nutr Rep 2016; 5(1):54–60.
- 13. Gundersen C, Ziliak JP. Food insecurity and health outcomes. Health Aff (Millwood) 2015;34(11):1830–9.
- 14. Seligman HK, Bindman AB, Vittinghoff E, Kanaya AM, Kushel MB. Food insecurity is associated with diabetes mellitus: results from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) 1999–2002. J Gen Intern Med 2007;22(7):1018–23.
- 15. Leung CW, Epel ES, Ritchie LD, Crawford PB, Laraia BA. Food insecurity is inversely associated with diet quality of lower-income adults. J Acad Nutr Diet 2014; 114(12):1943-53.e2.
- 16. Chuang RJ, Cox JN, Mincemoyer CC, Sharma SV. A pilot randomized controlled trial of a nutrition and dietary intervention for early care and education providers. J Sch Health 2020;90(11):859–68.
- 17. Hager ER, Quigg AM, Black MM, Coleman SM, Heeren T, Rose-Jacobs R, et al. Development and validity of a 2-item screen to identify families at risk for food insecurity. Pediatrics 2010;126(1):e26–32.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Defining adult overweight and obesity. 2020. https://www.cdc.gov/obesity/ adult/defining.html. Accessed July 18, 2020.
- 19. Cohen S, Kamarck T, Mermelstein R. A global measure of perceived stress. J Health Soc Behav 1983;24(4):385–96.

- 20. National Collaborative on Childhood Obesity Research. Healthy Eating Index-2015. https://www.nccor.org/wpcontent/uploads/2019/06/HEI-2015-Factsheet.pdf. Updated 2018. Accessed January 2, 2020.
- 21. McCullough ML, Feskanich D, Stampfer MJ, Giovannucci EL, Rimm EB, Hu FB, et al. Diet quality and major chronic disease risk in men and women: moving toward improved dietary guidance. Am J Clin Nutr 2002;76(6):1261–71.
- 22. Block G, Woods M, Potosky A, Clifford C. Validation of a self-administered diet history questionnaire using multiple diet records. J Clin Epidemiol 1990;43(12):1327–35.
- 23. US Department of Agriculture Food and Nutrition Services. How HEI is scored. https://www.fns.usda.gov/how-hei-scored. Accessed November 21, 2020.
- 24. Chiuve SE, Fung TT, Rimm EB, Hu FB, McCullough ML, Wang M, et al. Alternative dietary indices both strongly predict risk of chronic disease. J Nutr 2012;142(6):1009–18.
- 25. Jannasch F, Kröger J, Schulze MB. Dietary patterns and type 2 diabetes: a systematic literature review and meta-analysis of prospective studies. J Nutr 2017;147(6):1174–82.
- 26. Al-Ibrahim AA, Jackson RT. Healthy Eating Index versus Alternate Healthy Index in relation to diabetes status and health markers in US adults: NHANES 2007–2010. Nutr J 2019;18(1):26.
- 27. Nebeling LC, Hennessy E, Oh AY, Dwyer LA, Patrick H, Blanck HM, et al. The FLASHE study: survey development, dyadic perspectives, and participant characteristics. Am J Prev Med 2017;52(6):839–48.
- 28. Conrad Z, Blackstone NT, Roy ED. Healthy diets can create environmental trade-offs, depending on how diet quality is measured. Nutr J 2020;19(1):117.
- 29. Shivappa N, Hebert JR, Kivimaki M, Akbaraly T. Alternative Healthy Eating Index 2010, Dietary Inflammatory Index and risk of mortality: results from the Whitehall II cohort study and meta-analysis of previous Dietary Inflammatory Index and mortality studies. Br J Nutr 2017;118(3):210–21. Erratum in Br J Nutr. 2017; 118(8):639.
- 30. Fitzgerald N, Hromi-Fiedler A, Segura-Pérez S, Pérez-Escamilla R. Food insecurity is related to increased risk of type 2 diabetes among Latinas. Ethn Dis 2011;21(3):328–34.
- Ranjit N, Macias S, Hoelscher D. Factors related to poor diet quality in food insecure populations. Transl Behav Med 2020; 10(6):1297–305.
- 32. Schanzenbach D, Pitts A. Food insecurity triples for families with children during COVID-19 pandemic. https:// www.ipr.northwestern.edu/news/2020/food-insecurity-triplesfor-families-during-covid.html. Accessed September 30, 2020.

## Tables

Table 1. Sociodemographic Characteristics, by Food Security Status, Early Care and Education Providers (N = 216), Pennsylvania Head Start Association, January 2019–December 2020<sup>a</sup>

Characteristic	Total, N = 216	Food Secure, n = 148 (68.5%)	Food Insecure, n = 68 (31.5%)	<i>P</i> Value <sup>b</sup>	
Age, mean (SD)	41.1 (11.9)	42.5 (12.5)	37.8 (9.7)	.01	
Sex					
Male	5 (2.3)	5 (3.4)	0	22	
Female	211 (97.7)	143 (96.6)	68 (100)	.33	
Race/ethnicity					
White	169 (78.2)	120 (81.1)	49 (72.1)	.14	
Non-White	46 (21.8)	28 (18.9)	19 (27.9)		
Body mass index (weight in kg/height in m <sup>2</sup> ) , mean (SD)	30.1 (8.0)	29.0 (6.6)	32.4 (10.1)	.046	
Education					
Some college education or less	95 (44.0)	60 (40.5)	35 (51.5)	.13	
College degree	121 (56.0)	88 (59.5)	33 (48.5)		
Current position					
Teacher	115 (53.2)	82 (55.4)	33 (48.5)	.52	
Assistant teacher	74 (34.3)	47 (31.8)	27 (39.7)		
Other	27 (12.5)	19 (12.8)	8 (11.8)		
Program type <sup>c</sup>					
Center-based Head Start	173 (80.1)	118 (79.7)	55 (80.9)	.84	
Home-based Head Start	11 (5.1)	7 (4.7)	4 (5.9)	.74 <sup>d</sup>	
Preschool or public school Pre-K	37 (17.1)	24 (16.2)	13 (19.1)	.60	
Duration of work at the ECE facility, y	· · · · ·		·		
1-5	128 (59.2)	86 (58.1)	42 (61.8)	.04	
6-10	36 (16.7)	20 (13.5)	16 (23.5)		
>10	52 (24.1)	42 (28.4)	10 (14.7)		
Annual income from all sources <sup>e</sup>					
≤25,000	66 (33.0)	37 (27.4)	29 (44.6)	.004	
25,000-35,000	56 (28.0)	34 (25.2)	22 (33.9)		
35,000-50,000	32 (16.0)	28 (20.7)	4 (6.1)		
>50,000	46 (23.0)	36 (26.7)	10 (15.4)		
Has concerns about life necessities	· · · · ·		·		
Never or rarely	155 (71.8)	131 (88.5)	24 (35.3)	<.001	
Occasionally	35 (16.2)	12 (8.1)	23 (33.8)		
Frequently or always	26 (12.0)	5 (3.4)	21 (30.9)		

Abbreviation: ECE, early childhood education.

<sup>a</sup> Values are number (percentage) unless otherwise indicated.

<sup>b</sup> *P* value calculated by using  $\chi^2$  for categorical variables unless specified otherwise. Significant at *P* < .05.

<sup>c</sup> Category totals do not equal total sample size because of multiple value selections.

<sup>d</sup> Fisher Exact Test used to calculate *P* value.

<sup>e</sup> Data missing for 16 people who refused to answer.

(continued on next page)

#### (continued)

Table 1. Sociodemographic Characteristics, by Food Security Status, Early Care and Education Providers (N = 216), Pennsylvania Head Start Association, January 2019–December 2020<sup>a</sup>

Characteristic	Total, N = 216	Food Secure, n = 148 (68.5%)	Food Insecure, n = 68 (31.5%)	<i>P</i> Value <sup>b</sup>
Ability to deal with problems that come up in their life				
Very unsure/a little unsure	28 (13.0)	17 (11.5)	11 (16.2)	.57
Neutral	23 (10.6)	17 (11.5)	6 (8.8)	
A little sure/very sure	165 (76.4)	114 (77.0)	51 (75.0)	
In the last month, how often have you felt nervous and st	ressed			
Never or almost never	16 (7.4)	12 (8.1)	4 (5.9)	.79
Sometimes or fairly often	144 (66.7)	99 (66.9)	45 (66.2)	
Very often	56 (25.9)	37 (25.0)	19 (27.9)	

Abbreviation: ECE, early childhood education.

<sup>a</sup> Values are number (percentage) unless otherwise indicated.

<sup>b</sup> *P* value calculated by using  $\chi^2$  for categorical variables unless specified otherwise. Significant at *P* < .05.

<sup>c</sup> Category totals do not equal total sample size because of multiple value selections.

<sup>d</sup> Fisher Exact Test used to calculate *P* value.

 $^{\rm e}$  Data missing for 16 people who refused to answer.

## Table 2. Mean Difference in Diet Quality Scores, by Food Security Status, Using Unadjusted and Adjusted Models, Early Care and Education Providers (N = 216), Pennsylvania Head Start Association, January 2019–December 2020

	Unadjusted Model				Adjusted Model <sup>a</sup>					
	Food Secure	Food Insecure	Difference Across Groups		Difference Across Groups		Food Secure	Food Insecure	Difference Acros	s Groups
Model	Mean (SE)	Mean (SE)	Mean Difference <sup>b</sup> (95% Cl)	<i>P</i> Value <sup>c</sup>	Mean <sup>d</sup> (SE)	Mean <sup>d</sup> (SE)	Mean Difference <sup>b</sup> (95% Cl)	<i>P</i> Value <sup>c</sup>		
Healthy Eating Index 2015	62.2 (0.8)	60.2 (1.1)	-2.0 (-4.7 to 0.7)	.152	62.2 (0.8)	60.4 (1.3)	-1.8 (-4.9 to 1.4)	.27		
Alternative Healthy Eating Index 2010	53.9 (0.9)	49.1 (1.3)	-4.8 (-7.8 to -1.7)	.002	53.6 (0.9)	49.7 (1.4)	-3.9 (-7.5 to -0.4)	.03		

Abbreviations: SE, Standard Error.

<sup>a</sup> Adjusted models controlled for age, body mass index (weight in kg/height in m<sup>2</sup>), income, employment status, duration of work at facility, and ability to cope with life problems.

<sup>b</sup> Mean difference represents the difference in means between food secure and food insecure ECE providers.

<sup>c</sup> Significant at P < .05.

<sup>d</sup> The predicted adjusted mean represents the average mean for Alternative Healthy Eating Index 2015 or Alternative Healthy Eating Index 2010 for each group (food secure vs food insecure) obtained from the adjusted models after controlling for age, body mass index (weight in kg/height in m<sup>2</sup>), income, employment status, duration of work at facility, and ability to cope with life problems.

## Table 3. Differences in Dietary Behaviors and Perceptions Across Food-Secure and Food-Insecure Early Care and Education Providers (N = 216), Pennsylvania Head Start Association, January 2019–December 2020<sup>a</sup>

	Unadjusted			Adjusted <sup>b</sup>			
Modifiable Risk Factors	Food Secure, Mean (SE)	Food Insecure, Mean (SE)	<i>P</i> Value <sup>c</sup>	Food Secure, Mean (SE)	Food Insecure, Mean (SE)	<i>P</i> Value <sup>c</sup>	
Meal patterns <sup>d,e</sup>							
Vegetables eaten per day, no. of servings	1.2 (0.1)	1.0 (0.1)	.12	1.2 (0.1)	1.1 (0.1)	.61	
Fruits eaten per day, no, of servings	1.0 (0.1)	0.9 (0.1)	.33	1.0 (0.1)	0.9 (0.1)	.46	
Number of meals per day	2.9 (0.1)	2.7 (0.1)	.02	2.9 (0.1)	2.6 (0.1)	.03	
Number of snacks per day	1.9 (0.1)	2.1 (0.1)	.12	1.9 (0.1)	2.0 (0.1)	.78	
Perceived barriers to eating fruits and vegetables <sup>f</sup>	6.1 (0.3)	7.3 (0.5)	.04	6.2 (0.4)	6.8 (0.6)	.37	
Nutrition knowledge index <sup>g</sup>	3.2 (0.1)	3.1 (0.1)	.58	3.2 (0.1)	3.2 (0.1)	.96	
Use nutrition labels <sup>h</sup> , % (SE)							
Never to sometimes	60.2 (0.0)	78.0 (0.1)	.01	60.9 (0)	77.2 (0.1)	.046	
Often to always	39.8 (0.04)	22.0 (0.1)		39.1 (0)	22.8 (0.1)		

Abbreviations: SE, standard error.

<sup>a</sup> Multivariable linear regression analysis reported means unless specified otherwise.

<sup>b</sup> Adjusted means were controlled for age, body mass index (weight in kg/height in m<sup>2</sup>), income, employment status, duration of work at facility, and coping abilities with life problems.

<sup>c</sup> Significant at P < .05.

<sup>d</sup> Predicted counts, obtained from a Poisson regression analysis.

<sup>e</sup> Data missing for 1 observation.

<sup>f</sup> Scale is a 5-point Likert scale (strongly disagree = 0 and strongly agree = 4.) Scores were converted to a 20-point scale for analysis. A higher score indicated a higher perceived barrier of healthy eating.

<sup>g</sup> The Nutrition Knowledge Index is a 5-item subscale. Each item is scored from 0 (least knowledge) to 1 (greatest knowledge); the sum was used for analysis.

<sup>h</sup> Predicted probabilities, reported as percentages obtained from a logistic multivariable regression analysis.

Volume 18, E28

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

## New SNAP Eligibility in California Associated With Improved Food Security and Health

Melinda Wang, BA<sup>1</sup>; Ronli Levi, MPH, RD<sup>2,3</sup>; Hilary Seligman, MD, MAS<sup>2,3</sup>

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2021/20 0587.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Wang M, Levi R, Seligman H. New SNAP Eligibility in California Associated With Improved Food Security and Health. Prev Chronic Dis 2021;18:200587. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd18.200587.

#### PEER REVIEWED

#### Summary

#### What is already known on this topic?

Federally funded food assistance programs such as the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) reduce food insecurity and improve health in the general population.

#### What is added by this report?

Little is known about how new eligibility for SNAP affects food insecurity and health, especially among older adults and adults with disabilities. We demonstrated that expansion of SNAP eligibility to recipients of Supplemental Security Income (SSI) in California was associated with improvements in food security and general health.

#### What are the implications for public health practice?

Older adults and adults with disabilities are likely to derive substantial benefit from SNAP enrollment. Policies that streamline the receipt and maintenance of benefits may improve the health of older adults and adults with disabilities.

## Abstract

#### Introduction

In California, Supplemental Security Income beneficiaries were ineligible to receive Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) benefits until a June 2019 policy change. The objective of this study was to determine whether SNAP eligibility was associated with changes in food insecurity and health among older adults and adults with disabilities.

#### Methods

We administered a survey to SSI recipients (N = 213) before (May–August 2019) and after (September 2019–January 2020) the policy change. We examined changes in food insecurity (primary

outcome), health status, stress, medication adherence, and dietary intake from baseline to follow-up. Multivariable analyses adjusted for age, sex/gender, race/ethnicity, and education.

#### Results

Of 213 participants at baseline, 56.8% were male, 43.7% were Black/African American, 88.7% had an annual income of less than \$15,000, and 89.7% were currently housed. Of 157 participants at follow-up, 114 (72.6%) were newly enrolled in SNAP. At follow-up, compared with baseline, participants were less likely to report food insecurity (83.1% vs 67.5%, P < .001), required less additional money for food (\$73.33 vs \$47.72 weekly, P < .001), were more likely to report excellent/very good health (26.8% vs 27.6%, P < .001), and were less likely to report cost-related medication nonadherence (24.1% vs 17.7%, P < .001) or use free food programs (82.6% vs 74.5%, P < .001). We found no changes in dietary intake.

#### Conclusion

SNAP uptake rates were high after the policy change. Policies that support older adults and adults with disabilities to enroll in or maintain SNAP benefits may improve health outcomes.

## Introduction

The Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) is the largest federally funded food assistance program operated by the US Department of Agriculture (1). SNAP improves food access, reduces food insecurity, and decreases poverty among eligible low-income households (2,3).

About 11% of US households were food insecure in 2018, with 4.3% of US households experiencing the most severe form of food insecurity ("very low food security") (4,5). SNAP benefits decreased rates of food insecurity by about 30% in 2018 (4). From 2016 through 2018, as a result of SNAP benefits, more than 3.5 million people, about 1% of Americans, rose above the federal poverty threshold (4,5).



The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2021/20\_0587.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1

This publication is in the public domain and is therefore without copyright. All text from this work may be reprinted freely. Use of these materials should be properly cited.

A robust body of literature demonstrates that SNAP also improves health outcomes (6). These studies showed that SNAP enrollment was associated with decreases in risk of chronic disease, risk of cost-related medication nonadherence among adults with diabetes, hospitalizations and nursing home placements among older adults, and visits to the emergency department for pregnancy-related diagnoses, hypertension, hypoglycemia, and childhood asthma (7–14).

However, SNAP's capacity to drive these positive outcomes is limited in some populations. Many food-insecure people in the United States, such as people with incomes above the eligibility threshold and undocumented immigrants, are not eligible for SNAP benefits (7). The minimum SNAP benefit level is generally \$16 per month in California, but some exceptions allow even lower benefit amounts. In California, beneficiaries of Supplemental Security Income (SSI) — low-income older adults and adults with disabilities — have not been eligible to receive SNAP benefits. Instead, these populations have been able to use a cash benefit provided by SSI to cover food expenses. However, the value of this cash benefit has not increased over time. Thus, many SSI recipients who were otherwise eligible for SNAP benefits because of low household income were excluded in California.

California Assembly Bill 1811 reversed this eligibility policy, allowing California's SSI recipients to be newly eligible for SNAP (known as CalFresh in California) effective June 1, 2019. Given the positive effect of SNAP in other populations, we sought to determine whether this policy change was associated with changes in food insecurity and health among people receiving SSI in California.

## Methods

We conducted a pre/post study among SSI recipients living in the San Francisco Bay Area. We recruited participants from a network of low-income and supportive housing sites, congregate meal sites, and SNAP outreach events. Participants were also recruited by direct outreach via newsletters, flyers, and referrals. Inclusion criteria were 1) being aged 18 years or older, 2) receiving SSI, 3) not receiving SNAP benefits at baseline, 4) being able to complete the survey in English, and 5) having access to a telephone to complete dietary recalls. Participants who met all criteria but were cognitively impaired (defined as dementia, mental illness, or active substance abuse severe enough to render the person incapable of providing informed consent) were excluded from study participation. Of 236 SSI recipients recruited, we excluded 23 because they received SNAP at baseline (n = 15) or declined to participate (n = 8). After eligibility was confirmed, we invited potential participants to an in-person orientation to review study details. People who provided informed consent then completed a baseline survey that included questions about demographic characteristics, food insecurity, health status, stress, medication adherence, and knowledge of the new policy. All participants were asked to complete three 24-hour dietary recalls, the gold-standard for assessing dietary intake, over the telephone after the baseline survey. Baseline study participation occurred from May 2019 through August 2019.

Follow-up occurred after the policy change and 4 to 6 months after completion of the baseline survey (September 2019–January 2020). The follow-up survey was administered either by study staff members via telephone or self-administered in person at various outreach sites. We attempted 3 follow-up dietary recalls for each participant.

Participants received a \$10 gift card for completion of each survey and, depending on the number completed, \$10 to \$20 for dietary recalls. The study was approved by the University of California San Francisco Institutional Review Board.

#### Measures

Sociodemographic measures. Participants were asked to selfreport age, sex/gender (male, female, or other), race/ethnicity (American Indian/Alaska Native, Asian, Black/African American, Hispanic/Latino, Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander, White, or other), highest level of education (< high school, high school graduate/ GED, some college/vocational degree, or ≥college graduate), veteran status (yes/no), employment status (yes/no), annual household income (≥\$15,000 or <\$15,000), and housing status (currently housed or unstably housed). We defined "currently housed" as renting, owning, or living in a single room occupancy unit/ motel/hotel, low-income housing, or subsidized housing. We included residents of single room occupancy units/motels/hotels in the "currently housed" category because these types of housing are often used as a permanent housing strategy in San Francisco, where the cost of living is high. We considered participants who identified as homeless or were living in a shelter or "staying for free at someone else's house" to be unstably housed.

**Outcomes.** Our primary outcome was food security. We scored the 6-item version of the US Department of Agriculture's US Household Food Security Survey Module: Six-Item Short Form as a dichotomous variable: food secure (0 or 1 item answered affirmatively) or food insecure (2–6 items answered affirmatively) (15). Among participants who were food insecure at baseline, we defined those who became food secure at follow-up as "newly food secure" and those who remained food insecure at follow-up as "persistently food insecure." To increase the statistical power of

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

our study, we also scored the food security module as a continuous variable (with values ranging from 2.86 to 8.48 and higher values indicating greater food insecurity) by using the US Department of Agriculture's published weights derived from a Rasch model (15).

Secondary outcomes were stress (measured by the Perceived Stress Scale, which has 10 items scaled 0-40: low, 0-13; moderate, 14-26; high, 27-40) (16), general health status (excellent/very good or good/fair/poor) (17), health-related quality of life reported as number of unhealthy days (4-item CDC Healthy Days Measure, scaled 0-30 unhealthy days of the month) (17), costrelated medication nonadherence (3-item scale for skipping medications to save money, taking less medicine to save money, or delaying filling a prescription to save money: yes, 3, no, 0; not scored, 1 or 2) (18), food trade-offs (4 items assessing trade-offs between food and medical care, utilities, housing, and transportation) (19), use of free community food resources in the past 30 days (including free food program, free groceries, free dining room/soup kitchen, or free home-delivered meals), and average weekly food budget shortfall (1 item) (20). All variables were measured at baseline and at follow-up.

We calculated scores for the Healthy Eating Index–2015 and the alternative Healthy Eating Index–2010 from dietary recalls. The Healthy Eating Index–2015 was calculated as described previously; components were weighted equally across food groups for a maximum score of 100 (21). The alternative Healthy Eating Index–2010, which more strongly predicts chronic disease risk, was also calculated by using a previously described scoring algorithm (22).

In addition, at baseline we asked participants about their familiarity with the upcoming SNAP policy change, familiarity with SNAP, and confidence in enrolling in SNAP (none/somewhat vs moderate/very). At follow-up, we asked participants about their familiarity with the SNAP policy change, their familiarity with SNAP, and their satisfaction with SNAP benefit levels.

#### Statistical analysis

We examined changes in variables of interest from baseline to follow-up among all participants and conducted sensitivity analyses among only participants who enrolled in SNAP. We stratified results according to whether participants remained persistently food insecure or became food secure and whether food security scores improved from baseline to follow-up among persistently food-insecure participants.

To accommodate nonnormally distributed data, we analyzed data by using nonparametric statistical tests and SPSS version 24 (IBM Corporation). We used means and ranges to describe continuous variables. Baseline and follow-up data were analyzed by using Mann–Whitney U tests for continuous variables and Fisher exact tests for categorical variables. Analyses were conducted to detect differences at baseline and follow-up among all participants, at baseline between newly secure and persistently insecure participants, and at follow-up after adjusting for baseline differences. We conducted the last analysis by using a difference-in-differences strategy that compared newly food-secure and persistently food-insecure participants. We adjusted all multivariable analyses for age, sex/gender, race/ethnicity, and education. A P value  $\leq .05$  was considered significant.

## Results

Of the 213 SSI recipients who completed the baseline survey, 157 (73.7%) completed a follow-up survey; the mean time to follow-up was 4.7 months (range, 3.7–7.5 mo). We found no significant differences in any variables (age, sex/gender, race/ethnicity, education, employment, veteran status, food insecurity, health status, and food trade-offs) between participants who did and did not complete a follow-up survey. Overall, 153 of 213 (71.8%) participants completed at least 1 dietary recall at baseline. Participants who completed at least 1 dietary recall completed an average of 2.8 baseline recalls. Almost all (152 of 157) participants at follow-up completed at least 1 recall at follow-up, with an average of 2.7 follow-up recalls per participant. We found no significant differences in variables between participants who did and did not complete at least 1 dietary recall.

Participants at baseline were 56.8% male, 43.7% Black/African American, 11.3% American Indian/Alaska Native, and 8.0% Hispanic/Latino; 11.3% were living in a household with annual household income of \$15,000 or more (Table 1). Most participants were food insecure at baseline (83.1%) and currently housed (89.7%); 10.3% were unstably housed.

The percentage of food-secure participants increased from 16.9% at baseline to 32.5% at follow-up (P < .001) (Table 2). The average amount of additional money per participant needed to cover all household food needs for the week decreased from \$73.33 at baseline to \$47.72 at follow-up (P < .001). From baseline to follow-up, the percentage of participants who reported excellent or very good health increased (26.8% vs 27.6%; P < .001), and the percentage of participants who reported cost-related medication nonadherence decreased (24.1% vs 17.7%; P < .001). A smaller percentage of participants at follow-up also used free community food resources (82.6% vs 74.5%; P < .001).

At the time of the follow-up survey, 43 (27.4%) participants had not received benefits (including 8.9% who had unsuccessfully attempted to enroll and 18.5% who had not attempted to enroll in

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

SNAP), 50 (31.8%) had received SNAP benefits for 0 to 2 months, 59 (37.6%) had received SNAP benefits for more than 3 months, and 5 (3.2%) had received SNAP benefits for an unknown period of time. The mean self-reported SNAP benefit among those successfully enrolled was \$73.50 per month (range, 6.00-345.00). Among the 114 participants who answered a question about satisfaction with SNAP benefit levels, 24 participants (21.1%) reported the amount of SNAP benefit they received each month was "about right" and others reported receiving benefits at a level that was "a little too low" (n = 38; 33.3%) or "way too low" (n = 49; 43.0%); no participants reported benefit levels that were "a little high" or "way too high." Among participants who received SNAP, greater monthly SNAP benefits correlated with a smaller weekly food budget shortfall (P < .001) (Figure).



**Figure**. Correlation between SNAP benefits and weekly budget shortfall at follow-up. All units are US dollars. A line of best fit has a negative slope and an  $r^2$  of 0.066. Abbreviation: SNAP, Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program.

Of the 128 participants who were food insecure at baseline, 28 (21.9%) participants became newly food secure and 98 (76.6%) participants remained persistently food insecure. We found no significant differences in demographic characteristics or SNAP benefit factors (amount of money received in SNAP benefits or length of time receiving SNAP benefits) between participants who became newly food secure and participants who remained persistently food insecure. However, participants who became newly food secure had reported less severe food insecurity at baseline than participants who were persistently food insecure (6.7 vs 7.2; P = .003). At follow up, compared with persistently food-insecure participants, newly food-secure participants reported having less stress (P = .02) in the difference-in-differences analysis (Table 3). Newly food-secure participants also reported more familiarity with

changes to SNAP policy than persistently food-insecure participants (78.6% vs 52.6%; P = .02) but were not more likely to receive SNAP (75.0% vs 72.4%; P > .99). Receipt of SNAP did not predict becoming newly food secure at follow-up either in bivariate analysis (P = .83) or after adjusting for sex/gender, education, age, and race/ethnicity (P = .11).

Among the 98 participants who remained persistently food insecure at follow-up, regardless of SNAP status, food-insecurity scores improved (paired sample mean range, from 7.4 to 7.2; P < .001). Receipt of SNAP did not predict improvement in food-security scores at follow-up either in bivariate analysis (P = .83) or after adjusting for sex/gender, education, age, and race/ethnicity (P = .55).

With the exception of employment, baseline demographic characteristics were not significantly different between participants who received SNAP benefits and participants who did not receive SNAP benefits. Participants who received SNAP benefits were less likely to be employed at baseline than participants who did not receive SNAP benefits (2 participants [1.8%] vs 4 participants [9.3%], P = .048). All outcomes were similar between participants who received SNAP benefits and participants who did not receive SNAP benefits (Table 4).

### Discussion

Most SSI recipients we sampled successfully enrolled in SNAP in response to the June 2019 policy change that expanded eligibility to SSI recipients. Overall, compared with participants at baseline, participants at follow-up were more food secure and had better general health status, lower weekly food budget shortfall, less use of free food programs, and less cost-related medication nonadherence.

We did not observe a difference in outcomes between participants who received SNAP benefits and participants who did not receive SNAP benefits, which may be due to the small number of participants who did not receive SNAP benefits at follow-up. (High levels of program uptake is likely the result of robust outreach by local SNAP offices and suggests that SNAP is desirable in this population.) However, the changes in outcomes observed from baseline to follow-up may be related at least in part to SNAP enrollment, as most participants received SNAP at follow-up. This conclusion is supported by multiple other observations. First, participants who received higher SNAP benefit levels reported lower weekly food budget shortfalls. Second, a smaller percentage of participants at follow-up used free food program resources, suggesting that improvements observed were not related to use of programs other than SNAP.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

The association between SNAP and improved general health and reduced cost-related medication nonadherence is consistent with previous research that examined the effect of interventions designed to improve food security (7–14). Our findings therefore extend the current literature on SNAP and its effect on health outcomes by suggesting that SSI recipients can also derive substantial health benefits from SNAP eligibility.

SNAP tends to affect the severity of poverty more than prevalence of poverty (3); its effects are greatest among those with the deepest poverty levels, but benefit levels in those households may be inadequate to allow a crossing of the poverty threshold. A similar phenomenon may have occurred in our study — many participants at follow-up improved their food insecurity score, but the improvements were insufficient to cross the threshold into food security. This hypothesis is supported by several lines of evidence. First, even among persistently food-insecure participants, continuous scores of food insecurity improved. Second, participants who were newly food secure at follow-up were less food insecure at baseline than those who remained food insecure at follow-up. Finally, the weekly food budget shortfall improved even among those participants who did not become food secure.

New food security was associated with lower levels of stress but not with improvements in other health outcomes, including general health status, number of unhealthy days, reliance on free food programs, or trade-offs between food and other basic necessities. Therefore, although minimal improvement in food insecurity, possibly as a result of SNAP enrollment, has numerous benefits, our findings suggest that additional improvements in health, lifestyle, and dietary intake may require higher benefit levels or additional interventions.

We did not observe improvements in dietary intake associated with the policy change. Low-income older adults and adults with disabilities often have additional barriers to healthy dietary intake in addition to food insecurity, including limitations in transportation, equipment to store and prepare food, and physical capacity to cook. SNAP enrollment may therefore address some, but not all, of the barriers preventing healthy dietary intake (23). Thus, SNAP benefits may be necessary but not sufficient for improving dietary intake in this population.

Our study has several limitations. First, variables other than changes in SNAP policy likely exist to explain the improvements in food security we observed. Although we found no significant difference in the self-reported number of unhealthy days between persistently food-insecure and newly food-secure participants at baseline or in the difference-in-differences analysis, participants who became newly food secure at follow-up may have had advantages, such as more resources or better health, that persistently food-insecure participants did not have and we did not measure.

Second, we recruited participants from a single urban setting, and most participants enrolled in SNAP soon after the policy change. Thus, our findings may not generalize to other populations. Third, biases are associated with the recruitment of participants primarily from housing sites and only those who are proficient in English. Some participants were also recruited from SNAP outreach events, skewing our sample to people more familiar with the SNAP policy change and more likely to participate in SNAP after the policy change went into effect. Fourth, almost half of participants had received SNAP benefits for less than 2 months at the time of their follow-up survey, which may have limited the time available for the intervention to significantly affect health and other outcomes.

Despite these limitations, our study contributes important findings to the SNAP literature. To our knowledge, ours is the first study to explore changes in food security among SSI recipients before and after new eligibility for SNAP. Our survey reached a population of adults at high risk of health decline, hospitalizations, and institutionalization. Additionally, our study provides valuable insight into factors associated with improvements in food security among SSI participants enrolled in SNAP and differential ways in which the opportunity to enroll in SNAP may affect people for whom benefit levels are adequate to achieve food security.

Disability is one of the strongest risk factors for food insecurity, and households with adults with disabilities have more severe food insecurity than households without adults with disabilities (24,25). We found that expansion of SNAP benefits to SSI recipients was associated with improved food security. Thus, interventions such as expansion of SNAP eligibility may be particularly important for reducing inequities in health outcomes in this population.

Future research should focus on exploring other variables that may improve food security among older adults and adults with disabilities. Additionally, future studies may benefit from longer duration between enrollment and follow-up to better examine the longterm potential benefits, including the health benefits, of SNAP expansion to newly eligible populations. Given that we did not observe changes in dietary intake in our study, future research could also explore the potential of SNAP programs that feature incentives for consuming fruits and vegetables. The change in SNAP eligibility investigated in our study is the kind of natural experiment that offers an important opportunity to examine the effect of SNAP on food security, health behaviors, and health outcomes.

## Acknowledgments

Research reported in this publication was supported by Archstone Foundation and the National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences, National Institutes of Health, through the University of California San Francisco Clinical and Translational Science Institute grant number UL1 TR001872. Dr Seligman was supported by the National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases of the National Institutes of Health under award number P30DK092924. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health. The authors have no conflicts of interest to disclose. No copyrighted materials were used in this article.

## Author Information

Corresponding Author: Melinda Wang, BA, 333 Cedar St, New Haven, CT 06510. Telephone: 628-206-4448. Email: melinda.wang@yale.edu.

Author Affiliations: <sup>1</sup>Yale University School of Medicine, New Haven, Connecticut. <sup>2</sup>University of California San Francisco, Division of General Internal Medicine, Department of Medicine, San Francisco, California. <sup>3</sup>Center for Vulnerable Populations at Zuckerberg San Francisco General Hospital, San Francisco, California.

## References

- Andreyeva T, Tripp AS, Schwartz MB. Dietary quality of Americans by Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program participation status: a systematic review. Am J Prev Med 2015; 49(4):594–604.
- 2. Nord M, Prell M.Food security improved following the 2009 ARRA increase in SNAP benefits. Washington (DC): US Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service; 2011.
- 3. Bartfeld J, Gundersen C, Smeeding T, Ziliak JP. SNAP matters: how food stamps affect health and well-being. Redwood City (CA): Stanford University Press; 2015.
- 4. Coleman-Jensen AR, Matthew P. Gregory CA, Singh A. Household food security in the United States in 2018. Washington (DC): US Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service; 2019.
- 5. Gundersen C, Ziliak JP. Food insecurity and health outcomes. Health Aff (Millwood) 2015;34(11):1830–9.
- 6. Seligman HK, Berkowitz SA. Aligning programs and policies to support food security and public health goals in the United States. Annu Rev Public Health 2019;40(1):319–37.

- 7. Keith-Jennings B, Llobrera J, Dean S. Links of the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program with food insecurity, poverty, and health: evidence and potential. Am J Public Health 2019;109(12):1636–40.
- 8. Pooler JA, Srinivasan M. Association between Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program participation and cost-related medication nonadherence among older adults with diabetes. JAMA Intern Med 2019;179(1):63–70.
- 9. Samuel LJ, Szanton SL, Cahill R, Wolff JL, Ong P, Zielinskie G, et al. Does the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program affect hospital utilization among older adults? The case of Maryland. Popul Health Manag 2018;21(2):88–95.
- 10. Szanton SL, Samuel LJ, Cahill R, Zielinskie G, Wolff JL, Thorpe RJ Jr, et al. Food assistance is associated with decreased nursing home admissions for Maryland's dually eligible older adults. BMC Geriatr 2017;17(1):162.
- Arteaga I, Heflin C, Hodges L. SNAP benefits and pregnancyrelated emergency room visits. Popul Res Policy Rev 2018; 37(6):1031–52.
- 12. Heflin C, Arteaga I, Hodges L, Ndashiyme JF, Rabbitt MP. SNAP benefits and childhood asthma. Soc Sci Med 2019; 220:203–11.
- 13. Heflin C, Hodges L, Mueser P. Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Progam benefits and emergency room visits for hypoglycaemia. Public Health Nutr 2017;20(7):1314–21.
- 14. Ojinnaka CO, Heflin C. Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program size and timing and hypertension-related emergency department claims among Medicaid enrollees. J Am Soc Hypertens 2018;12(11):e27–34.
- 15. US Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service. US household food security survey module: six-item short form. 2012. https://www.ers.usda.gov/media/8282/ short2012.pdf. Accessed March 1, 2021.
- 16. Cohen S, Williamson G.Perceived stress in a probability sample of the United States. In: Spacapan S, Oskamp S. The social psychology of health: Claremont Symposium on Applied Social Psychology. Newbury Park (CA): Sage; 1988. p. 31–67.
- 17. Moriarty DG, Zack MM, Kobau R. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's Healthy Days Measures population tracking of perceived physical and mental health over time. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2003;1(1):37.
- Srinivasan M, Pooler JA. Cost-related medication nonadherence for older adults participating in SNAP, 2013–2015. Am J Public Health 2018;108(2):224–30.
- 19. Weinfield NS, Mills G, Borger C, Gearing M, Macaluso T, Montaquila J, et al.Hunger in America 2014. Rockville (MD): Westat and the Urban Institute; 2014.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

- 20. US Census Bureau. Current Population Survey, December 2018food security file technical documentation CPS-18. https:/ /www2.census.gov/programs-surveys/cps/techdocs/ cpsdec18.pdf. Accessed February 17, 2021.
- 21. National Collaborative on Childhood Obesity Research. Measures registry. http://www.nccor.org/nccor-tools/measures. Accessed February 17, 2021.
- 22. Chiuve SE, Fung TT, Rimm EB, Hu FB, McCullough ML, Wang M, et al. Alternative dietary indices both strongly predict risk of chronic disease. J Nutr 2012;142(6):1009–18.
- 23. Fitzpatrick K, Greenhalgh-Stanley N, Ver Ploeg M. The impact of food deserts on food insufficiency and SNAP participation among the elderly. Am J Agric Econ 2016; 98(1):19–40.
- 24. Coleman-Jensen A, Nord M. Food insecurity among households with working-age adults with disabilities. Report no. 144. US Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service; 2013. https://www.ers.usda.gov/publications/pubdetails/?pubid=45040. Accessed March 1, 2021.
- 25. Coleman-Jensen A, Nord M. Disability is an important risk factor for food insecurity. US Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service; 2013. https://www.ers.usda.gov/amber-waves/2013/may/disability-is-an-important-risk-factor-for-food-insecurity. Accessed March 1, 2021.

## Tables

Table 1. Baseline Characteristics of Participants (N = 213) in Study of SNAP Eligibility, Food Security, and Health After a SNAP Policy Change, California, 2019–2020<sup>a</sup>

Characteristic	Value
Age, y	1
<50	41 (19.2)
50-59	71 (33.3)
60-69	80 (37.6)
70-79	17 (8.0)
Missing data	4 (1.9)
Sex/gender	
Male	121 (56.8)
Female	88 (41.3)
Other	3 (1.4)
Missing data	1 (0.5)
Race/ethnicity <sup>b</sup>	
American Indian/Alaska Native	13 (6.1)
Asian	5 (2.3)
Black/African American	80 (37.6)
Hispanic/Latino	17 (8.0)
Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander	1 (0.5)
White	73 (34.3)
Don't know/unknown/other	41 (19.3)
Education	
<high diploma<="" school="" td=""><td>54 (25.4)</td></high>	54 (25.4)
High school graduate/GED	50 (23.5)
Some college/vocational degree	76 (35.7)
≥College graduate	31 (14.6)
Missing data	2 (0.9)
Veteran status	
Veteran	31 (14.6)
Nonveteran	179 (84.0)
Data missing	3 (1.4)

Abbreviation: SNAP, Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program.

<sup>a</sup> Baseline survey administered to Supplemental Security Income recipients during May-August 2019; policy change in effect beginning June 1, 2019. All values are number (percentage) unless otherwise indicated; percentages may not sum to 100 because of rounding.

<sup>b</sup> Participants can be both Hispanic and one of the races.

<sup>c</sup> "Currently housed" defined as renting, owning, living in a single room occupancy unit/motel/hotel, low-income housing, or subsidized housing. "Unstably housed" defined as homeless, living in a shelter, or living in "someone else's house."

<sup>d</sup> Scored from 0 to 100 with higher numbers indicating more nutritious dietary intake; 153 participants answered question; total of 423 dietary recalls.

<sup>e</sup> Scored from 0 to 40: low, 0-13; moderate, 14-26; high, 27-40.

<sup>f</sup> Trade-offs defined as answering yes to 1 or 2 times per year, some months, or every month (compared with never); 10.4%–16.6% of data for these variables were missing; percentages based on number who answered question.

(continued on next page)
#### (continued)

Table 1. Baseline Characteristics of Participants (N = 213) in Study of SNAP Eligibility, Food Security, and Health After a SNAP Policy Change, California, 2019–2020<sup>a</sup>

Characteristic	Value
Employment status	
Employed	8 (3.8)
Not employed	203 (95.3)
Missing data	2 (0.9)
Housing status <sup>c</sup>	,
Currently housed	191 (89.7)
Unstably housed	22 (10.3)
Annual household income, \$	
≥15,000	24 (11.3)
<15,000	187 (87.8)
Missing data	2 (0.9)
General health status	1
Excellent/very good	57 (26.8)
Good/fair/poor	156 (73.2)
Healthy Eating Index, mean (median) <sup>d</sup>	
Healthy Eating Index-2015	44.3 (43.8)
Alternative Healthy Eating Index-2010	45.4 (45.9)
No. of unhealthy days in past 30 days, mean (median)	17.1 (20.0)
Stress score, mean (median) <sup>e</sup>	8
Mean (median)	19.8 (20.0)
Low	28 (13.1)
Medium	145 (68.1)
High	29 (13.6)
Missing data	11 (5.2)
Food insecurity	
Food secure	36 (16.9)
Food insecure	177 (83.1)
Cost-related medication nonadherence	
Yes	41 (19.2)
No	129 (60.6)
Missing data	43 (20.2)

Abbreviation: SNAP, Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program.

<sup>a</sup> Baseline survey administered to Supplemental Security Income recipients during May-August 2019; policy change in effect beginning June 1, 2019. All values are number (percentage) unless otherwise indicated; percentages may not sum to 100 because of rounding.

<sup>b</sup> Participants can be both Hispanic and one of the races.

<sup>c</sup> "Currently housed" defined as renting, owning, living in a single room occupancy unit/motel/hotel, low-income housing, or subsidized housing. "Unstably housed" defined as homeless, living in a shelter, or living in "someone else's house."

<sup>d</sup> Scored from 0 to 100 with higher numbers indicating more nutritious dietary intake; 153 participants answered question; total of 423 dietary recalls.

<sup>e</sup> Scored from 0 to 40: low, 0-13; moderate, 14-26; high, 27-40.

<sup>f</sup> Trade-offs defined as answering yes to 1 or 2 times per year, some months, or every month (compared with never); 10.4%-16.6% of data for these variables were missing; percentages based on number who answered question.

(continued on next page)

#### (continued)

Table 1. Baseline Characteristics of Participants (N = 213) in Study of SNAP Eligibility, Food Security, and Health After a SNAP Policy Change, California, 2019–2020<sup>a</sup>

Characteristic	Value			
Trade-offs <sup>f</sup>	•			
Mean (median)	1.3 (0)			
Made trade-offs between food and medicine/medical care	76 (39.4)			
Made trade-offs between food and utilities	65 (35.9)			
Made trade-offs between food and housing	65 (34.6)			
Made trade-offs between food and transportation	67 (35.8)			
Use of community food resources in past 30 days				
Overall	171 (83.0)			
Free groceries	110 (64.3)			
Free dining room/soup kitchen	92 (53.8)			
Home delivered meals	25 (14.6)			
Weekly food budget shortfall (n = 171); mean, median, \$	73.33 (50.00)			

Abbreviation: SNAP, Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program.

<sup>a</sup> Baseline survey administered to Supplemental Security Income recipients during May–August 2019; policy change in effect beginning June 1, 2019. All values are number (percentage) unless otherwise indicated; percentages may not sum to 100 because of rounding.

<sup>b</sup> Participants can be both Hispanic and one of the races.

<sup>c</sup> "Currently housed" defined as renting, owning, living in a single room occupancy unit/motel/hotel, low-income housing, or subsidized housing. "Unstably housed" defined as homeless, living in a shelter, or living in "someone else's house."

<sup>d</sup> Scored from 0 to 100 with higher numbers indicating more nutritious dietary intake; 153 participants answered question; total of 423 dietary recalls.

<sup>e</sup> Scored from 0 to 40: low, 0–13; moderate, 14–26; high, 27–40.

<sup>f</sup> Trade-offs defined as answering yes to 1 or 2 times per year, some months, or every month (compared with never); 10.4%–16.6% of data for these variables were missing; percentages based on number who answered question.

# Table 2. Change in Outcomes Associated With New SNAP Eligibility Among SSI Recipients in Study of SNAP Eligibility, Food Security, and Health After a SNAP Policy Change, California, 2019–2020<sup>a</sup>

Factor	Baseline (n = 213)	Follow-up <sup>b</sup> (n = 157)	<i>P</i> Value <sup>c</sup>
Food insecurity, n (%)	•		
Food secure	36 (16.9)	51 (32.5)	<.001
Food insecure	177 (83.1)	106 (67.5)	
Healthy Food Index-2015, mean score <sup>d</sup>	44.3	43.6	.57
Alternative Healthy Food Index-2010, mean score <sup>d</sup>	45.4	44.8	.20
Stress, mean score <sup>e</sup>	19.8	18.5	.32
Mean no. of unhealthy days in past 30 days	17.1	16.5	.96
General health status excellent/very good, n (%)	57 (26.8)	43 (27.6)	<.001
Mean no. of trade-offs <sup>f</sup>	1.3	1.4	.82
Cost-related medication nonadherence, n (%) <sup>g</sup>	41 (24.1)	23 (17.7)	.001
Weekly food budget shortfall, mean, \$	73.33	47.72	<.001
Used community food resources in past 30 days, n (%)	171 (83.0)	117 (75.5)	<.001

Abbreviations: SNAP, Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program; SSI, Supplemental Security Income.

<sup>a</sup> Baseline survey administered to Supplemental Security Income recipients during May–August 2019; follow-up survey administered September 2019–January 2020. Policy change in effect beginning June 1, 2019.

<sup>b</sup> Among this group, 72.6% (n = 114) had received SNAP at time of follow-up survey.

<sup>c</sup> Fisher exact test used for bivariate variables and Mann–Whitney *U* test used for continuous variables.

<sup>d</sup> Scored from 0 to 100 with higher numbers indicating more nutritious dietary intake.

<sup>e</sup> Scored from 0 to 40: low, 0-13; moderate, 14-26; high, 27-40.

<sup>f</sup> Trade-offs defined as answering yes to 1 or 2 times per year, some months, or every month (compared with never).

<sup>g</sup> Denominator is number of participants who answered question.

# Table 3. Baseline and Follow-up Differences Between Participants Who Were Newly Food Secure and Participants Who Were Persistently Food Insecure in Study of SNAP Eligibility, Food Security, and Health After a SNAP Policy Change, California, 2019–2020<sup>a</sup>

Item	Persistently Insecure (n = 100)	Newly Secure (n = 28)	<i>P</i> Value <sup>b</sup>
Baseline factor			
Food insecurity, mean <sup>c</sup>	7.2	6.7	.003
Healthy Food Index-2015, mean score <sup>d</sup>	45.6	43.2	.25
Alternative Healthy Food Index-2010, mean score <sup>d</sup>	46.9	44.3	.25
Stress, mean score <sup>e</sup>	20.1	16.7	.08
Mean no. of unhealthy days	16.9	11.9	.06
General health status excellent/very good, n (%) <sup>b</sup>	74 (75.5)	16 (57.1)	.10
Mean no. of trade-offs <sup>f</sup>	1.9	1.5	.08
Cost-related medication nonadherence, n (%)	26 (34.7)	4 (18.2)	.19
Weekly food budget shortfall, mean, \$	80.00	54.70	.25
Used community food resources in past 30 days	78 (83.0)	24 (85.7)	>.99
Difference in difference from baseline to follow-up			
Food insecurity, mean <sup>c</sup>	-0.1	-5.3	<.001
Healthy Food Index-2015, mean score <sup>d</sup>	-0.3	-2.6	.49
Alternative Healthy Food Index-2010, mean score <sup>d</sup>	-2.1	-2.5	.54
Stress, mean score <sup>e</sup>	0.7	-9.0	.02
Mean no. of unhealthy days	2.1	-10.3	.52
General health status excellent/very good, n (%) <sup>b</sup>	8 (8.2)	1 (3.6)	.68
Mean no. of trade-offs <sup>f</sup>	-0.3	-1.3	.53
Cost-related medication nonadherence, n (%)	7 (11.5)	1 (4.5)	.68
Weekly food budget shortfall, mean, \$	-34.76	-29.67	.87
Used community food resources in past 30 days, n (%)	7 (7.4)	1 (3.6)	.68

Abbreviations: SNAP, Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program.

<sup>a</sup> Baseline survey administered to Supplemental Security Income recipients during May–August 2019; follow-up survey administered September 2019–January 2020. Policy change in effect beginning June 1, 2019.

<sup>b</sup> Fisher exact test used for bivariate variables and Mann–Whitney *U* test used for continuous variables.

<sup>c</sup> The US Department of Agriculture's US Household Food Security Survey Module: Six-Item Short Form was scored as a continuous variable (minimum value, 2.86; maximum, 8.48) by using the US Department of Agriculture's published weights derived from a Rasch model (15); the higher the score, the greater the food insecurity.

<sup>d</sup> Scored from 0 to 100 with higher numbers indicating more nutritious dietary intake.

<sup>e</sup> Scored from 0 to 40: low, 0–13; moderate, 14–26; high, 27–40.

<sup>f</sup> Trade-offs defined as answering yes to 1 or 2 times per year, some months, or every month (compared with never).

# Table 4. Change in Outcomes Associated With Receipt of SNAP Benefits at Follow-Up Among SSI Recipients in Study of SNAP Eligibility, Food Security, and Health After a SNAP Policy Change, California, 2019–2020<sup>a</sup>

Factor	Did Not Receive SNAP Benefits (n = 43)	Received SNAP Benefits <sup>b</sup> (n = 114)	<i>P</i> Value <sup>c</sup>
Food insecurity, n (%)			
Food secure	15 (34.9)	36 (31.6)	.71
Food insecure	28 (65.1)	78 (68.4)	
Healthy Food Index-2015, mean score <sup>d</sup>	45.8	45.0	.57
Alternative Healthy Food Index-2010, mean score <sup>d</sup>	44.3	46.7	.20
Stress, mean score <sup>e</sup>	20.5	19.1	.65
Mean no. of unhealthy days	17.4	16.0	.69
General health status excellent/very good, n (%) <sup>d</sup>	10 (23.3)	33 (29.2) <sup>f</sup>	.55
Mean no. of trade-offs <sup>g</sup>	1.7	1.5	.45
Cost-related medication nonadherence, n (%)	6 (17.6)	17 (17.7) <sup>f</sup>	>.99
Weekly food budget shortfall, mean, \$	73.68	41.85	.48
Used community food resources in past 30 days, n (%)	29 (70.7)	88 (77.2)	.41

Abbreviations: SNAP, Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program; SSI, Supplemental Security Income.

<sup>a</sup> Baseline survey administered to Supplemental Security Income recipients during May–August 2019; follow-up survey administered September 2019–January 2020. Policy change in effect beginning June 1, 2019.

<sup>b</sup> Of this group, 72.6% (n = 114) had received SNAP at time of follow-up survey.

<sup>c</sup> Fisher exact test for bivariate variables and Mann–Whitney *U* Test for continuous variables.

<sup>d</sup> Scored from 0 to 100 with higher numbers indicating more nutritious dietary intake.

<sup>e</sup> Scored from 0 to 40: low, 0-13; moderate, 14-26; high, 27-40.

<sup>f</sup> Not all participants answered all questions; percentages based on number who answered question.

<sup>g</sup> Trade-offs defined as answering yes to 1 or 2 times per year, some months, or every month (compared with never).

# PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

Volume 18, E50

MAY 2021

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

# Interest in Receiving Nutrition Information Through Social Media Among Food-Security Program Participants in Washington, DC

Adrian Bertrand, MS<sup>1</sup>; Melissa Hawkins, PhD<sup>1</sup>; Elizabeth W. Cotter, PhD<sup>1</sup>; Donna Banzon, MPH<sup>2</sup>; Anastasia Snelling, PhD<sup>1</sup>

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2021/20\_0596.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Bertrand A, Hawkins M, Cotter EW, Banzon D, Snelling A. Interest in Receiving Nutrition Information Through Social Media Among Food-Security Program Participants in Washington, DC. Prev Chronic Dis 2021; 18:200596. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd18.200596.

#### PEER REVIEWED

#### Summary

#### What is already known on this topic?

Previous studies evaluated the feasibility of incorporating social media communications into nutrition assistance programs, limiting the focus to age, sex, and barriers to use.

#### What is added by this report?

We demonstrated that characteristics such as self-efficacy and belief in the value of digital technology were closely associated with interest in receiving nutrition information through social media.

#### What are the implications for public health practice?

Our research provides insight into the characteristics of participants who may be responsive to receiving nutrition information through social media.

## Abstract

#### Introduction

Effective communication approaches are necessary to reach foodsecurity program participants. Accessing food-security programs has been especially challenging during the COVID-19 pandemic. Social media can play an important role in reducing some communication barriers. We examined interest in receiving nutrition information via social media among adults participating in foodsecurity programs in Washington, DC.

#### Methods

We developed and administered a 22-item survey to adults participating in food-security programs (N = 375). Participants were recruited at Martha's Table, in Washington, DC, from January through March 2020. We performed bivariate analyses and multinomial logistic regressions to examine predictors of interest in receiving nutrition information via social media.

#### Results

Sixty-nine percent of participants reported using social media, and 49% expressed interest in receiving nutrition information via social media. Higher levels of self-efficacy and belief in the value of digital technology were associated with greater likelihood of interest in receiving nutrition information via social media ( $\chi^2_6 =$  139.0; Nagelkerke  $R^2 = 0.35$ ; P < .001). We found no differences by sex or digital technology access in interest in receiving nutrition information via social media.

#### Conclusion

Social media is a widely used and a feasible method to reach foodsecurity program participants. Understanding program participants' interest in receiving health information via social media may help food-security programs plan effective communication strategies to improve food security, especially when in-person participation is limited, such as during the COVID-19 pandemic.

### Introduction

Food insecurity is a public health problem in the US that has been exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic. Food insecurity, defined as "the limited or uncertain availability of nutritionally adequate and safe foods or limited or uncertain ability to acquire acceptable foods in socially acceptable ways" (1), affects more than 11% of US households (2). The number of food-insecure people in the US is estimated to increase because of the pandemic to almost 20%, or 54.3 million Americans (3). In Washington, DC, food insecurity



The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2021/20\_0596.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1

This publication is in the public domain and is therefore without copyright. All text from this work may be reprinted freely. Use of these materials should be properly cited.

increased from 10.6% in 2018 to 16.0% of the population in 2020 (4).

Differences in access to affordable and nutritious food across socioeconomic status also contribute to health disparities. Food insecurity has health consequences across the lifespan and is associated with increased risk for the development of chronic conditions such as obesity, diabetes, hypertension, coronary artery disease, and asthma (5-8). Furthermore, the pandemic disproportionately affects populations already at risk for food insecurity. In Washington, DC, Wards 7 and 8 account for 22.5% of the city's population (9), have the highest poverty rates (26.5% and 34.2%, respectively [10]), and are disproportionately affected by food insecurity (11). As of February 2021, residents of Wards 7 and 8 accounted for 35% of the total number of deaths attributable to COVID-19 in Washington, DC (12). During the pandemic, food security assistance programs modified their approaches to serve the community, including finding new locations to provide contactless food distribution (13).

Social media or social networking sites are web pages that allow users to create profiles, share content, and participate in discussions (14) to facilitate communication and community engagement (15). The number of social networking sites users in the US is increasing: 70% of adults use social networking sites today, compared with 5% in 2005 (16). Communication between an organization and its members could be enhanced by using social networking sites. However, access to and use of social networking sites is not necessarily an indication of interest in receiving nutrition information (17).

Studies that explored perceptions of social networking sites among food-security program participants limited their focus to rates of use of social networking sites and barriers to use. A study that examined technology use among participants in the Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children (WIC) found that 92% of participants had cell phones, yet only 23% accessed social networking sites using their cell phones (18). The study also found differences in the use of social networking sites by age, with "Millennials" (people born from 1982 through 1996, according to the Pew Research Center [19]) more likely to report accessing social networking sites than any other age group (18). In another cross-sectional study, of WIC recipients in remote communities of Alaska, more than 85% of participants reported it was useful to receive nutrition information on cell phones or computers, with email and online videos most preferred (20). Barriers to use of social networking sites for accessing nutrition information included technological problems, lack of access to computers or internet services, high cost, and slow internet connections (20). Furthermore, a 2018 systematic review identified the acquisition of new skills and knowledge by participants as a

benefit of using social networking sites in health education programs (21). Exploring feasible, accessible, and innovative approaches to reach and engage participants is critical for foodsecurity programs.

Our project was informed by the widely used Health Belief Model, originally derived from behavioral theory and developed to understand perceived barriers and benefits to adopting diseaseprevention strategies (22). Proponents of the Health Belief Model argue that a person's self-efficacy and perceptions about disease prevention strategies and illness determine the adoption of healthy behaviors (22). In our study, the Health Belief Model offered a structure to discuss and organize findings into recommendations for practice and future research, particularly for increasing the effect of food security and nutrition programs through social networking sites. The objective of our study was to describe interest in receiving nutrition information via social networking sites among adults participating in food-security programs in Washington, DC.

### Methods

We conducted this cross-sectional study from January through March 2020. We obtained institutional review board approval from American University in January 2020.

#### Recruitment

Researchers partnered with Martha's Table, a nonprofit organization that provides nutrition education and assistance to individuals and families in the Washington, DC, area. In 2018, the organization distributed 1.65 million healthy meals. Martha's Table hosts daily markets from 11 AM to 4 PM; fresh produce and pantry items are free. We recruited study participants from among Martha's Table market participants by using convenience sampling. Daily from January 14 to February 14, we invited market attendees aged 18 or older to complete a brief survey. We provided a consent form to assenting attendees, after which they completed anonymously a 22-item community social media and nutrition survey. Participants indicated whether they preferred to complete the survey by themselves or to have an interviewer read the survey questions aloud. We gave canvas bags and coloring posters to potential participants as an incentive for participation.

#### **Data collection**

Four graduate students were trained to recruit participants and administer the survey. To ensure fidelity, we provided an interviewer script to all interviewers. Every person waiting to attend the market was invited to participate in the study. A pilot test (n = 73) was conducted at Martha's Table Market in January 2020 to as-

sess clarity and appropriateness of the survey instrument and strategies to engage market attendees. During the first week of January, 80 shoppers at Martha's Table's daily market were invited to participate in the pilot survey, and 73 (91.3%) completed the survey. Of those, 35 (47.9%) completed the survey on their own; 38 participants (52.1%) preferred to have the interviewer read the questions aloud. We made 2 revisions after the pilot test. We added examples of non–social networking websites to the question "Do you use the internet?" to avoid confusing the terms "internet" and "social media," and we added skip-logic instructions, allowing respondents to skip questions that did not apply to them, based on answers to previous questions.

We invited 424 market attendees to participate; 381 agreed and completed the survey (89.9% response rate). We excluded 6 surveys because the respondents were Martha's Table employees. The final sample size was 375 surveys, of which most (60.3%, n = 226) were completed with the interviewer reading the questions out loud.

#### Measures

The development of the survey instrument was guided by the Health Belief Model (23) and input from leadership at Martha's Table. The instrument consisted of 3 sections: social media, nutrition, and demographic characteristics (Table 1). We adapted the social media questions from a 2018 Pew Research Center survey (14). The social media section included 13 questions to assess participants' use of social networking sites, frequency of use, access, and perceptions of the value of social networking sites. The questions in the social media section were used to calculate 3 digital technology subscores: technology use, technology access, and technology value. To calculate the technology use and technology access subscores, we used simple addition; each question had options valued at 0 (no) or 1 (yes). The subscore ranged from 0 to 3 for technology use and from 0 to 2 for technology access. For technology value, each of the 2 questions had options valued at 1 (never), 2 (almost never), 3 (sometimes) to 4 (almost always); the subscore ranged from 1 to 4. All participants were asked if and how they accessed nutrition information. We asked users of social networking sites about topics accessed and their interest in nutrition topics via social networking sites. We assessed participants' interest in receiving nutrition information via social networking sites, the dependent variable, with 1 question and 3 response options: yes, no, or maybe). We stratified responses by social networking site users and nonusers.

The 6 questions in the nutrition section were adapted from a previously validated Teacher Health Survey (24). We used the questions to calculate 2 nutrition subscores, for nutrition education belief and nutrition self-efficacy. For nutrition education belief, response options for the 2 questions were 1 (strongly disagree), 2 (disagree), 3 (agree), and 4 (strongly agree); subscores ranged from 1 to 4. For nutrition self-efficacy, response options to the 4 questions were 1 (very little), 2 (little), 3 (some), and 4 (very much); subscores ranged from 1 to 4. The demographic section asked about age, gender, and parental status. We defined "parent" as a parent or guardian of a child younger than 18 years.

#### Data analysis

We performed all statistical analyses using SPSS version 26 (IBM Corp) and set significance at P < .05 for all tests. We used descriptive statistics to examine individual items. We examined differences between the mean subscores for the social media and nutrition sections (technology use, technology access, technology value, nutrition education belief, nutrition self-efficacy) by gender and parental status using independent samples t tests. To determine reliability, we calculated the Kuder-Richardson Formula 20 (KR-20) for dichotomous measures and Cronbach α for nondichotomous measures. Following the approach of Rammstedt and Beierlein (25), we computed reliability for each subscale score, given that each was a separate construct. The technology use score had a KR-20 reliability of  $\alpha = 0.66$ , and technology access had a KR-20 reliability score of  $\alpha = 0.86$ . Cronbach  $\alpha$  was calculated for technology value score ( $\alpha = 0.82$ ), nutrition education beliefs ( $\alpha =$ 0.92), and nutrition self-efficacy score ( $\alpha = 0.93$ ). We used  $\chi^2$  tests to analyze the bivariate association between age groups, gender, and parental status and interest in receiving nutrition information delivered via social networking sites. A 1-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) test was performed to examine differences in the mean scores calculated between participants who answered yes, no, and maybe to the question on interest in receiving nutrition information via social networking sites. If the ANOVA revealed significant differences, we used post hoc Tukey multiple comparison tests to determine mean differences between social media and nutrition subscores. We performed multinomial logistic regression to predict the relationship between interest in receiving nutrition information via social networking sites and several gender, age, and social media and nutrition scores.

### Results

Of 375 survey participants who completed the survey, 73.2% were women, and 49.3% were parents. Nearly all participants (98.6%) responded to all survey questions. The average participant age was 53.0 (SD, 16.6). Parents were younger (mean age, 47.2 [SD, 14.4]) than nonparents (mean age, 58.7 [SD, 16.7]) ( $t_{373} = 7.14$ , P < .001). The sample age distribution was consistent with the age distribution of Martha's Table's clients. Almost all participants (96.5%, n = 362) used cell phones, and most used social network-

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

# PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

ing sites (69.1%, n = 259) and the internet (80.5%, n = 302). Approximately 49.0% of the participants reported interest in receiving nutrition information via social networking sites, 30% of participants reported no interest, and 21% answered "maybe" to being interested. A total of 198 participants indicated use of social networking sites to find information about community events, 175 participants indicated use of social networking sites to find health information, and 168 indicated use of social networking sites to find nutrition information.

Women and parents had, on average, higher nutrition self-efficacy scores (3.3 and 3.4 respectively) than men and nonparents (3.1 both groups) (Table 2). Survey participants most often chose healthy recipes (n = 155) and farmers market calendars (n = 111) as topics they wanted to receive information on via social networking sites (Figure 1). The most common way to find nutrition information was through family and friends (n = 248) (Figure 2).



Figure 1. The distribution of survey responses (n = 549) among social media users (n = 259) in study of interest in receiving nutrition information through social media among food-security program participants in Washington, DC, January-March 2020. Survey participants were asked, "Please choose 2 nutrition topics that you would like to receive on your social media page." Results show the number of responses per topic.



**Figure 2**. The distribution of survey responses (n = 813) among participants (n = 375) in study of interest in receiving nutrition information through social media among food-security program participants in Washington, DC, January–March 2020. The survey question was, "Do you search for healthy eating information using any of the following?" Participants were asked to check all that applied. Ns are number of responses.

#### **Bivariate analyses**

We found differences in interest in receiving nutrition information by age group ( $\chi^2_{12} = 32.0$ , P = .001) and parental status ( $\chi^2_{22} = 12.5$ , P = .002). The greatest interest was expressed by parents (57.8%) and participants in the group aged 35 to 44 (61.8%). The least interest was expressed by participants aged 75 or older (22%).

In the 1-way ANOVA to examine differences in the mean scores among participants who answered yes, no, and maybe to the question on interest in receiving nutrition information via social networking sites, we found significant differences in the technology use score ( $F_{2, 372} = 79.18$ , P < .001), the technology access score ( $F_{2, 370} = 50.38$ , P < .001), and the technology value score ( $F_{2, 367} =$ 44.12, P < .001). For all 3 scores, a Tukey post hoc test revealed that, on average, participants who responded yes and maybe had higher scores than participants who responded no. We also found significant differences in nutrition self-efficacy scores among the 3 groups ( $F_{2, 372} = 14.51$ , P < .001). A Tukey post hoc test revealed that, on average, participants who responded yes had a higher nutrition self-efficacy score (mean, 3.4) compared with participants who responded no (mean, 3.1) or maybe (mean, 3.0).

#### **Multinomial logistic regression**

We computed 3 multinomial logistic regression models to predict interest in receiving nutrition information via social networking sites. The best fit model included only nutrition self-efficacy, technology use, and technology value scores ( $\chi^2_6 = 139.0, P < .001$ , Nagelkerke  $R^2 = 0.36$ ) (Table 3). The scores for nutrition self-

efficacy and technology use were significant predictors of interest among participants who answered yes, compared with those who answered no (P = .004 for nutrition self-efficacy and P < .001 for technology use) and those who answered maybe (P < .001 for nutrition self-efficacy and P = .008 for technology use). The score for technology value was significantly different in a comparison of participants who responded yes and those who responded maybe (P < .001). Participants who used digital technology (vs those who did not), highly valued digital technology (vs those who did not), and had high nutrition self-efficacy (vs those who had low nutrition self-efficacy) were more interested in receiving nutrition information through social networking sites.

### Discussion

Our study indicated that social networking sites can provide an efficient and effective way to reach food-security program participants. The importance of access to nutrition information directly relates to healthy food choices and chronic disease prevention (26). Programs to reduce food insecurity and its associated chronic diseases rely on effective communication to support food access. Organizations that provide nutrition assistance in underresourced communities could reach participants with farmers market calendar reminders, 1 of the top 2 nutrition topics on which participants indicated they wanted to receive information via social media.

Our study showed that a high level of nutrition self-efficacy was associated with interest in receiving nutrition information via social networking sites. Participants who were interested in receiving nutrition information via social networking sites, on average, had higher self-efficacy scores than participants who said they were not interested or may be interested. According to Bandura et al (23), self-efficacy is a person's belief that they possess the ability to succeed in a particular situation. Martha's Table offers small group programs aimed at helping participants to make healthier decisions. Increasing the availability of these programs could be an effective way to increase nutrition self-efficacy among foodsecurity program participants at Martha's Table. Previous research determined that age was an important factor in the use of social networking sites (18); however, we found that self-efficacy is a better predictor of interest than age in receiving nutrition information via social networking sites.

Although in our study younger people reported greater use of social networking sites than older participants, the results indicated that use of social networking sites was widely spread among study participants of all ages and is a desired method for receiving nutrition information. A high percentage of participants reported searching for health (43.2%) and nutrition (46.7%) information via social networking sites, and 49% of participants reported interest in receiving nutrition information via social networking sites. In 2014, younger people were the likely users of social networking sites, and the information shared and accessed through social networking sites reflected their interests (17). By 2020, people from a wider range of age groups had become social networking sites users (16); the type of information shared and accessed via social networking sites reflects this increased diversity. Our study found barriers to incorporating social networking sites in food programs, including slow internet speed and the high cost of internet connections, similar to those found by previous researchers (20). It is important that organizations using social networking sites as part of their community outreach efforts are aware of barriers to using these sites.

During the early days of the COVID-19 pandemic, Martha's Table had to modify its in-person food distribution activities. It increased information sharing via social networking sites, often announcing new locations or formats for food distribution shortly before they happened. COVID-19 caused unrest and forced food assistance organizations to quickly change food delivery strategies; social networking sites helped the organization reach some of their program participants in an equally fast way. Our research suggests that by focusing communication efforts on social networking sites, Martha's Table was more likely to reach participants with high self-efficacy levels than participants with lower levels of self-efficacy. As the number of users of social networking sites continues to increase in the US, it is essential to further our understanding of how to effectively reach food-security program participants through social networking sites.

Our study has several limitations. One methodologic limitation was that we used a convenience sample. Response bias and social desirability could have occurred given that Martha's Table programming provides access to nutritious food and our surveys were conducted at their location. The generalizability of our results is limited to food insecure participants in the Martha's Table's food assistance program who regularly attend food distribution days. Bias may have resulted from our study sampling approach; program participants who do not regularly attend food distribution days may have different characteristics from participants who regularly attend (ie, the latter engage in more health-seeking behaviors and are more aware of Martha's Table market offerings). The survey instrument was developed specifically for our study and has not been validated. Furthermore, although the Health Belief Model guided our study, we did not assess the cue-to-action construct, perceived severity construct, or susceptibility construct of the framework. Future studies should examine social factors and other external factors that influence the use of social networking sites and interest in nutrition information. The dependent variable,

interest in receiving healthy eating information through social media, could have been interpreted differently by different participants. However, during the pilot period, interviewers did not note any problems in the phrasing of the question or in participants' understanding of that question. We could not feasibly incorporate cognitive interviewing to identify interpretations of the survey questions among the intended population; such cognitive interviews could be useful in a follow-up study. Our study was cross-sectional; as such, it did not address cause and effect; it provides only a snapshot in time of the population surveyed. It cannot be concluded that interest in receiving information via social networking sites would predict access to and use of the information.

Our findings demonstrate differences between program participants interested in receiving nutrition information through social networking sites beyond age and sex. Characteristics such as self-efficacy and digital technology value are closely associated with interest in receiving nutrition information through social networking sites. In practice, researchers and organizations should consider evaluating several determinants of behavior, such as selfefficacy and digital technology value, when considering the use of social networking sites as a component of their program. Longitudinal studies are needed to determine causation and to examine whether tailoring social media messaging to participants' interests leads to increased access and interaction with information received via social media. In addition, future studies are needed to examine social networking sites as a method for program participants to receive nutrition information for health promotion using behavior change models, including the Health Belief Model. To our knowledge, our study is the first to explore possible predictors of interest in receiving nutrition information via social networking sites. Our findings can inform researchers and organizations interested in using social networking sites as communication or as a program delivery tool by providing insight into the characteristics of participants who would be responsive to using social networking sites. However, social media is constantly evolving and requires continuous monitoring for research and evaluation.

# Acknowledgments

The authors gratefully acknowledge the study participants, Martha's Table employees and leadership, and the interviewers who volunteered their time to support this project. The authors have no conflict of interest to declare. The project received partial funding from the Mellon Scholarship Award for Graduate Student Research. No copyrighted materials were used in this article.

# Author Information

Corresponding Author: Adrian Bertrand, MS, 5701 Achille Ln, Derwood, MD 20855. Telephone: 732-322-4792. Email: cv2605a@alumni.american.edu.

Author Affiliations: <sup>1</sup>American University, College of Arts and Science, Department of Health Studies, Washington, DC. <sup>2</sup>Martha's Table, Washington, DC.

## References

- 1. Anderson SA. Core indicators of nutritional state for difficultto-sample populations. J Nutr 1990;120(Suppl 11):1555–600.
- 2. Coleman-Jensen A., Rabbitt MP, Gregory CA, Singh A. Household food security in the United States in 2019. Economic Research Report-275. US Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service; 2020.
- 3. Gundersen C, Hake M, Dewey A, Engelhard E. Food insecurity during COVID-19. Appl Econ Perspect Policy 2020.
- 4. District of Columbia Office of Planning. Mayor Bowser releases report on the current state of food access and food security in the District 2020. https://planning.dc.gov/release/mayor-bowser-releases-report-current-state-food-access-and-food-security-district#:~:text=COVID%2D19%20has%20 exacerbated%20food,undocumented%20individuals%2C%20a nd%20unhoused%20individuals. Accessed January 31, 2021.
- 5. Laraia BA. Food insecurity and chronic disease. Adv Nutr 2013;4(2):203-12.
- 6. Nagata JM, Palar K, Gooding HC, Garber AK, Bibbins-Domingo K, Weiser SD. Food insecurity and chronic disease in US young adults: findings from the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent to Adult Health. J Gen Intern Med 2019; 34(12):2756–62.
- 7. Palakshappa D, Speiser JL, Rosenthal GE, Vitolins MZ. Food insecurity is associated with an increased prevalence of comorbid medical conditions in obese adults: NHANES 2007–2014. J Gen Intern Med 2019;34(8):1486–93.
- 8. Thomas MMC, Miller DP, Morrissey TW. Food insecurity and child health. Pediatrics 2019;144(4):e20190397.
- 9.DC Health Matters. 2021Demographics. https:// www.dchealthmatters.org/demographicdata?id=131494. Accessed February 10, 2021.
- 10. Annie E. Casey Foundation Kids Count Data Center. Poverty by ward in District of Columbia. 2020. https:// datacenter.kidscount.org/data/tables/9070-poverty-byw ar d # d e t a i l e d / 2 1 / 1 8 5 2 - 1 8 5 9 / f a l s e / 37,871,870,573,869,36,868,867,133/any/18053. Accessed February 10, 2021.

# PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

- 11. D.C. Hunger Solutions. Hunger in D.C. 2020. https:// www.dchunger.org/hunger-in-dc. Accessed February 10, 2021.
- 12. Government of the District of Columbia. COVID-19 surveillance. 2021. https://coronavirus.dc.gov/data. Accessed February 15, 2021.
- National Council of Nonprofits. Nonprofits and coronavirus, COVID-19. 2020. https://www.councilofnonprofits.org/ nonprofits-and-coronavirus-covid-19. Accessed February 11, 2021.
- Hether HJ, Murphy ST, Valente TW. It's better to give than to receive: the role of social support, trust, and participation on health-related social networking sites. J Health Commun 2014; 19(12):1424–39.
- 15. National Cancer Institute, Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Program. Standard populations — 19 age groups. 2020. https://seer.cancer.gov/stdpopulations/ stdpop.19ages.html. Accessed February 10, 2021.
- 16. Pew Research Center. Social media fact sheet. 2019. https:// www.pewinternet.org/fact-sheet/social-media. Accessed February 11, 2021.
- 17. Swindle TMP, Ward WLP, Whiteside-Mansell L, Bokony P, Pettit D. Technology use and interest among low-income parents of young children: differences by age group and ethnicity. J Nutr Educ Behav 2014;46(6):484–90.
- 18. Bensley RJP, Hovis A, Horton KDP, Loyo J, Bensley KMM, Phillips D, et al. Accessibility and preferred use of online web applications among WIC participants with internet access. J Nutr Educ Behav 2014;46(3Suppl):S87–92.
- 19. Pew Research Center. Defining generations: where Millennials end and Generation Z begins. 2019. https:// www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2019/01/17 /wheremillennials-end-and-generation-z-begins. Accessed December 15, 2020.
- Power JM, Braun KL, Bersamin A. Exploring the potential for technology-based nutrition education among WIC recipients in remote Alaska Native communities. J Nutr Educ Behav 2017; 49(7Suppl 2):S186, 191.e1.
- 21. Giustini D, Ali SM, Fraser M, Kamel Boulos MN. Effective uses of social media in public health and medicine: a systematic review of systematic reviews. Online J Public Health Inform 2018;10(2):e215–215.
- 22. Hochbaum GM. Public participation in medical screening programs: A socio-psychological study (No. 572). US Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, Public Health Service, Bureau of State Services, Division of Special Health Services, Tuberculosis Program; 1958.
- 23. Bandura A, Freeman WH, Lightsey R. Self-efficacy: the exercise of control. J Cogn Psychother 1999;13(2):158–66.

- 24. Snelling AM, Ernst J, Belson SI. Teachers as role models in solving childhood obesity. J Pediatr Biochem 2013;3(1):55–60. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/288585902\_ Teachers as role models in solving childhood obesity.
- 25. Rammstedt B, Beierlein C. Can't we make it any shorter?: The limits of personality assessment and ways to overcome them. J Individ Differ 2014;35(4):212–20.
- 26. Barreiro-Hurlé J, Gracia A, de-Magistris T. Does nutrition information on food products lead to healthier food choices? Food Policy 2010;35(3):221–9.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

# Tables

Table 1. Instrument Questions, Response Options, and Scores, in a Survey Developed to Assess Interest in Receiving Nutrition Information via Social Networking Sites Among Adults Participating in Food-Security Programs in Washington, DC, January–March 2020

Category	Question	Response Options							
Social media	Social media								
Technology use	<ol> <li>Do you have a cell phone?</li> <li>Do you use social media pages (ie, Facebook, Twitter, Instagram)?</li> <li>Do you use the internet (ie, visit different sites such as Google, or news sites)?</li> </ol>	Yes/no							
Technology access	<ul><li>4. Do you access your social media pages using your cell phone?</li><li>5. Do you access the internet using your cell phone?</li></ul>	Yes/no							
Technology value	<ul><li>6. Do you believe that social media pages give you access to valuable resources?</li><li>7. Do you believe that the internet gives you access to valuable resources?</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Never</li> <li>Almost never</li> <li>Sometimes</li> <li>Almost always</li> </ul>							
Dependent variable	8. Would you be interested in receiving healthy eating information via social media?	• Yes • No • Maybe							
Frequency of social media use	9. If you use social media. How often do you typically use it? (check ONE)	<ul> <li>Almost constantly</li> <li>Several times a day</li> <li>About once a day</li> <li>Several times a week</li> <li>Less than once a week</li> </ul>							
Open-ended question	10. If you don't use social media sites. Why? Please explain:	[Write in]							
Multiple selection	11. If you use social media. Do you use social media for any of the following?	<ul> <li>Find healthy eating information</li> <li>Find parenting advice</li> <li>Find health information</li> <li>Find information about community events</li> <li>Do not use social media</li> <li>Other (please specify)</li> </ul>							
Multiple selection	12. Do you access healthy eating information using any of the following? (check all that apply)	<ul> <li>Family and friends</li> <li>Internet websites</li> <li>Social media</li> <li>Community Groups</li> <li>I don't search for healthy eating information</li> <li>Other (please specify)</li> </ul>							
Multiple selection	13. The following is a list of nutrition topics. If you use social media. Please choose 2 that you would like to receive on your social media page.	<ul> <li>Healthy recipes</li> <li>Healthy grocery shopping tips</li> <li>Weight loss tips</li> <li>Tips on how to engage children in healthy eating</li> <li>Farmers markets calendar</li> <li>Other (please specify)</li> <li>Not interested</li> </ul>							
Nutrition									
Nutrition education belief	<ol> <li>It is important to me to learn about healthy eating.</li> <li>Healthy eating education is an important issue.</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>Strongly disagree</li> <li>Disagree</li> <li>Agree</li> <li>Strongly agree</li> </ul>							
Nutrition self-efficacy	<ul> <li>3. How much can you do to help your family and/or friends to engage in healthy eating?</li> <li>4. How much can you do to help your family and/or friends to value healthy eating?</li> <li>5. How much can you do to help your family and/or friends to believe they can engage in healthy eating?</li> <li>6. For parents or guardians: As a parent/guardian, I feel prepared to talk about healthy eating with my child/children.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Very Little</li> <li>Little</li> <li>Some</li> <li>Very much</li> </ul>							

(continued on next page)

#### (continued)

Table 1. Instrument Questions, Response Options, and Scores, in a Survey Developed to Assess Interest in Receiving Nutrition Information via Social Networking Sites Among Adults Participating in Food-Security Programs in Washington, DC, January–March 2020

Category	Question	Response Options
Demographic characterist	ics	
Gender	1. Gender (please check one)	<ul><li>Male</li><li>Female</li><li>Not listed</li></ul>
Parental status	2. Are you a parent or guardian of a child/children 0 to 18 years of age?	• Yes • No
Age	3. What year were you born? (please write)	[Write in]

Table 2. Mean Scores and Demographic Characteristics of Participants in a Survey Developed to Assess Interest in Receiving Nutrition Information via Social Networking Sites Among Adults Participating in Food-Security Programs in Washington, DC, January–March 2020

			Men	,	Women		Parent <sup>a</sup>	N	onparent		All
Category	Score Range	n	Mean (SD)	n	Mean (SD)						
Technology use	0-3	102	2.4 (0.9)	273	2.4 (0.8)	185	2.6 <sup>b</sup> (0.8)	190	2.3 <sup>b</sup> (0.9)	375	2.4 (0.8)
Technology access	0-2	102	1.2 (0.9)	271	1.3 (0.9)	184	1.5 <sup>b</sup> (0.8)	189	1.1 <sup>b</sup> (0.9)	373	1.3 (0.9)
Technology value	1-4	102	3.0 (0.9)	268	3.1 (0.8)	183	3.2 <sup>c</sup> (0.8)	197	2.9 <sup>c</sup> (0.9)	370	3.1 (0.9)
Nutrition education belief	1-4	102	3.4 (0.8)	273	3.6 (0.7)	185	3.6 (0.7)	190	3.6 (0.7)	375	3.6 (0.7)
Nutrition self-efficacy	1-4	102	3.1 <sup>c</sup> (0.8)	273	3.3 <sup>c</sup> (0.7)	185	3.4 <sup>c</sup> (0.7)	190	3.1 <sup>c</sup> (0.8)	375	3.2 (0.7)

<sup>a</sup> Defined as a parent or guardian of a child younger than 18 years.

<sup>b</sup>  $P \leq .001$  between men and women or parents and nonparents.

 $^{\rm c}$  P < .05 between men and women or parents and nonparents.

# Table 3. Multinomial Logistic Regression of Interest in Receiving Nutrition Information via Social Media Among Adults Participating in Food-Security Programs in Washington, DC, January–March 2020<sup>a</sup>

Independent Variable	B (SE) Wald χ <sup>2</sup> ( <i>dt</i> ) [ <i>P</i> Value]		Exp (B) (95% Cl)		
Comparing participants who answered yes to participants who answered no					
Technology value	-0.59 (0.22)	7.1 (1) [.008]	0.56 (0.36-0.86)		
Technology use	-1.21 (0.22)	30.0 (1) [<.001]	0.30 (0.19-0.46)		
Nutrition self-efficacy	-0.60 (0.21)	8.2 (1) [.004]	0.55 (0.36-0.83)		
Comparing participants who answered yes to participants who answered maybe					
Technology value	-0.60 (0.23)	7.0 (1) [.008]	0.55 (0.35–0.86)		
Nutrition self-efficacy	0.75 (0.20)	14.6 (1) [.001]	0.47 (0.32-0.69)		

<sup>a</sup> Survey participant were asked, "Would you be interested in receiving healthy eating information via social media?" Possible answers were yes, no, and maybe.

# PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

Volume 18, E61

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

# Effect of Inadequate Sleep on Frequent Mental Distress

#### Amanda Blackwelder, MPH<sup>1</sup>; Mikhail Hoskins, MPH<sup>1</sup>; Larissa Huber, PhD<sup>1</sup>

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2021/20 0573.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Blackwelder A, Hoskins M, Huber L. Effect of Inadequate Sleep on Frequent Mental Distress. Prev Chronic Dis 2021;18:200573. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd18.200573.

#### PEER REVIEWED

#### Summary

#### What is already known on this topic?

One-third of US adults report that they sleep less than the recommended amount, and approximately 20% have received a diagnosis of a mental illness. The link between inadequate sleep and mental distress has been viewed historically as a symptom-disease association with sleep inadequacies deriving from preexisting mental distress.

#### What is added by this report?

We examined the association between inadequate sleep and frequent mental distress in a diverse, population-based sample of adults aged 18 to 65.

#### What are the implications for public health practice?

By identifying the correlation between inadequate sleep and frequent mental distress we can better understand this relationship as a risk factor instead of a symptom-disease relationship.

### Abstract

#### Introduction

One-third of US adults report sleeping less than the recommended amount, and approximately 20% live with a mental illness. The objective of our study was to examine the association between inadequate sleep and frequent mental distress in a population-based sample of US adults.

#### Methods

We conducted a cross-sectional study by using 2018 Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) data that included 273,695 US adults aged 18 to 64. Inadequate sleep was defined as 6 hours or less in a given night, and frequent mental distress was defined as self-reporting 14 days of mental health status as "not good" within the last month. We used weighted logistic regression to calculate odds ratios (ORs) and 95% CIs.

#### Results

Thirteen percent of study participants experienced inadequate sleep, and 14.1% experienced frequent mental distress. Participants who averaged 6 hours or less of sleep per night were about 2.5 times more likely to have frequent mental distress when controlling for confounders (OR, 2.52; 95% CI, 2.32–2.73) than those who slept more than 6 hours.

#### Conclusion

Inadequate sleep was associated with significantly increased odds of frequent mental distress. Our findings suggest that further research is necessary to evaluate the temporal relationship between inadequate sleep and frequent mental distress.

### Introduction

Poor mental health is common in the US. Nearly 1 in 5 US adults live with mental illness (1). Furthermore, an estimated 50% of all Americans will be diagnosed with a mental illness or disorder at some point in their life (1,2). Mental health illness includes many different conditions and symptoms, such as anxiety, depression, stress, and other psychological illnesses. Moderate and severe mental disorders that need psychological treatment require regular visits to a health care provider, thus lowering workplace productivity (3). Furthermore, depression, schizophrenia, and bipolar disorder are risk factors for coronary heart disease, hypertension, diabetes, dyslipidemia, metabolic syndrome, obesity, stroke, and substance abuse disorders (3,4). Depression and anxiety alone cost over \$1 trillion annually for medications, outpatient and primary care visits, and inpatient care (3,4).

The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and the American Academy of Sleep Medicine emphasize the importance of an adequate night's sleep, which is defined as 7 or more hours per night with no upper limit (5,6). Anything less than this amount may lead to the development of various chronic diseases. More than one-third of the US population does not get adequate sleep



The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2021/20\_0573.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1

This publication is in the public domain and is therefore without copyright. All text from this work may be reprinted freely. Use of these materials should be properly cited.

(5). The people that most often get inadequate sleep are Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander people, non-Hispanic Black people, and multiracial people (6). Those who most often get adequate sleep are married people and people with a college degree or more.

Studies have demonstrated an association between inadequate sleep and frequent mental distress (7,8), and sleep deprivation causes substantial negative health outcomes (4). The link between inadequate sleep and frequent mental distress has been viewed historically as a symptom-disease association with sleep inadequacies deriving from preexisting mental distress (9). However, at least 1 study researched the opposite hypothesis, evaluating frequent mental distress leading to a lack of sleep (10). These studies found that in certain populations, risk for inadequate sleep is increased if a person is experiencing depression or anxiety. Most current research on the potential association between inadequate sleep and mental distress focuses on a specifically defined group, such as college students, nurses, or people with diagnosed sleep disorders (9,11,12). Furthermore, current research focuses primarily on diagnosed mental health disorders (4,8). The purpose of our study was to examine the association between inadequate sleep and frequent mental distress in a diverse, population-based sample of adults aged 18 to 64.

### Methods

We used 2018 Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) data to analyze the association between sleep and selfreported mental distress. BRFSS is a cross-sectional survey that uses a standardized questionnaire to collect prevalence data regarding risk behaviors and preventive behavioral health practices among adult US residents (13). Participants self-report information during telephone interviews conducted by trained personnel. Interviewers make calls for interviews 7 days a week during the day and evening (14). BRFSS raw data, which are collected during the survey, are submitted to CDC each year for processing and are made available to researchers the following calendar year through annual reports available on the CDC website (https:// www.cdc.gov/brfss/index.html). BRFSS is conducted in all 50 states, the District of Columbia, and 3 US territories. Noninstitutionalized adults aged 18 or older are eligible to complete the BRFSS survey (15). Over 400,000 adults are interviewed each year. The land line response rate for BRFSS is 53.3%, and the cellular telephone response rate is 43.3% (16). A total of 437,436 people completed the BRFSS survey in 2018. After excluding those participants who were not aged 18 to 64 (n = 160, 115) and those who did not have information on frequent mental distress (n = 3,626), 273,695 survey participants remained for analysis.

The survey question used to identify the exposure variable of interest reads, "On average, how many hours of sleep do you get in a 24-hour period?" Participants were asked to provide a value from 1 to 24 hours. Sleep values were recorded as whole numbers, and values greater than 30 minutes were rounded up per BRFSS coding. Inadequate sleep was defined as 6 hours or less of sleep in a given 24-hour period, which is 1 hour less than the minimum recommended number of hours of sleep for adults (5,17,18). We chose this definition of inadequate sleep because the rounding done by BRFSS personnel could have created situations where people who actually had inadequate sleep were classified as having the minimum recommended hours. Furthermore, previous studies also defined inadequate sleep as 6 hours or less per night (5,17). Thus, using this same definition allows for better comparison across studies.

The survey question selected to identify the outcome of interest, frequent mental distress, was "Now thinking about your mental health, which includes stress, depression, and problems with emotions, for how many days during the past 30 days was your mental health not good?" (13). The responses were recorded as the number of days (ie, 1-30 days). Frequent mental distress was considered present if 14 or more days were reported as mental health "not good" in the previous month. This definition was based on recommendations from previous studies on frequent mental distress (19) and guidance from the American Psychiatric Association on the necessary duration of symptoms to diagnose depression (20).

Potential confounders were selected on the basis of prior research and included age, race/ethnicity, sex, current smoking status, binge drinking, marital status, education, income, and loss of insurance (21-28). Study participants were asked the following question regarding alcohol consumption: "One drink is equivalent to a 12-ounce beer, a 5-ounce glass of wine, or a drink with one shot of liquor. During the past 30 days, on the days when you drank, about how many drinks did you drink on the average?" (13). We used this information to create a dichotomous binge drinking variable; in the past 30 days on the days when they drank, men who had 5 or more drinks and women who had 4 or more drinks were classified as binge drinkers (29). To assess current smoking, participants were asked, "Do you now smoke cigarettes every day, some days, or not at all?" Ultimately, this variable was dichotomized into people who smoked every day or some days and people who did not smoke at all.

A primary univariate analysis was performed to obtain frequencies and weighted percentages of the exposure, outcome, and potential confounders at the P < .20 level. We used logistic regression to assess the association between self-reported sleep and frequent mental distress and to identify other risk factors for frequent mental distress. Multivariate logistic regression was used to ob-

tain the odds ratio for the association between inadequate sleep and frequent mental distress while adjusting for potential confounders. A backward elimination approach was used to retain confounders at the P < .05 level. Ultimately, age, marital status, income, smoking status, and education level were identified as confounders. Because of the complex sampling design used by BRFSS, weighted analyses were performed using Stata version 15.1 (StataCorp LLC).

## Results

Most study participants were non-Hispanic White (59.1%), female (50.2%), married (49.3%), and had at least a high school diploma (87.4%) (Table 1). Most participants reported that they had adequate nightly sleep (87.0%), and 14.1% experienced frequent mental distress ( $\geq$ 14 d/mo). Mean hours of sleep per 24-hour period were similar across age groups (18–34: 6.9 h; 35–49: 6.8 h; 50–64: 6.9 h).

People with inadequate sleep had nearly a threefold increased odds of frequent mental distress compared with those who had adequate sleep, and this finding was significant (OR, 2.67; 95% CI, 2.51–2.84) (Table 2). Participants who were divorced/separated/ widowed had twice the odds of frequent mental distress compared with study participants who were married (OR, 2.14; 95% CI, 2.01–2.29). There was a dose–response association between education level and frequent mental distress. As education levels decreased, the odds of frequent mental distress increased (high school diploma, GED, associate degree, or no university degree: OR, 2.06; 95% CI, 1.95–2.18; no high school diploma: OR, 3.35; 95% CI, 3.06–3.67).

After adjustment for age, marital status, income, smoking status, and education level, the inadequate sleep–frequent mental distress association was attenuated but remained significant. Participants with inadequate sleep had nearly 2.5 times increased odds of frequent mental distress compared with those with adequate sleep (OR, 2.52; 95% CI, 2.32–2.73; P < .001).

# Discussion

In our population-based study of US adults, inadequate sleep was associated with significantly increased odds of mental distress after controlling for confounding variables. Our findings align with previous research with the caveat that prior research has often looked at sleep as the outcome (8). Because our study used a large sample of adults and excluded only those who did not respond to qualifying questions, our results further confirm a potential association between inadequate sleep and mental health in a broader population. Our study findings suggest an association between inadequate sleep and frequent mental distress. Because BRFSS is a crosssectional study design, determining the true temporal sequence is not possible. Previous research has not closely examined the association between inadequate sleep as a risk factor for frequent mental distress. However, inadequate sleep has been linked to poor biological measures, including hypertension, anemia, and dyslipidemia (7). Low amounts of sleep and the attributed chronic conditions could possibly have a negative impact on depressive symptoms (7).

Limitations to this study include the potential for nondifferential misclassification of both the exposure and outcome variables; failure to recall information or misunderstanding questions asked possibly resulted in inaccurate responses. Also, self-reporting of mental distress is subjective. People may differ in their self-reporting and interpretation of what is "not good" for mental health. Furthermore, the use of a telephone interview could possibly influence self-reporting of mental distress. However, research demonstrates that the reporting of mental health information does not differ between face-to-face interviews and telephone interviews (31,32). In some instances, telephone interviews reduced embarrassment to participants when discussing mental health. We used a cut point of 6 hours to determine inadequate sleep rather than 7 hours, which is the minimum recommended hours of sleep for adults. We reran our model using 7 hours as the cut point for inadequate sleep, and our findings were of similar magnitude and remained significant. Given our aforementioned concerns that the rounding done by BRFSS personnel as it relates to the sleep duration variable could have incorrectly classified participants, we ultimately decided to retain our 6-hour cut point. In addition, because this definition of inadequate sleep has been used by others, it allows for better comparison across studies (5,17). Regardless, any nondifferential misclassification in our study would likely bias the results toward the null. Because we used a secondary data source, we were limited to the questions asked in the BRFSS survey. Thus, confounding by variables not measured in the BRFSS was possible. Selection bias is possible given that the response rate for BRFSS was 53.3% for landline responses and 43.3% for cellular telephone responses (15). The extent to which participation in BRFSS would be related to inadequate sleep and frequent mental distress is unknown; however, BRFSS is widely considered to be a valid and reliable measure of mental health and health behaviors (33).

Our study had numerous strengths. Information bias is unlikely because of the use of trained interviewers and standardization of interview methods. The exposure question may capture sleep data with more precision because it asks how many hours the participant slept in a 24-hour period. Thus, naps are included in the reporting. In addition, the wording enables the sleeping habits of

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

# PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

people who do not work traditional day-time jobs to be more accurately reported. Establishing hours slept in a 24-hour period is consistent with prior research, giving a continuity of comparison across studies (4,7,8). Finally, our study included all participants aged 18 to 64 and did not focus only on those with preexisting conditions or on populations at risk for inadequate sleep (4,8). Thus, given the large sample size and the complex sampling design used by BRFSS, our findings are likely generalizable to adults living in the US.

Because one-third of the US population is not attaining adequate sleep, our findings warrant further research to expand on the true association between inadequate sleep and frequent mental distress (5). Thorough clinical assessment of sleep by age and length and quality of sleep could strengthen the measurement of the exposure. More thorough follow-up questions related to mental distress, including clinical diagnoses, may allow for a clearer evaluation of the temporal sequence between inadequate sleep and mental distress.

# Acknowledgments

No copyrighted material was used in this article.

## Author Information

Corresponding Author: Amanda Blackwelder, MPH, UNC Charlotte, Department of Public Health Sciences, Charlotte, NC 28223. Telephone: 704-687-8719. Email: ablack74@uncc.edu.

Author Affiliations: <sup>1</sup>University of North Carolina at Charlotte, Charlotte, North Carolina.

# References

- 1. National Institute of Mental Health. Mental illness. https:// nimh.nih.gov/health/statistics/mental-illness.shtml. 2019. Accessed September 13, 2019.
- 2. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Mental health. https://www.cdc.gov/mentalhealth/data\_publications/ index.htm. 2018. Accessed September 13, 2019.
- 3. Chisholm D, Sweeny K, Sheehan P, Rasmussen B, Smit F, Cuijpers P, et al. Scaling-up treatment of depression and anxiety: a global return on investment analysis. Lancet Psychiatry 2016;3(5):415–24.

- 4. De Hert M, Dekker JM, Wood D, Kahl KG, Holt RIG, Möller H-J. Cardiovascular disease and diabetes in people with severe mental illness position statement from the European Psychiatric Association (EPA), supported by the European Association for the Study of Diabetes (EASD) and the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Cambridge (GB): Cambridge University Press; 2009.
- 5. American Academy of Sleep Medicine. Seven or more hours of sleep per night: a health necessity for adults. 2015. https:// aasm.org/seven-or-more-hours-of-sleep-per-night-a-healthnecessity-for-adults/. Accessed September 19, 2019.
- 6. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 1 in 3 Adults don't get enough sleep. 2016. https://www.cdc.gov/media/ releases/2016/p0215-enough-sleep.html. Accessed September 19, 2019
- 7. Peltzer K, Pengpid S. Self-reported sleep duration and its correlates with sociodemographics, health behaviours, poor mental health, and chronic conditions in rural persons 40 years and older in South Africa. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2018;15(7):E1357.
- 8. Wang S, Wu Y, Ungvari GS, Ng CH, Forester BP, Gatchel JR, et al. Sleep duration and its association with demographics, lifestyle factors, poor mental health and chronic diseases in older Chinese adults. Psychiatry Res 2017;257:212–8.
- 9. Hanson JA, Huecker MR. Sleep deprivation. 2019. https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK547676/. Accessed September 13, 2019.
- Jackson CL; National Library of Medicine. Determinants of racial/ethnic disparities in disordered sleep and obesity. Sleep Health 2017;3(5):401–15.
- 11. Sleep and mental health. Once viewed only as symptoms, sleep problems may actually contribute to psychiatric disorders. Harvard Mental Health Letter 2009;26(1);1-3. http:// search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true &db=rzh&AN=105362927&site=ehost-live&scope=site. Accessed September 13, 2019.
- Grimes AR. Anxiety and sleep disorder comorbidity: affecting the college students' performances. Fayetteville (AR): University of Arkansas, ProQuest Dissertations Publishing; 2012.
- 13. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System. 2014. https://www.cdc.gov/brfss/ about/index.htm. Accessed October 27, 2019.
- 14. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. The Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System: overview: BRFSS 2018. https://www.cdc.gov/brfss/annual\_data/2018/pdf/overview-2018-508.pdf. Accessed October 27, 2019.

# PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

- 15. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System. 2019. https://www.cdc.gov/ chronicdisease/resources/publications/factsheets/ brfss.htm?CDC\_AA\_refVal=https%3A%2F%2F www.cdc.gov%2Fchronicdisease%2Fresources%2Fpublication s%2Faag%2Fbrfss.htm. Accessed October 27, 2019.
- 16. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. BRFSS combined landline and cell phone weighted response rates by state, 2018. https://www.cdc.gov/brfss/annual\_data/2018/pdf/2018response-rates-table-508.pdf. Accessed September 19, 2019.
- 17. Zochil M, Thorsteinsson E. Exploring poor sleep, mental health, and help-seeking intention in university students. Aust J Psychol 2018;70(1):41–7.
- 18. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.LPPC 2018 Codebook Report: Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System. https://www.cdc.gov/brfss/annual\_data/2018/pdf/ codebook18\_llcp-v2-508.pdf. Accessed November 24, 2019.
- Bruzelius E, Baum A. The mental health of Hispanic/Latino Americans following national immigration policy changes: United States, 2014–2018. Am J Public Health 2019; 109(12):1786–8.
- 20. American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (DSM-5), Fifth edition. 2013. National Institute of Mental Health. (Data from 2013 National Survey on Drug Use and Health.) https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3777342/. Accessed September 22, 2019.
- Stephan Y, Sutin AR, Bayard S, Terracciano A. Subjective age and sleep in middle-aged and older adults. Psychol Health 2017;32(9):1140-51.
- 22. O'Connor GT, Lind BK, Lee ET, Nieto FJ, Redline S, Samet JM, et al.; Sleep Heart Health Study Investigators. Variation in symptoms of sleep-disordered breathing with race and ethnicity: the Sleep Heart Health Study. Sleep 2003; 26(1):74–9. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12627736
- 23. Maume DJ, Sebastian RA, Bardo AR. Gender, work-family responsibilities, and sleep. Gend Soc 2010;24(6):746–68.
- 24. Hayley AC, Stough C, Downey LA. DSM-5 tobacco use disorder and sleep disturbance: findings from the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions-III (NESARC-III). Subst Use Misuse 2017;52(14):1859–70.
- 25. Meadows R, Arber S. Marital status, relationship distress, and self-rated health: what role for "sleep problems"? J Health Soc Behav 2015;56(3):341–55.
- 26. Patel NP, Grandner MA, Xie D, Branas CC, Gooneratne N. "Sleep disparity" in the population: poor sleep quality is strongly associated with poverty and ethnicity. BMC Public Health 2010;10(1):475.

- 27. Hirshkowitz M, Whiton K, Albert SM, Alessi C, Bruni O, DonCarlos L, et al. National Sleep Foundation's sleep time duration recommendations: methodology and results summary. Sleep Health 2015;1(1):40–3.
- Stephan Y, Sutin AR, Bayard S, Terracciano A. Subjective age and sleep in middle-aged and older adults. Psychol Health 2017;32(9):1140–51.
- 29. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Alcohol and public health: binge drinking. 2019. https://www.cdc.gov/alcohol/fact-sheets/binge-drinking.htm. Accessed November 16, 2020.
- 30. Rohde P, Lewinsohn PM, Seeley JR. Comparability of telephone and face-to-face interviews in assessing axis I and II disorders. Am J Psychiatry 1997;154(11):1593–8.
- 31. Fenig S, Levav I, Kohn R, Yelin N. Telephone vs face-to-face interviewing in a community psychiatric survey. Am J Public Health 1993;83(6):896–8.
- 32. Pierannunzi C, Hu SS, Balluz L. A systematic review of publications assessing reliability and validity of the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS), 2004–2011. BMC Med Res Methodol 2013;13(1):49.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

# Tables

Table 1. Demographic Characteristics of Participants (N = 273,695) Experiencing Frequent Mental Distress, Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, 2018

Variable	Unweighted n <sup>a</sup>	Weighted %
Average <sup>b</sup> sleep		
Adequate	239,750	87.0
Inadequate	33,945	13.0
Days mental health not good		
Normal, <14 d/mo	235,570	85.9
High, ≥14 d/mo	38,125	14.1
Sex		
Female	143,771	50.2
Male	129,480	49.8
Age, y		
18-34	71,614	38.3
35-49	79,602	29.5
50-64	122,479	32.2
Race/ethnicity		
Non-Hispanic White	193,757	59.1
Non-Hispanic Black	25,117	12.5
Asian	8,138	5.8
American Indian/Alaska Native	5,843	1.1
Hispanic	30,725	19.3
Other races	10,115	2.2
Education		
College degree or above	104,228	28.6
High school diploma, GED, or some college	149,023	58.8
No high school diploma	19,911	12.6
Marital status		
Married	142,638	49.3
Divorced/separated	56,972	18.7
Widowed/never married	72,748	32.1
Annual household income, \$		
<35,000	65,453	30.8
35,000-75,000	66,469	28.7
>75,000	91,722	40.5
Binge drank <sup>c</sup> in past 30 days		

<sup>a</sup> Some totals may not equal the total number of participants because of missing data.

<sup>b</sup> Inadequate average sleep was defined as 6 hours or less in a 24-hour period.

<sup>c</sup> In the past 30 days on the days when they drank, men who had 5 or more drinks and women who had 4 or more drinks.

(continued on next page)

#### (continued)

Table 1. Demographic Characteristics of Participants (N = 273,695) Experiencing Frequent Mental Distress, Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, 2018

Variable	Unweighted n <sup>a</sup>	Weighted %
No	96,053	64.5
Yes	47,478	35.5
Smoke		
No	58,416	53.6
Yes	47,318	46.4
Lost health coverage within past year		
No	28,314	91.1
Yes	2,270	8.9

<sup>a</sup> Some totals may not equal the total number of participants because of missing data.

<sup>b</sup> Inadequate average sleep was defined as 6 hours or less in a 24-hour period.

<sup>c</sup> In the past 30 days on the days when they drank, men who had 5 or more drinks and women who had 4 or more drinks.

# Table 2. Association Between Selected Variables and Frequent Mental Distress Among Participants (N = 273,695), Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, 2018

Variable	Weighted Odds Ratio (95% CI)
Average <sup>a</sup> sleep	
Adequate	1 [Reference]
Inadequate	2.67 (2.51–2.84) <sup>b</sup>
Sex	
Female	1 [Reference]
Male	0.91 (0.87-0.96) <sup>b</sup>
Age, y	
18-34	1 [Reference]
35-49	1.00 (0.95-1.06)
50-64	1.27 (1.20-1.34) <sup>b</sup>
Race/ethnicity	
Non-Hispanic White	1 [Reference]
Non-Hispanic Black	1.12 (1.04–1.21) <sup>b</sup>
Asian	0.52 (0.44-0.62) <sup>b</sup>
American Indian/Alaska Native	1.61 (1.35-1.90) <sup>b</sup>
Hispanic	1.05 (0.96-1.13)
Other races	1.35 (1.21-1.51) <sup>b</sup>
Education	
College degree or above	1 [Reference]
High school diploma, GED, or some college	2.06 (1.95-2.18) <sup>b</sup>
No high school diploma	3.35 (3.06–3.67) <sup>b</sup>
Marital status	
Married	1 [Reference]
Divorced/separated/	2.14 (2.01-2.29) <sup>b</sup>
Widowed/never married	1.29 (1.22-1.36) <sup>b</sup>
Annual household income, \$	
<35,000	2.71 (2.54-2.91) <sup>b</sup>
35,000-75,000	1.56 (1.45-1.68) <sup>b</sup>
>75,000	1 [Reference]
Binge drank <sup>c</sup> in past 30 days	
No	1 [Reference]
Yes	1.21 (1.13-1.30) <sup>b</sup>
Smoke	
No	1 [Reference]

<sup>a</sup> Inadequate average sleep was defined as 6 hours or less in a 24-hour period.

<sup>b</sup> Significant at *P* < .20.

<sup>c</sup> In the past 30 days on the days when they drank, men who had 5 or more drinks and women who had 4 or more drinks.

(continued on next page)

#### (continued)

Table 2. Association Between Selected Variables and Frequent Mental Distress Among Participants (N = 273,695), Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, 2018

Weighted Odds Ratio (95% CI)						
1.80 (1.68–1.93) <sup>b</sup>						
Lost health coverage within past year						
1 [Reference]						
1.40 (1.17-1.69) <sup>b</sup>						

<sup>a</sup> Inadequate average sleep was defined as 6 hours or less in a 24-hour period.

<sup>b</sup> Significant at P < .20.

<sup>c</sup> In the past 30 days on the days when they drank, men who had 5 or more drinks and women who had 4 or more drinks.

# PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

Volume 18, E

JULY <u>2021</u>

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

# Association of the Neighborhood Built Environment With Incident and Prevalent Depression in the Rural South

Christopher E. Anderson, PhD, MSPH<sup>1</sup>; Stephanie T. Broyles, PhD<sup>2</sup>; Maeve E. Wallace, PhD, MPH<sup>3</sup>; Lydia A. Bazzano, MD, PhD<sup>1</sup>; Jeanette Gustat, PhD, MPH<sup>1</sup>

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2021/20\_0605.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Anderson CE, Broyles ST, Wallace ME, Bazzano LA, Gustat J. Association of the Neighborhood Built Environment With Incident and Prevalent Depression in the Rural South. Prev Chronic Dis 2021;18:200605. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd18.200605.

#### PEER REVIEWED

#### Summary

#### What is already known on this topic?

Features of the built environment are associated with physical activity in urban and rural communities and with depression in urban communities.

#### What is added by this report?

Features of the built environment, including aesthetics, destinations, and security, were associated with depression in a rural population in Louisiana, and these associations were not mediated by physical activity.

#### What are the implications for public health practice?

Improvements in the built environment that promote physical activity among rural populations should take neighborhood context into consideration to minimize negative side effects on mental health.

# Abstract

#### Introduction

A neighborhood's built environment is associated with physical activity among its residents, and physical activity is associated with depression. Our study aimed to determine whether the built environment was associated with depression among residents of the rural South and whether observed associations were mediated by physical activity.

#### Methods

We selected 2,000 participants from the Bogalusa Heart Study who had a valid residential address, self-reported physical activity (minutes/week), and a complete Center for Epidemiologic Study–Depression (CES-D) scale assessment from 1 or more study visits between 1998 and 2013. We assessed the built environment with the Rural Active Living Assessment street segment audit tool and developed built environment scores. The association between built environment scores and depression (CES-D  $\geq$ 16) in geographic buffers of various radii were evaluated by using modified Poisson regression, and mediation by physical activity was evaluated with mixed-effects models.

#### Results

Depression was observed in 37% of study participants at the first study visit. One-point higher physical security and aesthetic scores for the street segment of residence were associated with 1.07 times higher (95% CI, 1.02–1.11) and 0.96 times lower (95% CI, 0.92–1.00) baseline depression prevalence. One-point higher destination scores (ie, more commercial and civic facilities) in radius buffers of 0.25 miles or more were associated with 1.06 times (95% CI, 1.00–1.13) the risk of depression during follow-up. Neighborhood poverty (defined as percentage of residents with incomes below the federal poverty level and dichotomized at 28.3%) modified cross-sectional and longitudinal associations. Associations were not mediated by physical activity.

#### Conclusion

The built environment was associated with prevalence and risk of depression, and associations were stronger in high-poverty neighborhoods. Built environment improvements to promote physical activity should take neighborhood context into consideration to minimize negative side effects on mental health in high-poverty communities.



The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2021/20\_0605.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1

This publication is in the public domain and is therefore without copyright. All text from this work may be reprinted freely. Use of these materials should be properly cited.

# Introduction

Depression is among the leading causes of years lived with disability worldwide (1). Nearly 10% of US adults experience depression, a substantial public health problem (2). Residents of rural areas are less likely to engage in sufficient physical activity than urban residents (3), contributing to elevated prevalence of chronic disease and health disparities among rural populations (4). However, rural populations experience fewer mental health disorders than intermediate-size urban areas (5).

Depression is associated with disorder and violence in the neighborhood environment and less consistently with structural features of the built environment (6). Most prior analyses of the relationship between depression and the built environment were of urban areas and were cross-sectional, with little consideration of spatial scale (6,7). Built environments may influence depressive symptoms as a neighborhood stressor (8) or along pathways mediated by behaviors (eg, physical activity) that result from the interactions of individuals with their environment (9). Built environment features that impede physical activity are more prevalent in rural locales than in urban ones. For example, rural residents may have greater distances to travel, roads with higher speed limits, and fewer pedestrian or cyclist safety features (10). Research has not determined whether depression among rural populations is associated with the built environment and whether it is mediated by physical activity.

We evaluated cross-sectional and longitudinal associations between structural features of the rural built environment and depressive symptoms among participants in the Bogalusa Heart Study. Previous research in this population identified significant associations between scores for features of the neighborhood built environment and physical activity (11). We hypothesized that higher scores (environments more conducive to physical activity) would be associated with lower baseline prevalence of depression and lower depression incidence and that these associations would be mediated by physical activity.

# Methods

The Bogalusa Heart Study is a longitudinal study of cardiovascular risk factors conducted in rural Washington Parish, Louisiana, that began in 1973 (12). Our cross-sectional analysis consisted of participants with a valid address of residence who had complete data on depressive symptoms and physical activity assessed in at least 1 study visit since 1998 (n = 2,000). Participants in the longitudinal analysis had more than 1 observation (range, 2–5 observations; mean, 2.55). Depressive symptoms were reported by study participants by using the Centers for Epidemiologic Studies–Depression (CES-D) scale, which has high validity in noninstitutionalized adult populations (13). Continuous CES-D scores were used in mixed models for the association of neighborhood environment with changes in severity of depressive symptoms, and CES-D was dichotomized ( $\geq 16$ , depressed; <16, not depressed) (14) for Poisson regression for cross-sectional (at the first CES-D assessment for each participant) and longitudinal associations of neighborhood environment with depression.

We audited built environment features of street segments of residence (n = 1,340) by using Google Street View for each available image (n = 2,648) for all study participants (n = 2,000) by using the Rural Active Living Assessment (RALA) street segment audit tool (15). Built environment audits were merged to participant study data by date, with the most temporally proximate street segment image used for built environment exposure at each study visit. Reliability of built environment audits using Google Street View has been reported as high (16). Neighborhood scales were developed for all features assessed, and for features in domains of path, pedestrian safety, aesthetics, commercial and civic destinations, physical security, and land use. Reliability of the neighborhood scales, assessed with intraclass correlation coefficients for duplicate audits of 196 street segments, has previously been reported to be acceptable for all domains except physical security features (11).

#### Covariates

Participants were characterized with anthropometric, demographic, socioeconomic, behavioral, and health covariates. Age, body mass index (BMI) (weight in kg/height in m<sup>2</sup>), and total physical activity were available as continuous variables. Self-reported data were dichotomized for education (≥high school degree, <than a high school degree), annual income (2\$15,000, <\$15,000), marital status (married, unmarried), health insurance (yes, no), home ownership (yes, no), employment status (employed, unemployed), and alcohol consumption in the past 12 months (yes, no). Race was self-reported as White or Black. Smoking was self-reported and categorized (current, former, never). Neighborhood contextual variables were obtained for the census tract of residence from the American Community Survey 5-year estimates and the 2010 census (17). Variables for neighborhood poverty (the percentage of residents in a census tract living in a household with an income below the federal poverty level [FPL]) and population density (residents per square mile) were calculated and used as continuous variables and dichotomized at the sample mean for the evaluation of effect modification. High and low categories were defined for neighborhood population density (high density,  $\geq$ 586 people/sq mi; low density, <586 people/sq mi) and percentage of residents living in neighborhood poverty (high poverty, ≥28.3%; low poverty, <28.3%).

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

#### Analysis

We developed scales for built environment overall in 6 domains of street segment features identified a priori and refined following principal components analysis. This process has been reported in detail elsewhere (11). Briefly, scales were developed by creating 1 variable for features that were assessed across multiple RALA variables (eg, sidewalks, paths), with all variables coded so higher values indicated features that promote physical activity. We calculated variable means, and 1 point was added to a preliminary segment score for each variable for which the segment value exceeded the sample mean. The mean preliminary score was then calculated for segments with values above and below the sample mean for every variable, and these means were compared. We flagged variables for removal where the difference in mean preliminary score between segments above and below the sample mean was less than 1. A final segment score was calculated by adding 1 point for each unflagged variable where the segment value exceeded the sample mean for that variable. This process was done for all variables assessed (overall), and repeated within domains of features (ie, path, pedestrian safety, aesthetics, physical security, destinations, and land use). A built environment score of 0 indicated that the segment had no additional features that promote physical activity relative to the average street segment. This scoring process has been used in the development of walkability and playground indexes (18,19). The higher the score for a segment, the more features the segment contained thought to promote physical activity, with higher land use scores indicating more dense residential development, better-condition residences than the average street segment, and the absence of hills or other geographic or land development barriers to physical activity. Buffers — the area around each audited street segment — with radii of 0.25, 0.50, 1.00, and 1.50 miles were used to define neighborhood exposures. Overall neighborhood scores were calculated as the average, weighted by the inverse of the distance from the centroid, of street segments within these buffers.

We evaluated the association between neighborhood built environment scores and longitudinal change in severity of depressive symptoms by using a hierarchical, mixed-effects, linear growth model, including all study participants with 2 or more CES-D assessments (n = 1,006), with differences in the rate of change (slope) being the outcome of interest. Mixed-effects models were conducted for each built environment score, with an interaction between the score and age and random intercepts and coefficients for age for each subject nested in street segments and census tracts and adjusted for sex, education, smoking, neighborhood poverty, and population density. The average duration of follow-up for participants in the longitudinal analysis exceeded 10 years, so the slope differences were expressed as the number of CES-D points per 10-years of follow-up. The percentage of each association between built environment scores and depressive symptoms mediated by physical activity was evaluated in mixed effects linear growth regression models by using a product of coefficients method (20), and 95% CIs for the resultant percentage mediation were calculated with a specialized program (21) in SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute).

The association between neighborhood built environment scores and depression was evaluated by using modified Poisson regression models with robust standard error estimation, which accommodated clustering in street segments and census tracts (22). We reported the cross-sectional association between the built environment and depression in the baseline examination as prevalence rate ratios (PRRs) and 95% CIs, adjusted for age, sex, education, smoking, neighborhood poverty, and population density. Models for the longitudinal association between neighborhood built environment and depression included all subjects with more than 1 depression assessment (n = 1,006), giving risk ratios (RR) and 95% CIs, adjusted for age at baseline, sex, baseline CES-D score, education, smoking, duration of time elapsed since baseline (followup duration), neighborhood poverty, and population density.

Neighborhood poverty and population density were identified a priori as potential effect modifiers. Modification of the effect of built environment scores on depression in Poisson regression models and depressive symptoms in mixed effects regression models was evaluated by interacting built environment scores with dichotomized percentage of neighborhood poverty or population density. All analyses were conducted by using SAS version 9.4. P values of <.05 were considered significant.

### Results

The mean values for subjects included in our cross-sectional analysis were on average age, 38.3; BMI, 29.8; CES-D score, 15.1; and reported weekly physical activity, 175.8 minutes (Table 1). A minority of the sample was male (43.1%), Black (33.6%), and had at least a high school education (41.9%). Most reported being a current or former smoker (55.7%), drinking alcohol in the past year (61.3%), having an annual household income at or above \$15,000 (64.3%), owning their home (72.3%), being employed (79.8%), being married (53.2%), and being in good health (64.4%). Because subjects included in longitudinal analyses represent a subset of those in the cross-sectional analysis, they will not be described separately. Cross-sectional study participants who were older, more educated, and did not own their homes lived on street segments with significantly higher overall built environment scores, whereas only home ownership was significantly associated with lower overall built environment scores for the longit-

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

udinal sample. Cross-sectional analyses for depression at the baseline examination identified 740 depressed subjects (37.0% of 2,000 total subjects); longitudinal analyses for depression identified 568 depressed subjects and 438 nondepressed subjects at the end of follow-up (Table 2).

Depressed subjects in the cross-sectional sample lived on street segments with lower aesthetics (P < .001) and higher physical security (P < .001) scores than nondepressed subjects (Table 2). Depressed subjects in the cross-sectional sample lived in census tracts with higher neighborhood poverty (P < .001) than nondepressed subjects. We observed no significant differences between street segment scores or neighborhood contextual variables between depressed and nondepressed subjects included in the longitudinal sample.

Significant associations were observed for aesthetics and physical security built environment scales on the street segment of residence (Table 3). For each 1-point higher aesthetics score on the street segment of residence, the prevalence of depression was 4% lower (PRR = 0.96, 95% CI, 0.92-1.00), and while similar magnitude associations were observed in larger neighborhood buffers, these were not significant. For each 1-point higher physical security score on the street segment of residence, the prevalence of depression was 7% higher (PRR = 1.07, 95% CI, 1.02-1.11).

Significant associations were observed between higher destination scores and increased risk of depression. For each 1-point higher destination score, the risk of depression was 1.06 (95% CI, 1.00-1.13), 1.07 (95% CI, 1.01-1.14), 1.08 (95% CI, 1.01-1.15), and 1.07 (95% CI, 1.00-1.15) times higher in buffers of radii of 0.25, 0.50, 1.00, and 1.50 miles, respectively (Table 3). No significant associations of built environment scales with depression were observed for the overall built environment, paths, pedestrian safety, aesthetics, physical security, and land use in longitudinal analyses.

Significant effect modification by neighborhood poverty was identified for the pedestrian safety features scale in 0.25-mile, 0.50mile, 1.00-mile, and 1.50-mile buffers in cross-sectional Poisson regression models, with 1-point higher pedestrian safety score associated with significant increased prevalence of depression in high-poverty neighborhoods but not low-poverty neighborhoods (Figure). Neighborhood poverty significantly modified the relationship between the destination scale and depression in longitudinal analyses, with 1-point higher destination scores in buffer radii of 0.25 mile, 0.50 mile, 1.00 mile, and 1.50 miles associated with higher risk of depression in high-poverty but not low-poverty neighborhoods. Associations between built environment scales and depression were not significantly modified by population density, though a 1-point higher aesthetic score was associated with significantly lower prevalence of depression in buffer radii of 0, 0.25 mile, and 0.50 of a mile in high-density neighborhoods but not in low-density neighborhoods (Figure).



Buffer around residence, mi

**Figure 1**. Association between built environment scores in buffers around residence and incident and prevalent depression among participants (N = 2,000) in the Bogalusa Heart Study, 1998–2013. High poverty is defined as  $\geq$ 28.3% of residents (of a census tract) living below the federal poverty level; low poverty is defined as <28.3% of residents (of a census tract) living below the federal poverty level. High density is defined as  $\geq$ 586 residents (of a

census tract) per square mile of area; low density is defined as <586 residents (of a census tract) per square mile of area. Graph A shows prevalence rate ratio (PRR) for a 1-point increase in pedestrian safety score. Graph B shows the risk ratio (RR) for a 1-point increase in destination score, and graph C shows the PRR for a 1-point increase in aesthetics score.

Over an average of 2.55 assessments, we found significant associations between the 10-year rate of change in depressive symptom severity and scales for the overall built environment and for paths, pedestrian safety, aesthetics, physical security, and land use (Table 4). In a buffer of 1.50 miles around the residence, a 1point-higher overall and path scores were associated with 0.17 and 0.40 CES-D points/10-years slower increase in depressive symptom severity, respectively. Each 1-point higher pedestrian safety score was associated with 0.35, 0.52 and 0.57 CES-D points/10-years slower increase in depressive symptom severity in 0.50 mile, 1.00 mile, and 1.50 mile buffers, respectively. Neighborhood aesthetics were significantly associated with more rapid increases in severity of depressive symptom in all buffer radius sizes, with each 1-point higher aesthetics score associated with a 0.76 CES-D-points/10-years faster increase in depressive symptom severity in a 1.50-mile buffer radius. On the street segment of residence, each 1-point higher physical security score was associated with a 0.44 CES-D point/10-years faster increase in depressive symptom severity. In a 1-mile buffer radius, each 1-point higher land use score was associated with a 0.69 CES-D-points/10years faster increase in depressive symptom severity. Of the significant slope differences, the only one mediated by physical activity was the aesthetics score on the street segment of residence (-2.83% mediated by physical activity) (Table 5).

### Discussion

Our study identified significant associations between the built environment around a residence and depression and severity of depressive symptoms in the rural South. A more aesthetically pleasing street segment of residence was associated with a 4% lower prevalence of depression, and more security features (eg, window bars) were associated with a 7% higher prevalence of depression at the baseline visit. Each 1-point higher destination score within 0.25-mile, 0.50-mile, 1.00-mile, and 1.50-mile buffer radii around a residence was associated with a significant 6% to 8% higher risk of depression over an average of 10 years of follow-up. Effect modification by neighborhood poverty was identified, with significant associations observed exclusively in high-poverty neighborhoods between more pedestrian safety features and higher prevalence of baseline depression. Significant associations between more neighborhood destinations and higher risk of depression were identified exclusively in high poverty neighborhoods. No significant effect modification by neighborhood population density was observed.

Several studies have reported associations between the built environment and depressive symptoms (6,7). Among older adults, more walkable neighborhoods were associated with low cross-sectional odds of depression among men but not women (23). Neighborhood problems such as noise, vandalism, poor residential quality, incivilities (eg, trash on street), and heavy traffic were associated with more depressive symptoms at baseline but no changes in depressive symptoms over follow-up (24). A study among lowincome Black and White residents of the southeastern US identified nonsignificantly higher odds of depression, with those in neighborhoods with the highest walkability index having 6% higher odds of CES-D-defined depression compared with those in the lowest walkability index neighborhoods (25). Our study did not identify associations between the overall built environment score and depression in cross-sectional or longitudinal analyses; however, the association between higher destination scores and increased risk of depression in our study is in accord with the higher odds of depression in the prior study (25). Differences between studies in the way neighborhood walkability was determined (by GIS mapping or street segment audit), the way scores were developed, and population density may explain the absence of an association between the overall score and depression in our study. The association between a high physical security score on the street segment of residence and increased depression prevalence at baseline is likely due to an inverse association of these features with residents' perception of safety. Inverse associations between objective and perceived neighborhood safety measures and depressive symptoms have been reported previously (24,26). In our study, living on a more aesthetically pleasing street segment was associated with lower prevalence of depression at baseline, in accord with prior reports that less aesthetically pleasing environments such as those with trash in the streets (24) or with less greenspace (27) are associated with greater depression.

Reasons for differences in associations between built environment scores and depression at baseline and over follow-up are unclear, but similar patterns have been reported previously (6,26). In a prior study high neighborhood and individual level safety measures were associated with low CES-D scores at baseline, but neither was significantly associated with changes in that score over a 10year period (26). In our study, aesthetics and physical security scores for the street segment of residence were associated with decreased and increased prevalence of depression at baseline, respectively, but not over follow-up. The absence of longitudinal associations is consistent with the prior claim that changes to built environment exposures may be more important to incidence of depressive symptoms than static exposure (26).

We identified significant effect modification by the percentage of residents in a neighborhood with incomes below the FPL. This is

in accord with a previous study that found significant associations between increased walkability and increased depression only in the most socioeconomically deprived neighborhoods (25). Similarly, in the present study, significant associations between higher pedestrian safety scores and increased depression prevalence at baseline were identified only in high-poverty neighborhoods. Significant associations between higher destination scores and increased depression risk over follow-up were also identified only in high-poverty neighborhoods in the present study. This may be due to the associations between high neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage (and poverty), low neighborhood social capital, and high depressive symptom (7). In our study, at baseline, each 10% increase in the prevalence of poverty in a census tract was associated with 12% higher prevalence of depression. The stronger associations between the built environment and depression in these neighborhoods may be due to a sense of vulnerability resulting from psychological stress, to which financial concerns are a significant contributor (28).

The mechanisms that underlie the association between higher physical security scores and increased prevalence of depression, between higher aesthetic scores and decreased prevalence of depression, and between higher destination scores and increased risk of depression are unknown. The associations between built environment scores and the rate of change in CES-D scores were not mediated by physical activity in our study population. Previous research has suggested that chronic stress, and associated hypocortisolism, among residents in neighborhoods with more objective and perceived stress-inducing features may explain relationships between neighborhood social disadvantage and negative health outcomes (29). Another study identified alteration of resting-state neural oscillatory activity in the cerebellum as a mechanism that could explain associations between environmental factors and depression (30). A study of the built environment and perceived social support and psychological distress among residents identified associations of features that promote direct social interaction with increased perceived social support and potential benefits for mental health (31). Associations between scores for built environment features and depression found in our study may therefore be mediated by influences on perceived social support or chronic stress.

Our study has several strengths. The sample was a wellcharacterized rural population with longitudinal data on physical activity, the built environment, and depression, and analyses were adjusted for potential individual and contextual confounders. Depression was assessed with a validated instrument (13), and the built environment scales were both reliable and associated with physical activity. Analyses evaluated cross-sectional and longitudinal associations. The density of street segments included in built environment audits allowed the construction of scales for the built environment within buffers of various radii around the residence, which has been a limitation in much of the prior literature (6). Our study also has limitations. Observed associations were based on an observational study design, and causality could not be inferred. No measure of the perceived built environment was available, so we could not assess mediation of associations between the objectively assessed built environment and depression by residents' perception of the built environment. Also, no measure of social support was included in our analysis. The uncertain geographic context problem, in which the true geographic context relevant to the health outcome being studied for participants is unknown, may have contributed to underestimation of the strengths of the observed associations. Most study participants lived in one rural parish in Louisiana, so generalizability of the results may be limited.

Our study contributes to prior findings of cross-sectional associations between built environment features thought to promote physical activity (ie, walkability) and increased prevalence of depression in the southern United States. Additionally, significant associations of more overall built environment features, more pedestrian safety features, more physical security features, and more destinations with greater depression only in high-poverty neighborhoods supports prior reports about the modifying influence of neighborhood socioeconomic status on the relationship between the built environment and depression. Relationships between built environment features thought to promote physical activity and negative mental health outcomes in low-socioeconomic-status neighborhoods may be due to relationships between these features and increased stressors among people who perceive themselves as marginalized (25,28). Built environment improvements tailored to neighborhood contexts and residents' wants and needs may have more broadly positive effects on community health. Further research is needed to identify mechanisms underlying associations between the built environment and depression and to explain why neighborhood socioeconomic status modifies the relationship between the built environment and depression.

# Acknowledgments

This work was supported by National Institutes of Health grant nos. K12HD043451, P20GM109036, R21AG057983, R01HL121230, 2R01AG041200 and R01DK091718 (L. Bazzano). No copyrighted material was used in this article.

# Author Information

Corresponding Author: Christopher E. Anderson, PhD, MSPH, Department of Epidemiology, Tulane University School of Public

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

Health and Tropical Medicine, 1440 Canal St, Suite 2000, New Orleans, LA 70112. Telephone: 626-430-4212. Email: cander5@tulane.edu.

Author Affiliations: <sup>1</sup>Department of Epidemiology, School of Public Health and Tropical Medicine, Tulane University, New Orleans, Louisiana. <sup>2</sup>Pennington Biomedical Research Center, Louisiana State University, Baton Rouge, Louisiana. <sup>3</sup>Department of Social, Behavioral, and Population Sciences, School of Public Health and Tropical Medicine, Tulane University, New Orleans, Louisiana.

### References

- 1. Vos T, Abajobir AA, Abate KH, Abbafati C, Abbas KM, Abd-Allah F, et al.; GBD 2016 Disease and Injury Incidence and Prevalence Collaborators. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 328 diseases and injuries for 195 countries, 1990–2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. Lancet 2017;390(10100):1211–59. . Erratum in Lancet 2017;390(10106):e38.
- 2. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Current depression among adults United States, 2006 and 2008. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2010;59(38):1229–35.
- 3. Matthews KA, Croft JB, Liu Y, Lu H, Kanny D, Wheaton AG, et al. Health-related behaviors by urban-rural county classification United States, 2013. MMWR Surveill Summ 2017;66(5):1–8.
- 4. US Department of Health and Human Services, National Institutes of Health. NIH health disparities strategic plan and budget fiscal years 2009–2013. 2011. https:// www.nimhd.nih.gov/docs/2009-2013nih\_health\_disparities\_ strategic\_plan\_and\_budget.pdf.Accessed February 28, 2020.
- 5. Breslau J, Marshall GN, Pincus HA, Brown RA. Are mental disorders more common in urban than rural areas of the United States? J Psychiatr Res 2014;56:50–5.
- 6. Mair C, Diez Roux AV, Galea S. Are neighbourhood characteristics associated with depressive symptoms? A review of evidence. J Epidemiol Community Health 2008; 62(11):940–6,8,946.
- 7. Julien D, Richard L, Gauvin L, Kestens Y. Neighborhood characteristics and depressive mood among older adults: an integrative review. Int Psychogeriatr 2012;24(8):1207–25.
- 8. Evans GW. The built environment and mental health. J Urban Health 2003;80(4):536–55.
- 9. Spence JC, Lee RE. Toward a comprehensive model of physical activity. Psychol Sport Exerc 2003;4(1):7–24.

- 10. Hansen AY, Umstattd Meyer MR, Lenardson JD, Hartley D. Built environments and active living in rural and remote areas: a review of the literature. Curr Obes Rep 2015;4(4):484–93.
- 11. Gustat J, Anderson CE, Chukwurah QC, Wallace ME, Broyles ST, Bazzano LA. Cross-sectional associations between the neighborhood built environment and physical activity in a rural setting: the Bogalusa Heart Study. BMC Public Health 2020; 20(1):1426.
- Berenson GS; Bogalusa Heart Study Investigators. Bogalusa Heart Study: a long-term community study of a rural biracial (Black/White) population. Am J Med Sci 2001; 322(5):293-300.
- Vahle VJ, Andresen EM, Hagglund KJ. Depression measures in outcomes research. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2000; 81(12Suppl 2):S53-62.
- 14. American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders, 4th edition. Washington (DC): American Psychiatric Association; 1994.
- 15. Yousefian A, Hennessy E, Umstattd MR, Economos CD, Hallam JS, Hyatt RR, et al. Development of the rural active living assessment tools: measuring rural environments. Prev Med 2010;50(Suppl 1):S86–92.
- 16. Kepper MM, Sothern MS, Theall KP, Griffiths LA, Scribner RA, Tseng TS, et al. A reliable, feasible method to observe neighborhoods at high spatial resolution. Am J Prev Med 2017; 52(11S1):S20–30.
- 17. US Census Bureau. US Census. https://www.census.gov/ data.html. Accessed October 12, 2017.
- Gustat J, Richards K, Rice J, Andersen L, Parker-Karst K, Cole S. Youth walking and biking rates vary by environments around 5 Louisiana schools. J Sch Health 2015;85(1):36–42.
- 19. Gustat J, Anderson CE, Slater SJ. Development and testing of a brief play space audit tool. J Phys Act Health 2019; 17(1):1-8.
- 20. VanderWeele TJ. Mediation analysis: a practitioner's guide. Annu Rev Public Health 2016;37(1):17–32.
- 21. MacKinnon DP, Fritz MS, Williams J, Lockwood CM. Distribution of the product confidence limits for the indirect effect: program PRODCLIN. Behav Res Methods 2007; 39(3):384–9.
- 22. Zou GY, Donner A. Extension of the modified Poisson regression model to prospective studies with correlated binary data. Stat Methods Med Res 2013;22(6):661–70.
- 23. Berke EM, Koepsell TD, Moudon AV, Hoskins RE, Larson EB. Association of the built environment with physical activity and obesity in older persons. Am J Public Health 2007; 97(3):486–92.
- 24. Bierman A. Marital status as contingency for the effects of neighborhood disorder on older adults' mental health. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 2009;64(3):425–34.

- 25. James P, Hart JE, Banay RF, Laden F, Signorello LB. Built environment and depression in low-income African Americans and Whites. Am J Prev Med 2017;52(1):74–84.
- 26. Moore KA, Hirsch JA, August C, Mair C, Sanchez BN, Diez Roux AV. Neighborhood social resources and depressive symptoms: longitudinal results from the multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis. J Urban Health 2016;93(3):572–88.
- 27. Bezold CP, Banay RF, Coull BA, Hart JE, James P, Kubzansky LD, et al. The relationship between surrounding greenness in childhood and adolescence and depressive symptoms in adolescence and early adulthood. Ann Epidemiol 2018;28(4):213–9.
- 28. Downs TJ, Ross L, Goble R, Subedi R, Greenberg S, Taylor O. Vulnerability, risk perception, and health profile of marginalized people exposed to multiple built-environment stressors in Worcester, Massachusetts: a pilot project. Risk Anal 2011;31(4):609–28.
- 29. Karb RA, Elliott MR, Dowd JB, Morenoff JD. Neighborhoodlevel stressors, social support, and diurnal patterns of cortisol: the Chicago Community Adult Health Study. Soc Sci Med 2012;75(6):1038–47.
- 30. Córdova-Palomera A, Tornador C, Falcón C, Bargalló N, Brambilla P, Crespo-Facorro B, et al. Environmental factors linked to depression vulnerability are associated with altered cerebellar resting-state synchronization. Sci Rep 2016; 6(1):37384.
- 31. Brown SC, Mason CA, Lombard JL, Martinez F, Plater-Zyberk E, Spokane AR, et al. The relationship of built environment to perceived social support and psychological distress in Hispanic elders: the role of "eyes on the street". J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 2009;64(2):234–46.

## Tables

Table 1. Characteristics of Participants (N = 2,000) Included in Analyses Evaluating the Cross-Sectional and Longitudinal Associations of the Built Environment Around the Residence and Depression in a Rural Population, Bogalusa Heart Study, 1998–2013

	Cross Sectional		Longitudina	al
Characteristic	N = 2,000	P Value <sup>a</sup>	N = 1,006 <sup>b</sup>	<i>P</i> Value <sup>a</sup>
Age, y, mean (SD)	38.27 (8.63)	.03	36.79 (4.96)	.05
BMI, mean (SD)	29.79 (8.03)	.18	29.63 (8.20)	.89
Follow-up duration, y, mean (SD)	0.00 (0.00)	1.00	10.68 (3.17)	.90
CES-D score <sup>c</sup> at baseline, mean (SD)	15.08 (10.27)	.93	13.24 (9.84)	.75
Depressed at baseline, n (%)	740 (37.00)	.77	321 (31.91)	.46
Male, n (%)	862 (43.10)	.15	410 (41.46)	.77
Black, n (%)	672 (33.60)	.22	303 (30.64)	.79
≥High school education, n (%)	838 (41.90)	.002	548 (58.80)	.64
Household income ≥\$15,000, n (%)	1,285 (64.25)	.87	718 (72.67)	.99
Married, n (%)	1,063 (53.15)	.19	611 (61.78)	.22
Have health insurance, n (%)	1,216 (60.80)	.08	635 (68.13)	.06
Employed, n (%)	1,596 (79.80)	.54	833 (84.23)	.26
Home owner, n (%)	1,445 (72.25)	<.001	779 (78.77)	.008
In good health, n (%)	1,288 (64.40)	.22	878 ( 89.32)	.76
Current smoker, n (%)	590 (29.50)	.06	292 (29.03)	.91
Former smoker, n (%)	523 (26.15)	.06	300 (29.82)	.91
Consumed alcohol in last year, n (%)	1,206 (61.25)	.22	628 ( 63.50)	.18
Any physical activity, n (%)	1,436 (72.90)	.67	858 (86.75)	.79
Walking (min/wk), mean (SD)	83.29 (245.56)	.76	82.45 (250.18)	.27
Physical activity (min/wk), mean (SD)	175.77 (386.90)	.38	181.34 (375.15)	.07

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; CES-D, Centers for Epidemiologic Studies-Depression.

<sup>a</sup> *P* values were assessed with analysis of variance for categorical variables and Pearson correlation coefficient for continuous variables and are for the association of participant characteristics with the (continuous) overall built environment score for the street segment of residence.

<sup>b</sup> Longitudinal sample; includes only those study subjects with 2 or more observations.

<sup>c</sup> CES-D score  $\geq$ 16 indicates depression. CES-D scores can range from 0 to 60.

Table 2. Neighborhood Characteristics of Participants (N = 2,000) Included In Analyses Evaluating the Cross-Sectional and Longitudinal Associations of the Built Environment Around the Residence and Depression in a Rural Population, by Depression Status, Bogalusa Heart Study, 1998–2013

	Cross Sectional			Longitudinal <sup>a</sup>			
Variable	Depressed <sup>b</sup> (n = 740)	Not Depressed (n = 1,260)	<i>P</i> Value <sup>c</sup>	Depressed <sup>b</sup> (n = 568)	Not Depressed (n = 438)	<i>P</i> Value <sup>c</sup>	
Street segment of built environment <sup>d</sup>							
All features, mean (SD)	10.55 (4.32)	10.49 (4.49)	.77	10.41 (4.17)	10.34 (4.43)	.78	
Path, mean (SD)	2.31 (2.35)	2.20 (2.40)	.32	2.08 (2.22)	2.11 (2.37)	.83	
Pedestrian safety features, mean (SD)	3.21 (1.81)	3.03 (1.81)	.03	3.02 (1.83)	2.94 (1.89)	.51	
Aesthetics, mean (SD)	2.99 (1.47)	3.28 (1.60)	<.001	3.33 (1.55)	3.30 (1.57)	.76	
Destinations <sup>e</sup> , mean (SD)	0.61 (1.22)	0.54 (1.14)	.20	2.92 (1.11)	2.94 (1.11)	.90	
Physical security, mean (SD)	3.41 (1.45)	3.19 (1.32)	<.001	0.52 (1.10)	0.51 (1.13)	.73	
Land use, mean (SD)	1.61 (0.90)	1.67 (0.95)	.17	1.67 (0.98)	1.66 (0.90)	.85	
Contextual variables							
Population density, mean (SD)	556.75 (1,575.20)	603.25 (1,189.66)	.46	536.30 (1,774.73)	520.84 (839.53)	.86	
Percentage poverty <sup>f</sup> , mean (SD)	30.06 (10.23)	27.20 (11.22)	<.001	28.75 (10.58)	28.41 (11.00)	.39	

Abbreviation: CES-D, Centers for Epidemiologic Studies-Depression.

<sup>a</sup> Longitudinal sample; includes only those study subjects with 2 or more observations.

<sup>b</sup> CES-D score  $\geq$ 16 indicates depression. CES-D scores can range from 0 to 60.

<sup>c</sup> *P* values for comparison of depressed and not-depressed subjects are from *t* tests.

<sup>d</sup> Built environment scores summarize features of street segments assessed with the Rural Active Living Assessment street segment audit tool, overall and within domains of features, with higher numeric scores indicating the presence of more features thought to promote physical activity. Scores have the following ranges: overall (2-29), path (0-9), pedestrian safety (0-10), aesthetics (0-6), destinations (0-11), physical security (0-6), and land use (0-5).

<sup>e</sup> Includes commercial and civic facilities.

<sup>f</sup> Neighborhood poverty was defined as the percentage of residents in a census tract living below the federal poverty level.

#### Table 3. Association of Neighborhood Built Environment Scores<sup>a</sup> With Prevalence and Incidence of Depression Among Participants (N = 2,000), Bogalusa Heart Study, 1998-2013

	Buffer Around Residence Unit								
Built Environment Score	0.00 mi	0.25 mi	0.50 mi	1.00 mi	1.50 mi				
Cross-sectional, prevalence rate ratio (95% CI)									
Overall	1.01 (0.99-1.02)	1.01 (0.99-1.03)	1.01 (0.99-1.03)	1.00 (0.98-1.03)	1.00 (0.98-1.02)				
Path	1.01 (0.98-1.04)	1.02 (0.99-1.05)	1.02 (0.98-1.05)	1.01 (0.97-1.05)	1.01 (0.97-1.06)				
Pedestrian safety	1.03 (1.00-1.06)	1.03 (0.99-1.08)	1.04 (0.98-1.09)	1.03 (0.97-1.09)	1.02 (0.96-1.08)				
Aesthetics	0.96 (0.92-1.00)	0.97 (0.92-1.02)	0.97 (0.91-1.02)	0.96 (0.90-1.02)	0.95 (0.88-1.02)				
Destinations <sup>b</sup>	1.04 (0.99-1.10)	1.04 (0.97-1.10)	1.04 (0.97-1.12)	1.02 (0.94-1.12)	1.02 (0.93-1.13)				
Physical security	1.07 (1.02-1.11)	0.97 (0.84-1.12)	1.02 (0.87-1.21)	1.03 (0.86-1.24)	1.00 (0.82-1.22)				
Land use	0.98 (0.92-1.04)	0.97 (0.89-1.05)	0.95 (0.86-1.05)	0.92 (0.83-1.03)	0.95 (0.85-1.06)				
Longitudinal, risk ratio (95% CI)									
Overall	1.00 (0.99-1.01)	1.01 (0.99-1.02)	1.01 (0.99-1.03)	1.01 (0.98-1.03)	1.00 (0.98-1.03)				
Path	1.00 (0.97-1.02)	1.00 (0.97-1.03)	1.01 (0.97-1.04)	1.00 (0.96-1.04)	0.99 (0.95-1.04)				
Pedestrian safety	1.01 (0.98-1.04)	1.00 (0.97-1.04)	1.01 (0.97-1.05)	1.00 (0.96-1.04)	1.00 (0.95-1.05)				
Aesthetics	1.00 (0.97-1.04)	1.01 (0.97-1.06)	1.02 (0.97-1.07)	1.02 (0.97-1.08)	1.02 (0.96-1.08)				
Destinations <sup>b</sup>	1.01 (0.97-1.06)	1.06 (1.00-1.13)	1.07 (1.01-1.14)	1.08 (1.01-1.15)	1.07 (1.00-1.15)				
Physical security	1.00 (0.96-1.05)	1.11 (0.96-1.28)	1.15 (0.97-1.36)	1.13 (0.94-1.37)	1.10 (0.90-1.35)				
Land use	1.00 (0.95-1.06)	0.99 (0.92-1.05)	0.99 (0.93-1.07)	0.97 (0.90-1.05)	0.96 (0.88-1.05)				

<sup>a</sup> Built environment scores summarize features of street segments assessed with the Rural Active Living Assessment street segment audit tool, overall and within domains of features, with higher numeric scores indicating the presence of more features thought to promote physical activity. Measures of association represent the relative prevalence or risk of depression associated with a 1-point increase in the specified built environment score. Scores have the following ranges: overall (2-29), path (0-9) pedestrian safety (0-10), aesthetics (0-6), destinations (0-11), physical security (0-6), and land use (05).

<sup>b</sup> Includes commercial and civic facilities.
#### Table 4. Association Between Neighborhood Built Environment Scores and Change in CES-D<sup>a</sup>, Participants (N = 1,006)<sup>a</sup>, Bogalusa Heart Study, 1998–2013

CES-D Slope Difference <sup>b</sup> for 1-Point					<sup>b</sup> for 1-Point Inc	Increase in Built Environment Score				
	Buffer Around Residence Unit									
Duilt Facility and ant	0.00 mi		0.25 mi		0.50 mi		1.00 mi		1.50 mi	
Score <sup>c</sup>	β (SE)	<i>P</i> Value	β (SE)	<i>P</i> Value	β (SE)	<i>P</i> Value	β (SE)	<i>P</i> Value	β (SE)	<i>P</i> Value
Overall	0.02 (0.05)	.67	0.00 (0.06)	.98	-0.03 (0.07)	.69	-0.11 (0.08)	.16	-0.17 (0.08)	.04
Path	-0.07 (0.09)	.40	-0.09 (0.11)	.41	-0.09 (0.12)	.46	-0.22 (0.14)	.13	-0.40 (0.16)	.01
Pedestrian safety	-0.06 (0.11)	.60	-0.20 (0.14)	.16	-0.35 (0.16)	.03	-0.52 (0.17)	<.01	-0.57 (0.19)	<.01
Aesthetics	0.26 (0.13)	.04	0.51 (0.16)	<.01	0.67 (0.19)	<.01	0.71 (0.23)	<.01	0.76 (0.26)	<.01
Destinations <sup>d</sup>	0.08 (0.16)	.64	0.17 (0.24)	.49	0.05 (0.27)	.86	-0.10 (0.33)	.76	-0.36 (0.41)	.38
Physical security	0.44 (0.14)	<.01	0.22 (0.53)	.69	0.57 (0.62)	.36	0.46 (0.74)	.54	0.54 (0.84)	.52
Land use	0.27 (0.22)	.21	0.47 (0.27)	.08	0.55 (0.30)	.07	0.69 (0.34)	.04	0.71 (0.38)	.06

Abbreviation: CES-D, Centers for Epidemiologic Studies-Depression.

<sup>a</sup> Longitudinal sample; includes only those study subjects with 2 or more observations.

<sup>b</sup> CES-D slope was expressed as the rate of change in depressive symptom severity per 10 years of follow-up (depressive symptom severity was assessed as a continuous CES-D score that can range from 0 to 60, with higher scores indicating more severe depressive symptoms).

<sup>c</sup> Built environment scores summarize features of street segments assessed with the Rural Active Living Assessment street segment audit tool, overall and within domains of features, with higher numeric scores indicating the presence of more features thought to promote physical activity. Associations represent the difference in the rate of change of depressive symptom severity over 10 years for a 1-point increase in the specified built environment score. Scores have the following ranges: overall (2–29), path (0–9), pedestrian safety (0–10), aesthetics (0–6), destinations (0–11), physical security (0–6), and land use (05). <sup>d</sup> Includes commercial and civic facilities.

### Table 5. Percentage of the Observed Association of Neighborhood Built Environment Scores<sup>a</sup> With CES-D Slope<sup>b</sup> Mediated by Physical Activity, Participants (N = 1,006)<sup>c</sup> Bogalusa Heart Study, 1998–2013

	CES-D Slope Difference <sup>b</sup> , Percentage Mediation (95% CI) by Physical Activity						
	Buffer Around Residence Unit						
Built Environment	0.00 mi	0.25 mi	0.50 mi	1.00 mi	1.50 mi		
Overall	-5.92 (-20.12 to 4.33)	16.4 (-167.44 to 211.48)	-1.44 (8.23 to -12.09)	-0.06 (2.71 to -2.87)	0.23 (2.21 to -1.60)		
Path	1.55 (7.87 to −3.70)	-0.51 (4.48 to -5.87)	0.50 (6.32 to -4.98)	0.40 (3.16 to -2.09)	0.35 (2.06 to -1.13)		
Pedestrian safety	-0.84 (7.40 to -9.65)	0.40 (3.71 to -2.62)	0.24 (2.32 to -1.67)	0.35 (1.92 to -0.98)	0.55 (2.17 to -0.70)		
Aesthetics	-2.83 (-6.59 to -0.29)	-0.31 (-1.83 to 1.01)	-0.13 (-1.38 to 1.04)	-0.15 (-1.53 to 1.12)	-0.18 (-1.59 to 1.10)		
Destinations <sup>d</sup>	1.72 (-8.11 to 12.72)	0.79 (-5.58 to 7.70)	5.94 (-17.02 to 32.96)	-2.47 (10.41 to -17.04)	-0.92 (3.16 to -5.63)		
Physical security	1.07 (-0.12 to 2.97)	-3.20 (-14.77 to 6.20)	-2.03 (-7.17 to 1.75)	-2.19 (-9.18 to 3.31)	-0.96 (-7.01 to 4.43)		
Land use	2.48 (-0.66 to 7.21)	2.27 (-0.05 to 5.89)	2.29 (0.06 to 5.76)	1.83 (-0.05 to 4.78)	1.65 (-0.25 to 4.60)		

Abbreviation: CES-D, Centers for Epidemiological Studies-Depression.

<sup>a</sup> Built environment scores summarize features of street segments assessed with the Rural Active Living Assessment street segment audit tool, overall and within domains of features, with higher numeric scores indicating the presence of more features thought to promote physical activity. Associations represent the percentage of the slope difference for a 1-point increase in the specified built environment score that is mediated by physical activity. Scores have the following ranges: overall (2-29), path (0-9), pedestrian safety (0-10), aesthetics (0-6), destinations (0-11), physical security (0-6), and land use (05).

<sup>b</sup> CES-D slope was expressed as the rate of change in depressive symptom severity per 10 years of follow-up (depressive symptom severity was assessed as a continuous CES-D score that can range from 0 to 60, with higher scores indicating more severe depressive symptoms).

<sup>c</sup> Longitudinal sample; includes only those study subjects with 2 or more observations.

<sup>d</sup> Includes commercial and civic facilities.

Volume 18, E16

FEBRUARY 2021

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

## Colorectal Cancer Risk Factors and Screening Among the Uninsured of Tampa Bay: A Free Clinic Study

Ethan Y. Song<sup>1</sup>; Justin Swanson, MPH<sup>2</sup>; Artish Patel<sup>1</sup>; Madeline MacDonald, MS<sup>1</sup>; Alexandra Aponte<sup>3</sup>; Noura Ayoubi, MD<sup>1</sup>; Lucy Guerra, MD<sup>4</sup>; Eduardo Gonzalez, MD<sup>5</sup>; Rahul Mhaskar, PhD<sup>4</sup>; Abu-Sayeef Mirza, MD<sup>4</sup>

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2021/20\_0496.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Song EY, Swanson J, Patel A, MacDonald M, Aponte A, Ayoubi N, et al. Colorectal Cancer Risk Factors and Screening Among the Uninsured of Tampa Bay: A Free Clinic Study. Prev Chronic Dis 2021;18:200496. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd18.200496.

#### PEER REVIEWED

#### Summary

#### What is already known on this topic?

Patients with low socioeconomic status have a high likelihood of developing colorectal cancer (CRC) due to associated risk factors and lower reported rates of screening.

#### What is added by this report?

This study is among the first to analyze the prevalence of CRC risk factors and screening rates of low-income and uninsured patients at free clinics in Florida.

#### What are the implications for public health practice?

Community-based health centers and free medical clinics are uniquely positioned to treat and care for this vulnerable population through the development of sustainable and cost-effective primary and secondary prevention strategies.

### Abstract

#### Introduction

Uninsured patients with low socioeconomic status are at high risk for developing colorectal cancer (CRC), and data on risk factors and prevalence of CRC in this population are limited. The purpose of this study was to assess the risk factors for CRC in uninsured patients from free clinics in the Tampa Bay area of Florida.

#### Methods

We conducted a retrospective cohort study among patients 50 years or older who were provided service at 9 free clinics in the Tampa Bay area between 2016 and 2018. Demographics, chronic disease characteristics, and screening data were collected via a query of paper and electronic medical records.

#### Results

Of the 13,982 patients seen, 5,139 (36.8%) were aged 50 years or older. Most were female (56.8%), non-Hispanic White (41.1%), and unemployed (54.9%). Patients with CRC screening were more likely to be employed compared with patients without CRC screening (54.4% vs 44.4%, P = .01). Within the cohort, 725 (22.7%) patients were active smokers, 771 (29.2%) patients currently consumed alcohol, and 23 patients (0.4%) had a history of inflammatory bowel disease. Patients had a median body mass index of 29.4 (interquartile range, 25.4–34.2) kg/m<sup>2</sup>, and 1,455 (28.3%) had diabetes. Documented CRC screening was found among 341 (6.6%) patients.

#### Conclusion

Uninsured patients had a high prevalence of CRC risk factors but a low reported screening rate for CRC. Free clinics are uniquely positioned to provide patients at high risk for CRC with strategies to decrease their risk and to be screened for CRC.

### Introduction

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is the third leading cause of cancerrelated deaths in the United States (1) and is most prevalent in patients aged 50 years or older. Despite significant strides in overall cancer survival, several factors such as low income, lack of insurance, and being in a racial or ethnic minority group prevent many Americans from receiving optimal care (1-3).



The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2021/20\_0496.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1

This publication is in the public domain and is therefore without copyright. All text from this work may be reprinted freely. Use of these materials should be properly cited.

Patients with low socioeconomic status have a higher likelihood of developing CRC because of associated risk factors such as alcohol intake, obesity, and smoking (4). Another social determinant of health associated with poor outcomes in patients is lack of health insurance (2). It is well documented that cancer screening rates are lowest in people without health insurance, which leads to high numbers of late-stage cancers (5–7). Patients with Medicaid or those who are uninsured are more likely to have metastatic disease as well as lower rates of definitive surgery and resection (8). Furthermore, patients of racial and ethnic minority groups experience higher incidence and mortality rates of CRC compared with White patients (3,6).

Community-based health centers (CHC) and free medical clinics (FMC) provide primary care services to a large proportion of underinsured and uninsured individuals. They serve as first-line care for the prevention and management of many CRC risk factors such as diet, smoking, alcohol use, and type 2 diabetes (9). However, data on the burden of CRC risk factors in patients of these clinics are limited. The purpose of this study was to assess the prevalence of known risk factors and screening rates of CRC in low-income and uninsured patients of free clinics around Tampa Bay, Florida.

### Methods

We included all uninsured patients served at 9 free clinics in the Tampa Bay area of Florida from January 1, 2016, through December 31, 2018, in this retrospective cohort study. We included patients aged 50 years or older served at any point during the study period, on the basis of US Preventive Services Task Force guidelines that recommend screening for CRC starting at age 50 because of the increased risk of colorectal cancer in this age group (10). We obtained data from paper and electronic medical records and used REDCap software for analyses (11). We compared patients who had documented CRC screening and those who did not by socioeconomic variables (ie, age, sex, race/ethnicity, employment status) and known CRC risk factors, including biometrics (ie, weight and body mass index), alcohol or tobacco use, and comorbidities (ie, diabetes and inflammatory bowel disease [IBD]). We present numeric variables as median (interquartile range [IQR]) and categorical variables as number (%). We used Mann–Whitney-Wilcoxon tests for numeric variables and  $\chi^2$  tests for categorical variables; missing values were not included in tests of significance. Significance was set at P < .05.

All participating clinics consented to the use of their data. This study was approved by the University of South Florida institutional review board.

### Results

Of the 13,982 patients seen during the study period, 5,139 (36.8%) were aged 50 years or older and included for further analysis (Table 1). Of those with nonmissing demographic data, most were female (n = 2,896, 56.8%) and unemployed (n = 1,327, 54.9%), and nearly equal proportions were non-Hispanic White (n = 1,649, 41.1%) and Hispanic of any race (n = 1,639, 40.8%). Of those who reported their smoking status, 725 (22.7%) were active smokers, and 594 (18.6%) were past smokers (Table 2). Current and past smokers reported a median history of 15 pack-years (IQR, 5–35 pack-years). Of those who reported their history of alcohol consumption, 771 (29.2%) were active consumers, and 192 (7.3%) were past consumers. The median body mass index (BMI, kg/m<sup>2</sup>) of patients was 29.4 (IQR, 25.4–34.2). The sample included 1,455 (28.3%) patients with diabetes and 23 (0.4%) patients with IBD.

Of all patients, 341 (6.6%) had a documented CRC screening. Patients with a documented CRC screening were more likely to be employed that those without a screening (54.4% vs 44.4%, P =.01) (Table 1). Patients who had a CRC screening were more likely than those without screening to be active (39.9% vs 28.0%) or past (10.7% vs 6.9%, P < .001) consumers of alcohol (Table 2). Diabetes was more prevalent among patients who received CRC screening than those without (33.1% vs 28.0%, P = .047). IBD was more prevalent among patients with a documented CRC screening than among those without (1.8% vs 0.4%, P < .001).

### Discussion

We found a high prevalence of CRC risk factors among uninsured patients in Tampa Bay's free clinics. More than half of the patients were unemployed and consisted of a largely Hispanic population. We also found a 28.3% prevalence of diabetes and a median BMI of 29.4, suggesting the continued need for management of chronic health conditions.

The prevalence of several known modifiable risk factors for CRC, including smoking, alcohol usage, poor diet, obesity, and lack of physical activity, is higher in low socioeconomic populations (12–14). Hereditary and personal factors associated with CRC include type 2 diabetes, chronic IBD, and family history of CRC (15–18), and many of these risk factors are seen in higher rates within racial and ethnic minority groups (19). A meta-analysis of 29 articles by Luo and colleagues found that type 2 diabetes was associated with a relative risk of 1.37 (95% CI, 1.28–1.42) of developing CRC (15). Notably, previous epidemiologic studies show that Hispanics have a high prevalence of overweight and type 2 diabetes (20,21).

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

Patients who are at high risk for CRC and meet US Preventive Services Task Force guidelines are recommended to have routine CRC screening. However, CRC screening compliance remains a challenge in uninsured patients. Shapiro et al reported that 40% of Americans aged 50-75 years had not received recommended CRC screening and that the percentage was higher among those without insurance (80%) (22). Another study by Mojica et al reported that cancer screening rates for Latina women are lower than for non-Latino White women (23). CRC screening rates have been historically lower among Hispanic individuals compared with those who are non-Hispanic White (24). Our results are consistent with the literature, as our patient population was predominantly Hispanic and CRC screening was low, with only 6.6% of patients undergoing routine screening. Additionally, we found that unemployed patients were more likely not to have CRC screening, emphasizing the need for additional resources or better screening strategies for this population. We have previously reported that epidemiologic estimates may be affected by barriers to health care access, such as transportation, work leave, and the severity of disease (25). Furthermore, although colonoscopy is the gold standard for CRC screening, it is expensive. Socioeconomic status may affect providers' prescription patterns as well as patient compliance. Cheaper alternatives such as the fecal immunochemical test (FIT) and fecal occult blood test (FOBT) can be offered, but these sometimes result in false positive test results (26).

CHCs and FMCs are uniquely positioned to reduce CRC burden because of the large proportion of underinsured and uninsured individuals they serve. Studies show that having a routine source of care is a predictor of CRC test use in these populations (27,28), and several community interventions to increase CRC screening in uninsured patient populations have been successful (29-32). A study by Lairson et al used community health workers, video interventions, or both to increase awareness for colon cancer screening in low-income, uninsured Hispanic patients in El Paso, Texas. These interventions achieved screening rates between 75% and 87% compared with 10% in the comparison group (30). A program for uninsured patients in South Carolina found that FIT screening was more fiscally appropriate for a state's budget and also an effective choice compared with colonoscopy (29). Patients may experience barriers to access to care, such as lack of transportation, so mail-in FOBT can be used to promote screening in low-income populations (31). One of our contributing clinics in Florida has documented screening rates as high as 64% with the help of a dedicated gastroenterologist and a partnership with the Colon Cancer Alliance (32).

Our study has several limitations, including its retrospective nature and potential for selection bias. Other barriers to health care utilization may exist and may be differentially distributed in the uninsured population, so our study sample may not be representative of the uninsured population at large. Because the clinics operate independently and have different patient health recording methods, we could not collect and analyze certain data, such as diet and exercise. Study variables often contained large numbers of missing values, which could introduce bias beyond that which occurs with the collection of administrative data. Patients who received CRC screening had lower proportions of missing data on risk factors. Patient or provider knowledge of these risk factors may have increased the likelihood of CRC screening (ie, the presence of multiple risk factors was an apparent requisite for screening), and patients with CRC screening may have been more engaged with their primary care center in general. Another consideration is that although our original study focused on a spectrum of chronic diseases, our database did not capture the entire granularity of screening methods (eg, colonoscopy, FIT, FOBT) for CRC.

Nevertheless, our study is among the few that have reported the burden of risk factors and screening rates for CRC in FMCs in Florida (32). Overall, our study further elucidates the disparity of risk factors and CRC burden in the low-income and uninsured population. Because CHCs and FMCs are uniquely positioned to treat and care for this population, our findings should encourage the development of sustainable and cost-effective primary and secondary prevention strategies for this vulnerable group.

#### Conclusion

Low-income and uninsured patients of the free clinics in Tampa Bay are at a higher risk of developing CRC because of higher rates of predisposing comorbidities. Continued management of risk factors and increased screening efforts should be made for this vulnerable population. Subsidized screening, including FIT tests and colonoscopies, would strongly benefit these high-risk patients and increase the resources available at free clinics for such preventive measures.

### Acknowledgments

We thank the University of South Florida Office of Research, Innovation, and Scholarly Endeavors for providing a stipend to several medical students who participated in the data collection process as part of a summer research experience. We also thank the clinic directors and staff members at the 9 free clinics where the data were obtained. Finally, we thank our team of undergraduate, graduate, and medical student volunteers, Dr Laurie Woodard, Kevin Casey, Shirley Smith, and the University of South Florida Office of Research, Innovation, and Scholarly Endeavors for providing expertise paramount to the success of this project. No

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

funding was received for the completion of this study (no. Pro00023920), and no copyrighted materials or tools were used in this research.

### Author Information

Corresponding Author: Ethan Y. Song, University of South Florida, Morsani College of Medicine, 12901 Bruce B. Downs Blvd, Tampa, FL 33612. Telephone: 858-243-6224. Email: esong@usf.edu.

Author Affiliations: <sup>1</sup>University of South Florida, Morsani College of Medicine, Tampa, Florida. <sup>2</sup>University of South Florida, College of Public Health, Tampa, Florida. <sup>3</sup>University of South Florida, Tampa, Florida. <sup>4</sup>USF Morsani College of Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, Tampa, Florida. <sup>5</sup>USF Morsani College of Medicine, Department of Family Medicine, Tampa, Florida.

### References

- 1. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2020. CA Cancer J Clin 2020;70(1):7–30.
- 2. Roetzheim RG, Pal N, Gonzalez EC, Ferrante JM, Van Durme DJ, Krischer JP. Effects of health insurance and race on colorectal cancer treatments and outcomes. Am J Public Health 2000;90(11):1746–54.
- 3. DeSantis CE, Miller KD, Goding Sauer A, Jemal A, Siegel RL. Cancer statistics for African Americans, 2019. CA Cancer J Clin 2019;69(3):211–33.
- 4. Zhao J, Zhu Y, Wang PP, West R, Buehler S, Sun Z, et al. Interaction between alcohol drinking and obesity in relation to colorectal cancer risk: a case-control study in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada. BMC Public Health 2012;12(1):94.
- 5. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Vital signs: colorectal cancer screening test use United States, 2012. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2013;62(44):881–8.
- 6. Eberth JM, Thibault A, Caldwell R, Josey MJ, Qiang B, Peña E, et al. A statewide program providing colorectal cancer screening to the uninsured of South Carolina. Cancer 2018; 124(9):1912–20.
- Farkas DT, Greenbaum A, Singhal V, Cosgrove JM. Effect of insurance status on the stage of breast and colorectal cancers in a safety-net hospital. Am J Manag Care 2012;18(5 Spec No 2):65–70.
- 8. Pulte D, Jansen L, Brenner H. Disparities in colon cancer survival by insurance type: a population-based analysis. Dis Colon Rectum 2018;61(5):538–46.

- 9. Nadkarni MM, Philbrick JT. Free clinics and the uninsured: the increasing demands of chronic illness. J Health Care Poor Underserved 2003;14(2):165–74.
- 10. US Preventive Services Task Force. Colorectal cancer: screening; 2016. https://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce .org/uspstf/recommendation/colorectal-cancer-screening. Accessed February 3, 2021.
- 11. Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap) a metadatadriven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. J Biomed Inform 2009;42(2):377–81.
- 12. Sauer AG, Siegel RL, Jemal A, Fedewa SA. Updated review of prevalence of major risk factors and use of screening tests for cancer in the United States. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2017;26(8):1192–208.
- 13. Doubeni CA, Major JM, Laiyemo AO, Schootman M, Zauber AG, Hollenbeck AR, et al. Contribution of behavioral risk factors and obesity to socioeconomic differences in colorectal cancer incidence. J Natl Cancer Inst 2012;104(18):1353–62.
- 14. Cao Y, Willett WC, Rimm EB, Stampfer MJ, Giovannucci EL. Light to moderate intake of alcohol, drinking patterns, and risk of cancer: results from two prospective US cohort studies. BMJ 2015;351:h4238.
- 15. Luo S, Li JY, Zhao LN, Yu T, Zhong W, Xia ZS, et al. Diabetes mellitus increases the risk of colorectal neoplasia: an updated meta-analysis. Clin Res Hepatol Gastroenterol 2016; 40(1):110–23.
- 16. Butterworth AS, Higgins JP, Pharoah P. Relative and absolute risk of colorectal cancer for individuals with a family history: a meta-analysis. Eur J Cancer 2006;42(2):216–27.
- 17. Lutgens MW, van Oijen MG, van der Heijden GJ, Vleggaar FP, Siersema PD, Oldenburg B. Declining risk of colorectal cancer in inflammatory bowel disease: an updated metaanalysis of population-based cohort studies. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2013;19(4):789–99.
- 18. De Bruijn KM, Arends LR, Hansen BE, Leeflang S, Ruiter R, van Eijck CH. Systematic review and meta-analysis of the association between diabetes mellitus and incidence and mortality in breast and colorectal cancer. Br J Surg 2013; 100(11):1421–9.
- 19. Singh GK, Daus GP, Allender M, Ramey CT, Martin EK, Perry C, et al. Social determinants of health in the United States: addressing major health inequality trends for the nation, 1935–2016. Int J MCH AIDS 2017;6(2):139–64.
- 20. Caballero AE. Type 2 diabetes in the Hispanic or Latino population: challenges and opportunities. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes 2007;14(2):151-7.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

- 21. Bhupathiraju SN, Hu FB. Epidemiology of obesity and diabetes and their cardiovascular complications. Circ Res 2016;118(11):1723–35.
- 22. Shapiro JA, Klabunde CN, Thompson TD, Nadel MR, Seeff LC, White A. Patterns of colorectal cancer test use, including CT colonography, in the 2010 National Health Interview Survey. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2012; 21(6):895–904.
- 23. Mojica CM, Flores B, Ketchum NS, Liang Y. Health care access, utilization, and cancer screening among low-income Latina women. Hisp Health Care Int 2017;15(4):160–5.
- 24. Colorectal cancer facts and figures, 2020–2022. Atlanta (GA): American Cancer Society; 2020.
- 25. Rahman S, Mirza AS, Stenback J, Green S, Mayers Y, Iranmanesh E, et al. Burden of chronic conditions among patients from free clinics: a retrospective chart review of 2015. J Health Care Poor Underserved 2018;29(3):1011–26.
- 26. Hewitson P, Glasziou P, Irwig L, Towler B, Watson E. Screening for colorectal cancer using the faecal occult blood test, Hemoccult. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2007; 2007(1):CD00126.
- 27. Jandorf L, Ellison J, Villagra C, Winkel G, Varela A, Quintero-Canetti Z, et al. Understanding the barriers and facilitators of colorectal cancer screening among low income immigrant Hispanics. J Immigr Minor Health 2010; 12(4):462–9.
- 28. Hughes AG, Watanabe-Galloway S, Schnell P, Soliman AS. Rural–urban differences in colorectal cancer screening barriers in Nebraska. J Community Health 2015;40(6):1065–74.
- 29. van der Steen A, Knudsen AB, van Hees F, Walter GP, Berger FG, Daguise VG, et al. Optimal colorectal cancer screening in states' low-income, uninsured populations the case of South Carolina. Health Serv Res 2015;50(3):768–89.
- 30. Lairson DR, Kim J, Byrd T, Salaiz R, Shokar NK. Costeffectiveness of community interventions for colorectal cancer screening: low-income Hispanic population. Health Promot Pract 2018;19(6):863–72.
- 31. Jean-Jacques M, Kaleba EO, Gatta JL, Gracia G, Ryan ER, Choucair BN. Program to improve colorectal cancer screening in a low-income, racially diverse population: a randomized controlled trial. Ann Fam Med 2012;10(5):412–7.
- 32. Zein K, Courtney U, Yohan P, Brian A, Erin A, Felicia O, et al. A model for colon cancer screening at a free community clinic. Journal of Student-Run Clinics 2018;4(1).

### Tables

Table 1. Demographics of Uninsured Patients Serviced at 9 Free Clinics in Tampa Bay, Florida, 2016–2018<sup>a</sup>

Demographic Characteristic	ographic Characteristic All Patients (N = 5,139)		CRC Screening (n = 341)	<i>P</i> Value				
Age, median, y (IQR)	58 (54-62)	58 (54-62)	58 (54-61)	.35				
Sex								
Male	2,206 (43.2)	2,074 (43.6)	132 (38.7)					
Female	2,896 (56.8)	2,687 (56.4)	209 (61.3)	.09				
Missing	37 (0)	37 (0)	0					
Race/ethnicity								
White	1,649 (41.1)	1,504 (40.6)	145 (47.1)					
Black	507 (12.6)	465 (12.5)	42 (13.6)					
Asian	194 (4.8)	183 (4.9)	11 (3.6)	04				
Hispanic, all races	1,639 (40.8)	1,533 (41.4)	106 (34.4)	.04				
Other	26 (0.7)	22 (0.6)	4 (1.3)					
Missing	1,124 (0)	1,091 (0)	33 (0)					
Employment								
Employed	1,091 (45.1)	998 (44.4)	93 (54.4)					
Unemployed	1,327 (54.9)	1,249 (55.6)	78 (45.6)	.01				
Missing	2,721 (0)	2,551 (0)	170 (0)					

Abbreviations: CRC, colorectal cancer: IQR, interquartile range (quartile 1-quartile 3).

<sup>a</sup> Values are no. (%) unless otherwise indicated.

#### Table 2. Clinical Colorectal Cancer Risk Factors of Uninsured Patients Serviced at 9 Free Clinics in Tampa Bay, Florida, 2016–2018<sup>a</sup>

Risk Factor	All Patients (N = 5,139)	No CRC Screening (n = 4,798)	CRC Screening (n = 341)	<i>P</i> Value			
BMI, median, kg/m <sup>2</sup> (IQR)							
Sample	29.4 (25.4-34.2)	29.3 (25.4-34.2)	29.7 (25.6-34.4)	0.4			
Missing	1,546 (0) 1,527 (0)		19 (0)	.94			
Smoking status							
Active	725 (22.7)	656 (22.6)	69 (23.0)				
Past	594 (18.6)	525 (18.1)	69 (23.0)	00			
Never	1,879 (58.8)	1,717 (59.2)	162 (54.0)	.09			
Missing	1,941 (0)	1,900 (0)	41 (0)	(0)			
Alcohol consumption							
Active	771 (29.2)	663 (28.0)	108 (39.9)				
Past	192 (7.3)	163 (6.9)	29 (10.7)	< 001			
Never	1,676 (63.5)	1,542 (65.1)	134 (49.4)	<.001			
Missing	2,500 (0)	2,430 (0)	70 (0)				
Chronic illness							
Diabetes	1,455 (28.3)	1,342 (28.0)	113 (33.1)	.047			
Inflammatory bowel disease 23 (0.4)		17 (0.4)	6 (1.8)	<.001			

Abbreviations: CRC, colorectal cancer; BMI, body mass index; IQR, interquartile range.

<sup>a</sup> Values are no. (%) unless otherwise indicated.

Volume 18, E08

FEBRUARY 2021

**GIS SNAPSHOTS** 

## Visualizing Potential Effects of Dentist Retirements on Accessibility to Dental Care Among Children in Alabama, 2019

## Steven Samsel, MS<sup>1</sup>; Ryan Tramp, MBA<sup>1</sup>; Irem Sengul Orgut, PhD<sup>1</sup>; Nickolas Freeman, PhD<sup>1</sup>; Jason Parton, PhD<sup>1</sup>; Matthew Hudnall, PhD<sup>1</sup>; Dwight Lewis, PhD<sup>1</sup>

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2021/20\_0410.htm

*Suggested citation for this article:* Samsel S, Tramp R, Sengul Orgut I, Freeman N, Parton J, Hudnall M, et al. Visualizing Potential Effects of Dentist Retirements on Accessibility to Dental Care Among Children in Alabama, 2019. Prev Chronic Dis 2021;18:200410. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd18.200410.

#### PEER REVIEWED



Four maps show the distribution of population and dentists in Alabama. Map A shows the distribution of the population aged 20 or younger; Map B, the distribution of licensed dentists by age across counties (counties with fewer than 3 dentists are not included); Map C, the number of dentists within a 30-minute drive of a block group of 1,000 residents aged 20 or younger, standardized by a floating catchment method; and Map D, shows access to dentists per 1,000 residents aged 20 or younger, as predicted by a Monte Carlo simulation of dentist retirements. Maps B and C include dentists' data at the latitude and longitude point-level. Sources: 2018 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates (8), Alabama Board of Dental Examiners (9), Rural Health Research Center (13), ESRI StreetMap Premium ArcGIS Pro version 2.5.0 (Esri), Python version 3.4 (Jupyter Project), and NAD 1983 HARN StatePlane Alabama West FIPS 0102 (Esri).



The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

#### www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2021/20\_0410.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1

This publication is in the public domain and is therefore without copyright. All text from this work may be reprinted freely. Use of these materials should be properly cited.

### Background

Regular dental visits can prevent dental problems (1,2). Under half of the US population aged 44 or younger is estimated to have untreated dental caries (3), and regular dental care during childhood can benefit oral health outcomes as an adult (2). Despite this evidence, access to dental care in the United States remains a challenge, especially among economically or socially marginalized groups (4). In 2018, only 230,490 of 736,103 (31.3%) beneficiaries under age 21 enrolled in Alabama's Medicaid program used dental services (5). A crucial, but often overlooked barrier to dental accessibility in the United States is the aging of the dental workforce. In 2016, an estimated 40% of US dentists were aged 55 or older compared with 27% in 2001 (6). Data suggest that more than half of Alabama dentists are aged 50 or older (7), which indicates that a large number are expected to retire in the near future, which could result in a shortage of dentists.

The objective of our analysis was 2-fold. First, we aimed to highlight access to dentists among Alabamians aged 20 or younger in the context of evaluating a dental network adequacy policy that promotes access to dental care for all people aged 20 or younger, living 30 minutes or less of driving time from a licensed dentist. We then used national dentist retirement rates to describe the implications of such retirements on access to dental care.

### Data and methods

Our study focuses on dental accessibility among young Alabama residents (<21 y) where each block group (n = 3,437) population count of young residents, as recorded in American Community Survey 5-year estimates of the 2018 US Census (8), was represented as the geometric center of its respective block group. We define accessibility as geospatial proximity to a state-licensed dentist in relation to a person's home residence. The Alabama Board of Dental Examiners (9) provided 2020 data that was deidentified and geocoded at latitude and longitude point-levels. Statistics from the American Dental Association's Health Policy Institute (7) were used to estimate the likelihood of a dentist retiring in the upcoming year, based on the age provided in the dental provider data (10).

We used a 30-trial Monte Carlo simulation to simulate the effects of dentist retirements on access to dental care for residents aged 20 or younger. Similar to previous analyses (11), a 2-step floating catchment area method was employed to estimate accessibility to dentists in Alabama, and we used Monte Carlo methods to simulate future accessibility. We generated retirement scenarios that allowed us to assess the potential effect of dentist retirements on accessibility on the basis of the ages of currently practicing dentists and published retirement rates (10). Full systematic details on how this analysis was conducted with statistical formulas and Python code can be found at https://bit.ly/githubAccessBama.

Average differences and variances in accessibility estimates were observed in a simulation of dentist retirements to better understand differences in geospatial accessibility after accounting for the retirements. Comparisons of physical access to dental care by rurality augmented the retirement scenario. Rurality was operationalized by using the 2019 rural-urban commuting area codes from the Rural Health Research Center's 4-level categorization (Rural Health Research Center). Automobile travel times were generated by using ESRI Streetmap Premium 2019 (Esri). All analyses were generated with ArcGIS Pro 2.5.0 (Esri) and Python 3.4 (Jupyter Project) by using multiple libraries. We used the Kruskal-Wallis test to examine differences in accessibility scores by rurality. Although findings presented in this article reflect modeling assumptions (eg, applying a drive-time catchment threshold of 30 minutes) used by the American Dental Association in an earlier study (11), interactive maps with the ability to manipulate various assumptions are available on a Tableau Software public dashboard (Supplemental file at https://public.tableau.com/shared/ 23ZDYJ77R).

### Highlights

The percentage of dentists who were likely to retire within the calendar year was 2.5% for those aged 34 or younger; 2.3%, 35 to 44; 4.0%, 45 to 54; 15.9%, 55 to 64; 40.9%, 65 to 74; 61.4%, 75 to 84; and 80.6%, 85 or older. On the basis of map analyses describing accessibility, we came to 3 conclusions. First, young people's access to dentists appeared to be higher in Alabama urban areas than in rural areas (P < .001) (Table). The average accessibility score of an urban census block was about 1.28 dentists per 1,000 young people compared with about 0.85 dentists per 1,000 youngs in rural regions on average would be more affected by retirements, rural regions. Third, although the retirement of aging dentists appeared, potentially, to affect various areas of Alabama, the southwest corner of the state appeared to be the most vulnerable.

Observation of the Tableau software public dashboard suggested that modifying the travel time threshold to operationalize access had a greater effect on young people in urban areas than young people in the rural southwestern and lower-central regions of Alabama. The high density of dentists working in urban regions most likely accounts for this difference. Although we focused on the outflow of dentists, some studies suggest that dental school graduates are more likely to seek employment in urban areas than in rural areas (12), which suggests that our results would be more pronounced if we included inflow estimation rates. Our maps and

the online Tableau Software dashboard provide evidence that the potential retirement of aging dentists jeopardizes dental care access for young people in Alabama, especially those in rural areas. Stakeholders including the US Public Health Service (USPHS), the Alabama Medicaid Agency, and the Alabama Department of Public Health can utilize these preliminary findings to develop strategies for targeted investigations on possible clinical effects of this phenomenon. USPHS often provides incentives, such as scholarships and student loan forgiveness for enrolled clinicians willing to practice in underserved areas. The Alabama Medicaid Agency provides a significant amount of dental care to young people in Alabama, particularly those in rural areas where a large portion of citizens are enrolled in Medicaid.

### Actions

Our study has limitations. First, only license information for dentists in Alabama were used in analyses. Young people in counties that border the neighboring states might choose to use the service of a dentist not licensed in Alabama. Our analyses, therefore, may have edge effect biases. Another limitation is that we focus on dentists retiring (outflow) and do not consider new dentists joining the workforce (inflow). We do this to provide a worst-case estimation of future dental care accessibility; however, future studies may also incorporate the inflow of dentists. Nonetheless, strengths in our analyses balance its limitations.

Our study is one of the few analyses in Alabama to assess the relationship between dentist age and access to dental care. To our knowledge, this is the first study to visualize the effect of dentist retirements on dental care accessibility, which has the potential to serve as a preliminary step in a planning management strategy for the allocation of dentists in areas of need. Institutions outside of Alabama can use our methods to estimate accessibility in their regions to examine the effects of key policy decisions before implementation.

### Acknowledgments

The authors received no funding for the activities involved in this study, nor do they report any competing interests related to this article's content. No copyrighted materials were used in this article.

### Author Information

Corresponding Author: Steven Samsel, Culverhouse College of Business, The University of Alabama, Tuscaloosa, AL 35487. Telephone: 205-348-7261. Email: sasamsel@cba.ua.edu Author Affiliations: <sup>1</sup>Culverhouse College of Business, The University of Alabama, Tuscaloosa, Alabama.

### References

- 1. American Dental Association. Action for dental health: bringing disease prevention into communities. a statement from the American Dental Association. 2013 https:// www.ada.org/~/media/ADA/Public%20Programs/Files/ bringing-disease-prevention-to-communities\_adh.ashx. Accessed July 1, 2020.
- 2. Achembong LN, Kranz AM, Rozier RG. Office-based preventive dental program and statewide trends in dental caries. Pediatrics 2014;133(4):e827–34.
- 3. National Center for Health Statistics. Oral and dental health. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: US Department of Health and Human Services; 2017 https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/ fastats/dental.htm. Accessed 2020 July 1, 2020.
- 4. Bersell CH. Access to oral health care: a national crisis and call for reform. J Dent Hyg 2017;91(1):6–14.
- Alabama Medicaid Agency. Dental statistics FY 2010-2017. Montgomery, AL 2018 https://medicaid.alabama.gov/ documents/4.0\_Programs/4.2\_Medical\_Services/4.2.2\_Dental/ 4.2.2\_Dental\_Stats\_Report\_5-3-17.pdf. Accessed July 1, 2020.
- 6. Vujicic M. The "de-aging" of the dentist workforce. J Am Dent Assoc 2016;147(10):843–5.
- 7. American Dental Association Health Policy Institute. Dentist profile snapshot by state: 2016. https://www.ada.org/~/media/ ADA/Science%20and%20Research/HPI/Files/HPIData\_ Profile\_2016.xlsx?la=en. Accessed July 1, 2020.
- 8. US Census Bureau. American community survey 5-year estimates — geodatabase format 2020 https://www.census.gov/ geographies/mapping-files/time-series/geo/tiger-data.html. Accessed July 1, 2020.
- 9. Board of Dental Examiners of Alabama. (Licensing database not publicly available.) https://www.dentalboard.org/. Accessed December 28, 2021.
- 10. Munson B, Vujicic M. Supply of full-time equivalent dentists in the US expected to increase steadily. Health Policy Institute research brief of the American Dental Association. July. 2018. h t t p : // w w w . a d a . o r g / ~ / m e d i a / A D A / Science%20and%20Research/HPI/Files/HPIBrief\_0718\_1.pdf. Accessed December 7, 2020.
- Nasseh K, Eisenberg Y, Vujicic M. Geographic access to dental care varies in Missouri and Wisconsin. J Public Health Dent 2017;77(3):197–206.

- 12. Alter D. Where have all the dentists gone? A question laboratory owners may be asking in the coming years. Aegis Dental Network. 2016 https://www.aegisdentalnetwork.com/ idt/2016/12/trends-in-dentistry-where-have-all-the-dentistsgone. Accessed October 10, 2020.
- 13. Rural Health Research Center. RUCA Data: code definitions: Version 2.0. University of Washington: Seattle, WA 2019 https://depts.washington.edu/uwruca/ruca-maps.php. Accessed July 1, 2020.

### Table

Table. Potential Effects of Dentist Retirements on Children in Alabama: Descriptives and Accessibility Scores<sup>b,c,d</sup> by Rural Status<sup>a</sup>

Population	Urban	Large Rural	Small Rural	Isolated	Statewide
<20 y, n (%)	1,022,520 (78.5)	201,338 (15.5)	25,895 (2.0)	52,413 (4.0)	1,302,166 (100.0)
Block groups, n (%)	2,571 (74.8)	583 (17.0)	91 (2.6)	191 (5.6)	3,436 (100.0)
Percentile ranked baseline acces	sibility scores, providers per 2	L,000 population aged <18	Ву		
10th	0.46	0.44	0.32	0.25	0.43
25th	0.84	0.64	0.46	0.56	0.72
Median	1.28	0.80	0.64	0.77	1.12
75th	1.70	0.97	0.88	0.92	1.54
90th	2.24	1.42	1.09	1.32	2.11
Percentile ranked retirement simulated accessibility scores, providers per 1,000 population aged <18 y					
10th	0	0	0	0	0
25th	0.18	0	0	0	0.05
Median	0.71	0.70	0	0	0.66
75th	1.61	1.14	0.72	0.87	1.46
90th	2.58	1.90	1.26	1.79	2.41

<sup>a</sup> Rurality based on the Rural Health Research Center's 4-Level Categorization at https://depts.washington.edu/uwruca/ruca-maps.php.

<sup>b</sup> Baseline accessibility scores calculated using a 2-step floating catchment area.

<sup>c</sup> Simulated accessibility scores calculated using a 30-trial Monte Carlo simulation of a 2-step floating catchment area.

<sup>d</sup> Details on this analysis, including formulas and Python code can be found at https://bit.ly/githubAccessBama.

Volume 17, E159

DECEMBER 2020

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

## Needs of Individuals Living With Hepatitis Delta Virus and Their Caregivers, 2016–2019

Priyanka Kumar, MD, MPH<sup>1,2</sup>; Catherine Freeland, MPH<sup>2,3</sup>; Sierra Bodor<sup>3</sup>; Sean Farrell<sup>2,4</sup>; Chari Cohen, DrPH, MPH<sup>3</sup>; Rosemary Frasso, PhD, MSc<sup>2</sup>

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2020/20\_0324.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Kumar P, Freeland C, Bodor S, Farrell S, Cohen C, Frasso R. Needs of Individuals Living With Hepatitis Delta Virus and Their Caregivers, 2016–2019. Prev Chronic Dis 2020;17:200324. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd17.200324.

#### PEER REVIEWED

#### Summary

#### What is already known on this topic?

Hepatitis delta virus (HDV) is a rare viral infection of the liver with potentially life-threatening consequences. Because of the rarity of the disease and a general lack of awareness, many patients may have gaps in critical disease-specific knowledge.

#### What is added by this report?

Little is known about the experiences of patients living with HDV. This qualitative study may be among the first to examine experiences of patients living with HDV and their caregivers to assess this population's unique needs and challenges to care.

#### What are the implications for public health practice?

Identifying challenges to care and needs of HDV patients and their caregivers may help improve provider and public health practitioners' ability to educate and care for this population.

### Abstract

#### Introduction

Hepatitis delta virus (HDV) is a serious coinfection of the hepatitis B virus (HBV) that is estimated to affect between 48 to 72 million people worldwide. Data are limited on the informational needs of people living with HDV. The Hepatitis B Foundation, a US-based nonprofit organization that provides support to people living with HBV and HDV, receives emails (queries) as part of a helpline, a service to provide information, resources, and support to people affected by HBV and HDV.

#### Methods

Query content was analyzed to assess the impact of HDV at the individual level. A total of 65 HDV-related queries from 17 countries were received from October 2016 to January 2019, and all were analyzed for this study.

#### Results

Thematic analysis of queries indicated 4 dominant themes. Three were related to a need for information about 1) the disease and prevention of it, 2) disease symptoms and outcomes, and 3) treatment options. The fourth theme was related to barriers and quality of life. Individuals requested information on treatment options, medication access, diagnostic test interpretation, and clinical trials.

#### Conclusion

Our study highlights the needs and lived experience of patients with HDV and summarizes critical information gaps. Findings can inform health care providers, public health professionals, and the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries about the informational needs and lived experiences of individuals living with HDV and help create future HDV-related educational resources, care, and clinical trials.

### Introduction

Viral hepatitis accounts for an estimated 1.34 million deaths worldwide per year. Since 1990, viral hepatitis mortality has increased by 63%, and in 2017, hepatitis was the seventh leading cause of death in the world (1–4). Hepatitis delta virus (HDV) is a serious coinfection of HBV that is estimated to affect between 48 and 72 million people (13%–14.5%) (5–7) of the 292 million people living with chronic hepatitis B (CHB) worldwide (8).

Available data suggest that HBV–HDV coinfection is most prevalent in Central Asia, Eastern Europe, Central Latin America, and West and Central Africa (5–7). People most at risk for HBV–HDV coinfection are likely to be living in or have emigrated from these regions, have a history of intravenous drug use, are men who have



The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2020/20\_0324.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1

This publication is in the public domain and is therefore without copyright. All text from this work may be reprinted freely. Use of these materials should be properly cited.

sex with men, have HIV or hepatitis C virus (HCV), or have multiple sex partners (9,10). The rates of coinfection with HDV range from more than 10% to as high as 70% in countries in Africa, Asia, and parts of South America (11). In industrialized countries, such as Germany, England, and France, studies have shown recent increases in HDV prevalence (12,13). Epidemiologic and clinical research on HDV is sparse, contributing to an incomplete understanding of the actual disease burden, low global testing rates, and lack of effective treatments (12–14). Only people who already have CHB, or people who contract HBV and HDV through simultaneous exposure, can become infected (14), creating a defined risk group. Despite these factors, awareness among patients and providers is low, and treatment of HDV is far behind medical advancements for HBV and HCV (15,16).

No US Food and Drug Administration–approved treatment of HDV exists, and the only somewhat effective treatment is pegylated interferon, with only 25% to 30% of patients able to control the virus with weekly injections administered for at least 1 year (17,18). When coinfection is poorly controlled, patients are 3 times as likely to develop cirrhosis and liver cancer, compared with HBV infection alone. Approximately 70% to 90% of coinfected patients develop cirrhosis within 5 to 10 years (19–22). Despite its discovery more than 40 years ago, knowledge of HDV is limited, and little is known about the informational needs and experiences of people living with HDV.

### Methods

We analyzed HDV-related email queries sent to the Hepatitis B Foundation, a US-based nonprofit organization, from October 2016 through January 2019 to identify information gaps and understand the lived experience of patients with HDV. The nonprofit organization receives queries as part of a free helpline, a service to provide information, resources, and support to people affected by HBV–HDV coinfection. The helpline is run by trained community health education specialists who are knowledgeable about HBV and HBV–HDV coinfection, and it provides patients with general guidance, disease information, and referrals to physicians or other health care providers.

All HDV-related queries received over 28 months were collected and de-identified by a trained researcher (S.P.). Queries that initially were not in English (n = 2) were translated using an online translation tool. Codes were developed in 2 ways: a priori (informed by the literature) and through line-by-line reading of a subsample of queries. Each code was given an explicit definition to ensure coding accuracy and improve intercoder reliability (23,24). Coding was performed by using NVivo12 software (QRS International), and all data were independently coded by 2 members of the research team (S.F., P.K.). Intercoder reliability was assessed by using the  $\kappa$  coefficient to identify coding discrepancies. The analysis team met (P.K., S.F., C.F., R.F.) throughout the coding process to discuss and resolve coding discrepancies until an acceptable final  $\kappa$  was achieved. Three of 19 codes had a mean  $\kappa$  of less than 0.75. These codes were examined in more detail by the analysis team so that coding discrepancies could be resolved, and  $\kappa$  scores were recalculated. This study was approved by the Heartland institutional review board and acknowledged by the Thomas Jefferson University institutional review board.

### Results

A total of 65 HDV-related queries were received from October 2016 to September 2019 and were included in this analysis. Most queries were from Romania (n = 11, 16.9%), Pakistan (n =10, 15.4%), and the United States (n = 9, 13.8%) (Table). Just over half of individuals identified themselves within the queries; of these, 31% self-identified as living with HBV–HDV coinfection (n = 20), and the remainder reported being caregivers, family, or friends of those with HDV (n = 10, 15%) or providers (n = 4, 6%). The mean adjusted final  $\kappa$  was 0.91 (range, 0.78–1.00), corresponding to near perfect intercoder agreement. Thematic analysis of queries identified 4 dominant themes, 3 related to a need for information about 1) the disease and its prevention, 2) disease symptoms and outcomes, and 3) treatment options.

## Need for information on HDV diagnosis and prevention

People living with HDV and their family, friends, and caregivers often had questions about a new diagnosis of HDV, explicitly conveying questions about how to interpret diagnostic laboratory findings. For instance, one individual was unsure whether HDVpositive results meant a worsening or spread of an existing disease (HBV) or was a new infection. An example of this theme came from the following query: "I tested positive for HBV in 2012, and all I was told is that it would clear. No medication was prescribed. Yesterday I went for another test and was told that [it is] HDV. . . I do not understand what this means. [Is] this a new infection, or the disease is spreading?" After being diagnosed with both HBV and HDV, one patient wondered why their hepatitis results had drastically changed, despite being on medications, and asked for clarification of these results: "I have been on peg-Interferon for 12 weeks and Baraclude for 1 year. Now my enzymes are sky high, but my HBsAg has dropped to 26,000. At the same time, [my] HBV viral load has increased significantly. My question is, why has my viral load increased?"

Individuals receiving an initial diagnosis of HDV tended to have general questions about the disease. These questions asked either

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

for advice on immediate next steps to take (eg, "What do I need to do?") or for clarification about an HDV diagnosis (eg, "What [is] the meaning of delta virus?") After receiving a diagnosis of HDV from their physician, another patient was notified of the rarity of the disease and re-emphasized the need for more information (eg, "Do you know of people with both hep B and D [and basal core mutation] or have any information on this?") Patients and family members of those with HDV also had concerns about disease transmission. One query asked about how HDV was contracted in order to avoid the disease. Other patients and family members had questions about specific modes of disease transmission. For instance, another individual, the fiancé of someone living with HDV, had concerns about sexual transmission. This individual described, "My fiancé has just been presently diagnosed with hepatitis D infection. Am I safe or at risk of infection after sex/intimacy with him? Please, I need clarification." Those living with HDV and family members wanted additional information about how to prevent HDV ("Please, how is hep D contracted and [what are] ways to avoid contracting the virus?") or expressed confusion about an HBV-HDV diagnosis, despite taking preventive measures. "I kindly need [some] help to figure this [out,] as [I] am not sure why [I] was negative . . . got the preventive shots and all of a sudden now the results are showing positive as in having a chronic hep B infection." A pregnant woman worried about transmission to her newborn and asked for methods to prevent potential harm from the disease for her child: "We're expecting a baby in a month's time. What can I do to protect the baby?"

#### Understanding disease symptoms and outcomes

Patients with HDV described concerns about the risk of liver cancer or liver damage due to the disease. Sometimes patients asked about mechanisms through which HDV increased liver damage (eg, "I would like to know how hepatitis D [coinfection] comes about increasing the severity of the liver condition") or shared information about newly diagnosed liver damage that surprised them. One participant stated, "I have what I've been told is a rare situation. Early this year tests came back that I had cirrhosis and another hepatitis, hep D (delta), along with the hep B, plus a basal core mutation, making me at high risk for liver cancer." Often, patients and family members were curious about specific symptoms and wondered whether these could be attributed to HDV or other causes. "I have chronic hepatitis B and also 'have' hepatitis D (delta). I have multiple symptoms (abdominal pain, back pain, nausea, etc) that may or may not be related to my hepatitis. . . . We've been trying to determine the cause of my symptoms for years, thus if you happen to have any information on the above or are able to point me to where I can get more info, that would be greatly appreciated."

#### **Treatment options**

The need for clinical trials was the most salient aspect of "Treatment Options" and represented 16.9% (n = 11) of all queries that were included (N = 65). Patients and caregivers in many countries wanted to know about the availability of clinical trials in their own country and asked for information on how to register for and participate in these trials. One individual asked, "Is there [an] open phase 3 hepatitis delta clinical trial? Could you tell me how to register to participate?"

Patients also showed interest in finding curative treatments for HDV, especially when faced with a new diagnosis of the disease. "I have had hepatitis B for nearly 10 years and recently found out that I also have hepatitis D. I can't say I am feeling well. Isn't there any cure found for these?" Queries contained a variety of questions on medication, including recommendations for the newest and best medications, medication availability in certain countries, and advice on current medication regimens. The following is an excerpt from a query about the best medication recommendations after a patient was given a diagnosis of HDV.

"[Could] you please help me to find or recommend [to] me any latest best medication for this diagnosis?" Patients and family members of those with HDV were also very interested in treatment options. Questions included whether there were any treatments for HDV and what new treatments were available. "My mom is suffering from Hepatitis Delta. Is there any treatment for that virus?"

When faced with a new diagnosis of HDV, patients asked whether there were any lifestyle modifications they could make to improve the quality of life with the disease or discussed lifestyle modifications they had already implemented. These lifestyle modifications were often made in conjunction with medications and included eating healthy and abstaining from certain habits, such as smoking and drinking. "Right now, I take only those medicines, I try to eat healthy and I try to rest how much I can. I don't drink alcohol and I don't smoke. Should I do other things?"

In addition to Western medicine or treatment modalities, some patients opted to try alternative therapies for their HBV–HDV, which included herbal or plant-based supplements. Patients using herbal or "natural" treatments often used these in conjunction with Western medications and reported using herbal treatments after they had tried other treatment options. "After I searched other treatment for my diseases, I discovered a clinic with natural drugs: SECOM. I was there and the doctor gave me a personal treatment. After 2 months taking these, ALT has normal value and AST is bigger with only 11 units."

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

#### Barriers to care and quality of life

Patients and caregivers or other family members sometimes noted different barriers to adequate care, including poverty, access to doctors or medication, or language barriers. Poverty was the most commonly noted reason for requesting help and more information. One individual described, "I need your help because [I] belong to a [low-income] family." People living with HDV and their family members often felt worried, shocked, scared, and uncertain after receiving a diagnosis of HDV. One person living with HDV was very worried and expressed explicit concerns about how long they could live with the disease, stating, "I just found out that I have hepatitis B and D together. . . . How long can I live? What should I do? [Please], help me! I'm so scared."

### Discussion

Qualitative analysis of queries received by the Hepatitis B Foundation indicated that people living with HDV and their family members had considerable concerns and the need for information that were related to 4 distinct thematic categories: 1) disease knowledge and prevention, 2) disease symptoms and outcomes, 3) treatment options, and 4) barriers and quality of life. People living with HDV and their family members and friends requested information on treatment options, medication access, diagnostic test interpretation, and availability of clinical trials. Questions about the availability of clinical trials and how to register for such trials was the most common topic among all queries.

To our knowledge, this study is the only one that qualitatively examines the experiences and needs of people living with HDV and their family members to assess needs and barriers in this population. Prior studies have used qualitative methods to explore various HBV patient experiences, including initial responses to disease, stigma associated with the disease, stress and anxiety about one's health, and concerns about premature death (25-30), but to our knowledge none have examined the impact of HBV-HDV coinfection. This study showed similar sentiments and family members expressed worry about loved ones with HDV, which often manifested in searches for treatment options. People who received an initial diagnosis of HDV also expressed fear and anxiety, which was reflected in concerns about lifespan with the disease and confusion about the diagnosis. Despite these similarities, HDV patient experiences may be unique from those with HBV, HCV, or both because of the rareness of the condition and a lack of disease awareness among the general public. Future research should examine the differences between HDV patient experiences compared with HCV and HBV patient experiences.

Another notable commonality between this study's findings and those of others is the lack of disease knowledge and lack of knowledge of treatment and screening options for viral hepatitis (27,29,31). People who sent queries about HDV had little knowledge of HDV but showed interest in furthering their knowledge, especially with regard to treatments and clinical trial research. These findings indicate the need for improved efforts to educate people who are diagnosed with HDV about their disease with the goal of increasing patient and caregiver knowledge. More knowledge about the disease among people living with HBV increases patient acceptance of disease and self-efficacy in disease management (29), which, based on our findings, could also be the case for those living with HDV. Future research should explore the relationship between HDV disease knowledge and patient self-efficacy in disease management.

Most qualitative literature about people living with viral hepatitis focuses on varied aspects of HBV and HCV patient experiences, in particular, the stigma associated with the disease, lack of disease knowledge, poor quality of life, and the complex emotions associated with having the disease. None of the queries we analyzed contained questions or content that referred to stigma or discrimination associated with HDV, possibly because patients had more immediate concerns about managing their health condition. No qualitative study has explored the needs and barriers of HDV patients, who may face more urgent needs related to treating and controlling disease progression (26,32), so more research is needed to understand stigma in the context of HDV.

In our study, people affected by HDV needed information about types of treatment options available to them, medication access, diagnostic test interpretation, and availability and location of clinical trials, the latter being the most common topic of all queries. These questions suggest that individuals with HDV may have challenges accessing medication, physicians with adequate knowledge about the disease, and clinical trials, and more work is needed to fully understand these challenges. Our findings also suggest that the subset of individuals who emailed queries specifically related to treatment may have already done online research about HDV before sending an email query. For example, many individuals who inquired about clinical trials mentioned hepatitis-specific medications and prepared detailed questions about interpretations of laboratory test results.

Results of this study emphasize the importance of targeted, patient-centered education for patients with HDV, and future education should focus on clarifying laboratory results, treatment options, medication access, and clinical trial resources for this population. Given the complex set of emotional, medical, and lifestyle factors that affect patients with HDV, materials should also be delivered accessibly and at the appropriate level of health literacy for those affected. Globally, patients with HBV–HDV coinfection may be more likely to be from more rural, isolated, or lower-

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

income countries. Providers, especially those managing patients with HBV–HDV coinfection (primarily hepatologists), and public health professionals have a critical role in disseminating this information to patients because of their disease-specific knowledge and areas of expertise.

#### Strengths and limitations

Our sample was people with HDV who sent email queries to a nonprofit helpline, so it may not be representative of the larger HDV-affected population. The queries analyzed in this study were limited to those received by the Hepatitis B Foundation. Many queries were from the United States, an industrialized country with a known lower incidence of HDV but with higher awareness. Because the Hepatitis B Foundation is US-based, Americans living with HDV and their caregivers may be more familiar with the foundation's work and have more access to their resources, so our results are subject to regional bias.

Our data consisted only of email queries and did not include other forms of correspondence, such as in-person visits or queries received via mail, telephone, or social media platforms, so our sample may be less representative of the total population of patients with HDV. However, telephone calls to the Hepatitis B Foundation, are not recorded, so the ability to obtain these data was limited. Email queries were chosen for this analysis as the initial stage of this research. In the future, we hope to expand on this research to explore queries sent via social media platforms, including Instagram, Facebook, and Twitter. We expect that concerns will be similar to those of people using email. The sole use of email-based correspondence also may have affected sample representativeness because it limits the sample to people who have access to working internet (or electricity) and email accounts. Given the distribution of HDV in industrialized countries in Asia and Africa, many HDV patients may tend to live in less resource-rich environments. Our sample may not be representative of the larger HDV-affected population.

#### Conclusion

This qualitative research indicated knowledge gaps among patients with HDV related to disease prevention, transmission risk to close family members, disease symptoms and long-term outcomes, and treatment options as well as barriers to care and overall quality of life. Our findings expand on the needs and barriers of individuals directly affected by HDV. A summary of these queries will be shared with providers who treat patients with HDV to help them expand their knowledge and understanding of the needs of their patients and their caregivers, and the data will be used to create more resources tailored to meet the unique needs of people living with HDV. Our findings may also be used to better understand the information needs, challenges, and quality of life implications of patients with HDV to inform clinical trial designs and the development of new treatments. Like other chronic viral hepatitis patients, those affected by HDV need more education on certain aspects of their disease. Although our findings are not representative of the larger HDV global population, we believe that they support the claim of a larger knowledge gap that exists surrounding HDV. Because people living with HDV and their family members tended to need more information on treatment options, medication access, diagnostic test interpretation, and clinical trials, providers and public health organizations therefore have the most crucial role in educating people with HDV and their families. Ultimately, targeted education interventions for this patient population are important because they can improve self-efficacy in disease management and overall quality of life. Future research is needed to fully understand the impact HDV has on the lives of people who are affected, and the knowledge gained from this research will help guide future research projects and outreach initiatives for those affected by HDV. We hope our findings can help educate providers, public health professionals, and the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries on the needs of individuals living with HDV, so we can collectively address them.

### Acknowledgments

We declare no potential conflicts of interest involved in the research, authorship, or publication of this article. The authors received no financial support for the research, authorship, or publication of this article, and no copyrighted materials or tools were used in this research.

### Author Information

Corresponding Author: Priyanka Kumar, MD, MPH, 101 The City Drive S, Suite 400, Orange, CA 92868. Telephone: 714-456-5691. Email: prkumar@hs.uci.edu.

Author Affiliations: <sup>1</sup>Sidney Kimmel Medical College at Thomas Jefferson University, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. <sup>2</sup>Jefferson College of Population Health, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. <sup>3</sup>Hepatitis B Foundation, Doylestown, Pennsylvania. <sup>4</sup>Geisinger Commonwealth School of Medicine, Scranton, Pennsylvania.

### References

1. Spearman CW, Afihene M, Ally R, Apica B, Awuku Y, Cunha L, et al.; Gastroenterology and Hepatology Association of sub-Saharan Africa. Hepatitis B in sub-Saharan Africa: strategies to achieve the 2030 elimination targets. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2017;2(12):900–9.

- 2. Naghavi M, Abajobir AA, Abbafati C, Abbas KM, Abd-Allah F, Abera SF, et al.. Global, regional, and national age-sex specific mortality for 264 causes of death, 1980–2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. Lancet 2017;390(10100):1151–210.
- 3. World Health Organization. WHO global hepatitis report; 2017. http://www.who.int/hepatitis/publications/global-hepatitis-report2017/en/. Accessed May 10, 2020.
- 4. Stanaway JD, Flaxman AD, Naghavi M, et al. The global burden of viral hepatitis from 1990 to 2013: findings from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. Lancet 2016; 388(10049):1081-8.
- 5. Stanaway JD, Flaxman AD, Naghavi M, Fitzmaurice C, Vos T, Abubakar I, et al. The global burden of viral hepatitis from 1990 to 2013: findings from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. Lancet 2016;388(10049):1081–8.
- 6. Miao Z, Zhang S, Ou X, Li S, Ma Z, Wang W, et al. Estimating the global prevalence, disease progression, and clinical outcome of hepatitis delta virus infection. J Infect Dis 2020;221(10):1677–87.
- 7. Chen HY, Shen DT, Ji DZ, et al.Prevalence and burden of hepatitis D virus infection in the global population: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Gut 2018Sep 18; (2018):316601.
- 8. Shen DT, Ji DZ, Chen HY, Goyal H, Pan S, Xu HG. Hepatitis D: not a rare disease anymore: global update for 2017–2018. Gut 2020;69(4):786–8.
- 9. Razavi-Shearer D, Gamkrelidze I, Nguyen MH, Chen D-S, Van Damme P, Abbas Z, et al.; Polaris Observatory Collaborators. Global prevalence, treatment, and prevention of hepatitis B virus infection in 2016: a modelling study. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018;3(6):383–403.
- 10. Buti M, Homs M, Rodriguez-Frias F, Funalleras G, Jardí R, Sauleda S, et al. Clinical outcome of acute and chronic hepatitis delta over time: a long-term follow-up study. J Viral Hepat 2011;18(6):434-42.
- Terrault NA, Lok ASF, McMahon BJ, Chang KM, Hwang JP, Jonas MM, et al. Update on prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of chronic hepatitis B: AASLD 2018 hepatitis B guidance. Hepatology 2018;67(4):1560–99.
- 12. Hughes SA, Wedemeyer H, Harrison PM. Hepatitis delta virus. Lancet 2011;378(9785):73–85.
- Heidrich B, Deterding K, Tillmann HL, Raupach R, Manns MP, Wedemeyer H. Virological and clinical characteristics of delta hepatitis in Central Europe. J Viral Hepat 2009; 16(12):883–94.
- 14. Cross TJ, Rizzi P, Horner M, Jolly A, Hussain MJ, Smith HM, et al. The increasing prevalence of hepatitis delta virus (HDV) infection in South London. J Med Virol 2008;80(2):277–82.

- 15. Wedemeyer H, Heidrich B, Manns MP. Hepatitis D virus infection not a vanishing disease in Europe! Hepatology 2007;45(5):1331–2, author reply 1332–3.
- 16. Rizzetto M, Canese MG, Gerin JL, London WT, Sly DL, Purcell RH. Transmission of the hepatitis B virus-associated delta antigen to chimpanzees. J Infect Dis 1980; 141(5):590–602.
- 17. Wang XY, Chen HS. Emerging antivirals for the treatment of hepatitis B. World J Gastroenterol 2014;20(24):7707–17.
- 18. Botelho-Souza LF, Vasconcelos MPA, Dos Santos AO, Salcedo JMV, Vieira DS. Hepatitis delta: virological and clinical aspects. Virol J 2017;14(1):177.
- 19. Gilman C, Heller T, Koh C. Chronic hepatitis delta: a state-ofthe-art review and new therapies. World J Gastroenterol 2019; 25(32):4580–97.
- 20. Romeo R, Del Ninno E, Rumi M, Russo A, Sangiovanni A, de Franchis R, et al. A 28-year study of the course of hepatitis delta infection: a risk factor for cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma. Gastroenterology 2009;136(5):1629–38.
- 21. Gish RG, Yi DH, Kane S, Clark M, Mangahas M, Baqai S, et al. Coinfection with hepatitis B and D: epidemiology, prevalence and disease in patients in Northern California. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2013;28(9):1521–5.
- 22. Smedile A, Dentico P, Zanetti A, Sagnelli E, Nordenfelt E, Actis GC, et al. Infection with the delta agent in chronic HBsAg carriers. Gastroenterology 1981;81(6):992–7.
- 23. Hepatitis D. World Health Organization hepatitis fact sheets. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/hepatitis-d. Accessed May 10, 2020.
- 24. Glaser BG, Strauss AL. The discovery of grounded theory: strategies for qualitative research. Observations. Chicago (IL): Aldine; 1967.
- 25. Adjei CA, Stutterheim SE, Naab F, Ruiter RAC. Chronic hepatitis B stigma in Ghana: a qualitative study with patients and providers. BMJ Open 2019;9(6):e025503.
- 26. Taheri Ezbarami Z, Hassani P, Zagheri Tafreshi M, Alavi Majd H. A qualitative study on individual experiences of chronic hepatitis B patients. Nurs Open 2017;4(4):310–8.
- 27. Hamdiui N, Stein ML, van der Veen YJJ, van den Muijsenbergh METC, van Steenbergen JE. Hepatitis B in Moroccan-Dutch: a qualitative study into determinants of screening participation. Eur J Public Health 2018; 28(5):916-22.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

- 28. Jones L, Atkinson A, Porcellato L, et al.Final report: a systematic review of qualitative research on the views, perspectives and experiences of hepatitis B and C testing among practitioners and people at greatest risk of infection. http://allcatsrgrey.org.uk/wp/download/public\_health/ substance\_misuse/A-systematic-review-of-qualitativeresearch-on-the-views-perspectives-and-experiences-ofhepatitis-B-and-C-testing-among-practitioners-and-people-atgreatest-risk-of-infection.pdf. Accessed May 10, 2020.
- 29. Tu T, Block JM, Wang S, Cohen C, Douglas MW. The lived experience of chronic hepatitis B: a broader view of its impacts and why we need a cure. Viruses 2020;12(5):515.
- Valizadeh L, Zamanzadeh V, Negarandeh R, Zamani F, Hamidia A, Zabihi A. Psychological reactions among patients with chronic hepatitis B: a qualitative study. J Caring Sci 2016; 5(1):57–66.
- 31.Ng CJ, Low WY, Wong LP, Sudin MR, Mohamed R. Uncovering the experiences and needs of patients with chronic hepatitis B infection at diagnosis: a qualitative study. Asia Pac J Public Health 2013;25(1):32–40.
- 32. Hajarizadeh B, Wallace J, Richmond J, Ngo N, Enright C. Hepatitis B knowledge and associated factors among people with chronic hepatitis B. Aust N Z J Public Health 2015; 39(6):563-8.

### Table

Table. Frequency of HDV-Related Queries (N = 65) to the Hepatitis B Foundation<sup>a</sup>, by Country (n = 17), 2016–2019

Country	Query Frequency (%) (n = 65)
Romania	11 (16.9)
Pakistan	10 (15.4)
United States	9 (13.8)
Mongolia	4 (6.2)
Uzbekistan	3 (4.6)
Brazil	2 (3.1)
Ghana	2 (3.1)
Egypt	1 (1.5)
Finland	1 (1.5)
Germany	1 (1.5)
India	1 (1.5)
Kenya	1 (1.5)
Mauritania	1 (1.5)
Netherlands	1 (1.5)
Singapore	1 (1.5)
Spain	1 (1.5)
Uganda	1 (1.5)

Abbreviation: HDV, hepatitis delta virus.

<sup>a</sup> The Hepatitis B Foundation is a US-based nonprofit organization.

Volume 18, E34

APRIL 2021

GIS SNAPSHOTS

## A Comparison of Community Resources for Chinese Immigrants Across Philadelphia Neighborhoods

### Ava Wagner<sup>1</sup>; Vikram Bellamkonda<sup>1</sup>; Russell White, MS<sup>2</sup>; Emily Walton, PhD<sup>3</sup>; Carolyn Y. Fang, PhD<sup>4</sup>; Marilyn Tseng, PhD<sup>5</sup>

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2021/20\_0615.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Wagner A, Bellamkonda V, White R, Walton E, Fang CY, Tseng M. A Comparison of Community Resources for Chinese Immigrants Across Philadelphia Neighborhoods. Prev Chronic Dis 2021;18:200615. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd18.200615.



Distribution of neighborhoods and services in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, by density of ethnic Chinese residents, from 2014–2018 estimates. Map A shows percentages by neighborhood, highlighting those with a density of 8.7% or more. Map B shows locations of 6 types of community resources for Chinese residents overlaid on Map A to illustrate resource distribution in relation to population density. Geographic proximity of resources corresponds overall to neighborhood density of Chinese residents. However, not all types of resources are equally distributed, indicating they are unavailable to residents of some neighborhoods. Data sources: Chinese demographic data are from the American Community Survey 2018 (5-Year Estimates), prepared by Social Explorer (1). Boundaries for Philadelphia neighborhoods data are from OpenDataPhilly, developed by Azavea Inc (2). Community resource data are from the Chinese *Philadelphia Yellow Pages* (3).



The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2021/20\_0615.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1

This publication is in the public domain and is therefore without copyright. All text from this work may be reprinted freely. Use of these materials should be properly cited.

### Background

Chinese immigrants are the third-largest non-US-born population in the US (4). Although these immigrants have lower rates of obesity and obesity-related conditions than people of other races/ ethnicities, such health advantages decrease with increasing length of US residence (5,6). This increased risk for chronic disease has been attributed primarily to acculturation to Western lifestyle norms; however, trajectories may vary depending on the environment in which immigrants reside (7). Ethnic enclaves are ethnically, spatially, and socially distinctive communities with sizable immigrant populations that have been shown to promote wellbeing with their concentration of health-related, cultural, and social resources (8). Such resources include health care providers and retail food stores that share their language and culture, and gathering spaces for social interactions, such as churches (9,10). Research among elderly immigrants has shown that the incorporation of Chinese cultural symbols in the physical spaces they inhabit increases immigrants' sense of belonging (11). Access to cultural resources, such as places of worship and schools, may also yield tangible health benefits over time (12). The interpersonal connections, social networks, and sense of cohesion and belonging fostered in environments that are socially and culturally resourcerich may increase Chinese residents' social capital, which has been associated with a wide range of positive health outcomes, including reduced risk for chronic disease (10,13).

The Philadelphia metropolitan area is among the top 10 destinations for Chinese immigrants to the US. Of the approximately 37,000 ethnic Chinese people who resided in Philadelphia according to 2014-2018 estimates, 60% were non-US-born (1). The availability and locations of various types of community resources in neighborhoods of high ethnic Chinese density could help direct immigrants toward the resources they need and help determine where resources are still needed. However, such information is largely unavailable. As part of a study of Chinese immigrants residing in Philadelphia, we mapped the spatial distribution of 8 types of health-related Chinese community resources, overlayed on the density of Chinese residents in neighborhoods across the city. Our objective was to show the relative proximity of such resources to the neighborhoods with high concentrations of ethnic Chinese residents and areas with high density but few resources.

### Data and Methods

To identify community resources for the largely non-US-born Chinese population residing in Philadelphia, we used the most current online Chinese version of the *Philadelphia Yellow Pages* (3). We further investigated these resources by using Google searches to verify that they targeted Chinese clients through Chineselanguage advertising or other information. We then categorized each as one of 6 types of resources: primary health care provider (n = 46) (ie, family medicine, internal medicine, pediatrics, Chinese medicine, dentistry), places of worship (n = 14), business and cultural associations (n = 16), supermarkets (n = 29), other businesses (n = 43) (ie, accounting, insurance, banks, real estate), or other services (n = 10) (ie, employment, funeral, English language, education). The address of each resource was geocoded and color-coded, then mapped as a layer in ArcGIS 10.8 (ESRI). Each resource map was then overlaid on a map showing neighborhoods by density of ethnic Chinese residents.

We defined geospatial neighborhood boundaries by using a web map (2) of Philadelphia neighborhoods. We used 2018 American Community Survey 5-year estimates to calculate census tract-level density of ethnic Chinese residents as the number of people of Chinese origin, excluding Taiwanese people, divided by the total population of the census tract (1). The census tract-level data were aggregated within neighborhood boundaries according to the proportion of their spatial areas that fell within the boundaries. For example, a census tract that fell completely within a given neighborhood was included in its entirety, but for a census tract that fell only halfway within a given neighborhood, only 50% of its population was included. We categorized ethnic Chinese density in 5 ranges (0%-1.2%, 1.3%-3.6%, 3.8%-7.8%, 8.7%-14.0%, and 26.8%–46.8%) by using the Jenks method, which identified natural breaks in the distribution of ethnic density. We used a grayscale to illustrate the levels of ethnic density. We designated neighborhoods in the top 2 categories (>8.7%) as having high ethnic Chinese density.

### Highlights

Across 157 Philadelphia neighborhoods, 3 contiguous neighborhoods in Center City had the highest concentrations of ethnic Chinese residents: Chinatown, 46.9%; Center City East, 26.8%; and Callowhill, 14.0%. They were followed by 3 clusters of adjacent neighborhoods: South Philadelphia (Greenwich, 13.4%; Passyunk Square, 12.7%; East Passyunk, 12.0%; Stadium District, 9.9%; Whitman, 9.1%), West Philadelphia (Spruce Hill, 11.1%; University City, 9.1%; Woodland Terrace, 8.7%), and the Northeast (Oxford Circle, 10.1%). Community resources were heavily concentrated in these 4 areas. In particular, of the 158 resources that we mapped, 76 (48.1%) were located in the 3 Center City neighborhoods centered on Chinatown - mostly supermarkets, businesses, and business and cultural associations. These 3 Center City neighborhoods were the only ones that also contained all 6 resource types, primarily because 15 of the 16 business and cultural associations were located in these neighborhoods.

Chinese-speaking health care providers, although concentrated in Chinatown and near South Philadelphia, were widely distributed

across the city, even in areas of low ethnic Chinese density. In contrast, businesses were concentrated in Center City, South Philadelphia, and Oxford Circle, although Oxford Circle did not have supermarkets. The West and South Philadelphia neighborhoods and Oxford Circle had fewer places of worship; places of worship in the Northeast were located in the neighborhood of Olney, which is southwest of Oxford Circle. The neighborhoods of Franklin Mills and East Kensington lacked any resources despite their relatively high ethnic density (7.5% and 7.4%, respectively).

### Action

Our maps have 2 primary implications for preventing chronic disease among Chinese immigrants. First, they help identify neighborhoods of high ethnic Chinese density with few nearby culturespecific resources, and they highlight the specific types of resources that are lacking. As such, the maps can complement needs assessments targeting neighborhoods with Chinese immigrants to determine the types of resources that might be fostered in these areas. In turn, needs assessments can inform future iterations of these maps by incorporating additional types of resources and ways to categorize these resources. Second, the maps inform Chinese immigrants in these areas who might not be aware of the full range of social and cultural resources in the city beyond their immediate neighborhoods.

These maps also suggest that Chinese immigrants do not limit themselves to the resources in their immediate residential environment. This idea of "heterolocality" (14) points to the importance of studying how immigrants navigate their environments to meet their social and cultural needs and preferences.

### Acknowledgments

The authors thank Wanzi Yang and Cici Xiao for their help locating and preparing data on Chinese community resources. Our work was supported in part by the Frost Summer Undergraduate Research Award from the College of Science and Math at California Polytechnic State University, and by the National Institutes of Health (grant numbers R01 DK104176 and R01 MD010520). Our use of any products mentioned in our manuscript does not represent endorsement of the product. No copyrighted material was used in this article.

### Author Information

Corresponding Author: Ava Wagner, 390 Hathway Ave, San Luis Obispo, CA 93405. Telephone: 808-651-1543. Email: acwagner@calpoly.edu.

Author Affiliations: <sup>1</sup>Fourth-year Bachelor of Science candidate, California Polytechnic State University, San Luis Obispo, California. <sup>2</sup>Robert E. Kennedy Library, California Polytechnic State University, San Luis Obispo, California. <sup>3</sup>Department of Sociology, Dartmouth College, Hanover, New Hampshire. <sup>4</sup>Cancer Prevention and Control Program, Fox Chase Cancer Center, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. <sup>5</sup>Department of Kinesiology and Public Health, California Polytechnic State University, San Luis Obispo, California.

### References

- 1. Social Explorer. Data from the American Community Survey 2018(5-Year Estimates). http://www.socialexplorer.com/pub/reportdata/HtmlResults.aspx?reportid=R12610620. Accessed September 03, 2020.
- 2. Azavea Inc. Philadelphia neighborhoods. 2014. https:// www.opendataphilly.org/dataset/philadelphia-neighborhoods. Accessed November 27, 2020.
- 3. Jinti.Net. Philadelphia yellow pages in Chinese. https:// philadelphia.jinti.net/yellowpages/. Accessed Jul 27, 2020
- Echeverria-Estrada C, Batalova J. Chinese immigrants in the United States. Online Journal of Migration Policy Institute. 2020. https://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/chineseimmigrants-united-states-2018. Accessed November 25, 2020.
- 5. Gordon NP, Lin TY, Rau J, Lo JC. Aggregation of Asian-American subgroups masks meaningful differences in health and health risks among Asian ethnicities: an electronic health record based cohort study. BMC Public Health 2019; 19(1):1551.
- 6. Rajpathak SN, Wylie-Rosett J. High prevalence of diabetes and impaired fasting glucose among Chinese immigrants in New York City. J Immigr Minor Health 2011;13(1):181–3.
- 7. Goel MS, McCarthy EP, Phillips RS, Wee CC. Obesity among US immigrant subgroups by duration of residence. JAMA 2004;292(23):2860–7.
- 8. Williams AD, Messer LC, Kanner J, Ha S, Grantz KL, Mendola P. Ethnic enclaves and pregnancy and behavior outcomes among Asian/Pacific Islanders in the USA. J Racial Ethn Health Disparities 2020;7(2):224–33.
- 9. Weng SS. Asset mapping for an Asian American community: informal and formal resources for community building. Interv Psicosoc 2016;25(1):55–62.
- 10. Eriksson M. Social capital and health implications for health promotion. Glob Health Action 2011;4(1):5611.
- 11. Hsu Y. Feeling at home in Chinatown —voices and narratives of Chinese monolingual seniors in Montreal. J Int Migr Integr 2014;15(2):331–47.
- 12. Johansson SE, Konlaan BB, Bygren LO. Sustaining habits of attending cultural events and maintenance of health: a longitudinal study. Health Promot Int 2001;16(3):229–34.

- 13. Ehsan A, Klaas HS, Bastianen A, Spini D. Social capital and health: a systematic review of systematic reviews. SSM Popul Health 2019;8:100425.
- Zelinsky W, Lee BA. Heterolocalism: an alternative model of the sociospatial behaviour of immigrant ethnic communities. Int J Popul Geogr 1998;4(4):281–98.

